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COVER RATIONALE

The cover design for IAR2024 captures the essence of 

Leform Berhad’s strength and adaptability, symbolised 

through the dynamic imagery of steel bending and 

shaping. This visual metaphor reflects our ability to 

navigate the evolving landscape of the steel industry 

with flexibility and resilience. The design echoes our 

commitment to innovation and progress, as we continue 

to build upon our expertise in manufacturing and 

trading steel products. In 2024, Leform Berhad remains 

focused on redefining industry standards while creating 

sustainable value for our stakeholders. With every bend 

and shift, we reaffirm our dedication to shaping a future 

of long-term success and prosperity.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Leform Berhad (“Leform”, the “Group” or the “Company”) is pleased to present our Integrated 
Annual Report 2024 (“IAR2024”). This report aims to provide a comprehensive overview of 
Leform’s utilisation of capitals to create long-term sustainable value, for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2024 (“FY2024”). The report extends beyond financial reporting and 
includes non-financial performance, opportunities, risks, and outcomes attributable to or 
associated with our key stakeholders, which have a significant influence on our ability to 
create value.

REPORTING SCOPE & BOUNDARY

Unless otherwise indicated, the content of this IAR2024 
reflects data and activities of the Group from 1 January 2024 
to 31 December 2024. Where available, data is presented for 
2-5 year time frames. Kindly refer to the Five Year Financial 
Highlights for more information. The report focuses on 
business operations information of Leform disclosed through 
the impact it has on the capitals as defined by International 
Intergrated Reporting Council (“IIRC”). All the six capitals 
cover information on a consolidated basis.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The report contains forward-looking statements relating to 
Leform’s plans, objectives, goals, strategies, future operations, 
and performance. These statements are subject to inherent 
risks and uncertainties and should not be construed as 
guarantees or predictions of the Group’s future performance.

Accordingly, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance 
on forward-looking statements as actual results and outcomes 
could differ significantly from those expressed or implied.

REGULATORY FRAMEWORKS OR DISCLOSURE GUIDES

•	 ACE Market Listing Requirements (“AMLR”) of Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad

•	 The Companies Act 2016 (“Act”)
•	 Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”)
•	 Malaysian Code On Corporate Governance 2021 (“MCCG 

2021”)
•	 Bursa Malaysia Sustainability Reporting Guide – Third 

Edition
•	 Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) Standards
•	 International Integrated Reporting Framework of IIRC
•	 United Nations Sustainable Development Group 

(“UNSDG”)
•	 Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures 

(“TCFD”) recommendations

RELATED INFORMATION

This IAR2024 is supplemented with additional online 
disclosures for our stakeholders. These include financial 
statements, policies and structures of governance, 
organisational policies and other pertinent information.

The Group’s latest corporate announcements and our 
corporate policies are available for viewing on our website: 
https://www.leformgroup.com.my.

The Group’s corporate governance policies and Code of 
Conduct and Ethics including Board Charter and its Terms 
of Reference, Anti-Bribery & Anti-Corruption Policy and 
Whistleblowing Policy can be viewed at: https://www.
leformgroup.com.my/investor-relations/corporategovernance.

ONLINE VERSION AND FEEDBACK

This IAR2024 can be downloaded from: https://www.leformgroup.com.my. as well as Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad’s 
website.

Feedback on this report may be channelled to general@leformgroup.com.my
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MATERIAL MATTERS

ECONOMIC GROWTH

Economic impact

Supply chain management

GOOD GOVERNANCE

Corporate governance and 
anti-corruption

Data and customer privacy

ENVIRONMENTAL STEWARDSHIP

Energy, emission and climate 
resilience

Waste and effluent 
management

Water consumption

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Health and safety

Diversity and inclusion

Fair-labour practices

Contribution to society

KEY RISKS

Cost of Raw Material Absence of Long-term 
Contracts

Working Capital Funding
Foreign Exchange 
Fluctuations

Labour Shortage Credit Risks

Disruption in Processing 
Facilities

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

Investors/Shareholders Senior Management Team

Customers Local Communities

Government and Regulatory 
Authorities Employees

Suppliers and Vendors

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

Natural Capital

Human Capital

Social & Relationship Capital

Intellectual Capital

Manufactured Capital

Financial Capital
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47800 Petaling Jaya, Selangor.
Tel : (03) 7721 3388

SHARE REGISTRAR
Boardroom Share Registrars Sdn Bhd
11th Floor, Menara Symphony
No. 5, Jalan Prof. Khoo Kay Kim
Seksyen 13
46200 Petaling Jaya, Selangor
Tel : (03) 7890 4700	 Fax : (03) 7890 4670
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STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Leform 
Transport Sdn Bhd

Registration No. 
200701011175 (769178-T)

LF Metal Sdn Bhd
Registration No. 200001017414 

(520021-P)

Leform Marketing Sdn Bhd
Registration No. 199501003011 

(332205-K)

LF Highway 
Products Sdn Bhd

Registration No. 202401046274 
(1592120-D)

Leform CLQ 
Sdn Bhd

Registration No. 
200601022939 (742693-X)

Leform Steel Pipes
Sdn Bhd

Registration No. 199301000915
(255652-M)

LF SPV Structure Sdn Bhd
Registration No. 202401051574 

(1597417-P)

Leform 
Steel Service 

Centre Sdn Bhd
Registration No. 

200001014983 (517589-T)

CORPORATE STRUCTURE

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

80% 70%

Leform Metal Sdn Bhd
Registration No. 

200001017160 (519767-U)

85%

100%

LF Engineering Sdn Bhd
Registration No. 200301029367 

(631787-W)

60%

Registration No. 199501001582 (330776-K)
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GROUP CORPORATE PROFILE

Our Group is principally involved in the following business segments:

(i) manufacturing of steel products; and
(ii) trading in steel products.

The following diagram illustrates our Group’s business model:

BUSINESS MODEL

COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS

•	 We have a wide range of steel pipes, guardrails and flat 
steel products that can cater for various end-user industry 
applications

•	 Our Group’s processing facilities are well equipped
•	 We are committed to produce quality steel products
•	 We have integrated operations in producing steel pipes, 

from production of materials to delivery of finished products
•	 We have experienced and technically strong key senior 

management team

CUSTOMERS SEGMENTS

•	 Building material or steel trading companies
•	 End-customers (Manufacturers and contractors)
•	 Furniture and automotive

PRINCIPAL 
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OUR PRESENCE

Reliable Steel Product Manufacturer

Our Group’s headquarters and processing facilities are based in Malaysia and our sales are primarily generated from 
Malaysia. 

Malaysia
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KEY
CORPORATE 
MILESTONES

Awarded ISO 9001:2008 by TUV 
Nord Cert. GmbH

Incorporation of Leform Sdn Bhd

1995

Started with 3 pipe mills with total annual 
production capacity of 11,323 MT

2003

Completion of Plant 2 in Lot 4310 - 4312.
Annual production output of 56,937 MT

2011

Completion of Plant 1 in Lot 4306 - 4309

2009

Purchased Lot 4306 - 4312

2005-2008

2010

LEFORM BERHAD8



Steel pipes were first approved by 
Construction Industry Development Board 
(“CIDB”) to be used as scaffolding

2018

Listing on the ACE Market

2022

Guardrails were approved by CIDB
Commence operations in Plant 3

2019

Successfully convened our first Annual General 
Meeting (“AGM”) as a public listed company. 
This historic event took place amidst the elegant 
surroundings of the Sheraton Hotel in Petaling Jaya 
on Tuesday, June 27, 2023, commencing promptly 
at 10:00 a.m. It marked a significant milestone in our 
journey, symbolising our commitment to transparency, 
accountability, and stakeholder engagement. The 
AGM provided a platform for shareholders, board 
members, and management to come together, reflect 
on our achievements, address pertinent issues, and 
chart the course for our future endeavors.

Completion of Plant 3 in Lot 858

2017

2023
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FIVE-YEAR GROUP FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

REVENUE (RM’000)

2020 354,714

2022 373,441

2021 373,974

2023 370,016

2024 404,386

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Revenue 354,714 373,974 373,441 370,016 404,386

Gross Profit (“GP”) 31,200 79,889 14,452 13,242 24,928

Earnings Before Interest, Tax,
Depreciation & Amortisation (“EBITDA”)

27,434 76,252 13,042 11,208 20,130

Profit/(Loss) Before Taxation 10,661 61,873 (3,295) (8,296) 1,632

Profit/(Loss) After Taxation 7,137 45,410 (7,281) (5,141) 1,428

Total Assets 348,397 390,011 516,158 456,547 456,868

Total Equity 125,758 169,810 234,430 215,960  220,884 

Total Liabilities 222,639 220,201 281,728 240,587 235,984

GP Margin (%) 8.8 21.4 3.9 3.6 6.2

Profit/(Loss) Before Taxation Margin (%) 3.0 16.5 (0.9) (2.2) 0.4

(Loss)/Profit After Taxation Margin (%) 2.0 12.1 (1.9) (1.4) 0.4

Weighted Average Number of Ordinary
Shares in Issue (‘000)

1,170,000 1,170,000 1,197,267 1,481,013  1,481,013 

Basic Earnings/(Loss) Per Share (sen) 0.6 3.8 (0.6) (0.3)  0.16 

OPERATING RESULTS (RM’000)

KEY FINANCIAL POSITION DATA (RM’000)

FINANCIAL RATIOS

404,386
+9.3%
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FIVE-YEAR GROUP FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

GROSS PROFIT (RM’000)

2020 31,200

2022 14,452

2021 79,889

2023 13,242

2024 24,928

GEARING RATIOS (TIMES)

2020 1.3

2022 0.9

2021 1.1

2023 0.9

2024 0.8

TOTAL ASSETS (RM’000)

2020 348,397

2022 516,158

2021 390,011

2023 456,547

2024 456,868

RETURN ON EQUITY (%)

2020 5.50

2022 (3.13)

2021 26.68

2023 (2.32)

2024 1.10

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION (RM’000)

2020

2022 (3,295)

2021

2023 (8,296)

2024 1,632

10,661

61,873

NET ASSETS PER SHARE (SEN)

2020 10.57

2022 19.39

2021 14.28

2023 14.44

2024 14.91

24,928
+88.2%

0.8
-11.1%

456,868
+0.1

1.10
+147.4%

1,632
+119.7%

14.91
+3.3%
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

I am pleased to share that the Group has returned to 
profitability in FY2024, reflecting the effectiveness of our 
financial discipline, cost management strategies, and 
operational efficiency improvements. While no dividend was 
declared for FY2024, we remain firmly committed to delivering 
sustainable, long-term value to our shareholders.

Throughout the year, we placed strong emphasis on inventory 
management and strategic procurement to mitigate cost 
fluctuations. By diversifying our sourcing strategies, we 
strengthened our supply chain resilience while maintaining 
competitive pricing. Simultaneously, we prioritised operational 
efficiency and cost optimisation, ensuring that our financial 
resources were utilised effectively to drive sustainable growth. 
Through a combination of streamlined operations, strategic 
procurement, and a focus on market-driven demand, we 
have improved operating margins while maintaining financial 
stability. These measures have reinforced our financial 
position, enabling us to navigate market challenges while 
sustaining a competitive edge. 

It is with great pride that I present to 
you Leform Berhad’s (“Leform”, or “the 
Group”) Integrated Annual Report for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2024 
(“FY2024”). 

This year has been transformative 
for Leform, marked by a return to 
profitability and significant strides in our 
sustainability journey. Our achievements 
underscore the resilience of our 
strategic initiatives and our unwavering 
commitment to creating long-term value 
for our stakeholders.

Dear Valued Stakeholders,

STEEL-ING OURSELVES FOR CHALLENGES

The global and Malaysian economies experienced a mixed 
recovery in FY2024, with declining global inflation providing 
some relief. However, this relief was not immediately reflected 
in the steel industry. Structural overcapacity in the steel 
industry, driven by geopolitical conflicts and the downturn 
in China’s real estate sector, continued to weigh on market 
dynamics. Persistent supply-demand imbalances and intense 
competition presented significant challenges to industry 
players, while the rising cost of conducting business, including 
higher minimum wages and escalating energy prices, further 
pressured margins. Additionally, unfair trade practices 
continued to disrupt competition, adding another layer of 
complexity to market conditions. 

These developments highlight the importance of agility 
and strategic foresight in navigating the evolving market 
dynamics. Despite these headwinds, Leform has remained 
agile and adaptive, ensuring that we continue to deliver value 
to our stakeholders while strategically positioning ourselves 
for future growth.

LEFORM BERHAD12



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

EXPANDING OUR CAPABILITIES 

We have made significant progress in the construction of our 
new headquarters, workers’ accommodation, and additional 
warehouse storage facility in Serendah, which is now 90% 
complete and on track for completion in the second half of the 
financial year ending 31 December 2025. This new warehouse 
will expand our storage capacity by 93.2%, enabling us to stock 
products in advance of orders, improve delivery efficiency, and 
procure steel materials ahead of anticipated price increases 
and enhancing our gross profit margins. Additionally, it will 
improve logistical efficiency and overall productivity, allowing 
us to better meet increasing customer demand. With this 
expansion, the Group’s machinery utilisation rate will increase 
significantly, reducing lead times and ensuring faster, more 
efficient deliveries. This infrastructure enhancement will 
strengthen our market positioning, allowing us to capitalise 
on new opportunities and further reinforce our operational 
capabilities.

We remain committed to investing in long-term expansion 
initiatives that will enhance our competitiveness and sustain 
business growth. By continually refining our business 
strategies, we ensure that we remain resilient, future-ready, 
and positioned for sustainable success. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

Strong corporate governance and effective risk management 
are critical to Leform’s sustainable growth. In FY2024, 
we continued to uphold transparency, accountability, and 
integrity in our decision-making processes. Our Board of 
Directors and Audit and Risk Management Committee play 
a vital role in ensuring compliance with regulatory standards 
and proactively mitigating risks.

Key risk factors impacting our industry this year included raw 
material price volatility, rising energy costs, and increasing 
regulatory scrutiny. To address these challenges, we 
implemented robust risk management strategies, including 
optimising procurement and inventory management to mitigate 
cost fluctuations. We enhanced operational efficiency to 
reduce overhead costs while improving margins. Additionally, 
we maintained continuous engagement with regulators and 
stakeholders to stay ahead of compliance requirements.

By integrating risk management into our overall strategy, the 
Group remains agile, resilient, and well-prepared to navigate 
future uncertainties. 

SUSTAINABILITY AND VALUE CREATION 

At Leform, sustainability is not just a commitment, it is a core 
driver of our value creation strategy. The steel industry is a 
significant contributor to global emissions, and as a responsible 
manufacturer, we are actively investing in renewable energy 
solutions to reduce our carbon footprint. 

In FY2024, we retrofitted solar panels on our factory roofs, 
reducing our reliance on conventional energy sources and 
lower operational costs over time. This investment aligns with 
Malaysia’s National Energy Transition Roadmap and global 
decarbonisation efforts within the steel sector. 

Beyond environmental sustainability, we remain committed to 
enhancing social responsibility initiatives, ensuring safe working 
conditions, ethical labour practices, and continuous employee 
development. Our approach integrates Environmental, Social, 
and Governance principles to build a more resilient and future-
ready business. 

NEW WAREHOUSE WILL EXPAND 
OUR STORAGE CAPACITY BY

COMPLETE

CONSTRUCTION OF NEW HEADQUATERS, 
WORKERS’ ACCOMMODATION, AND 
ADDITIONAL WAREHOUSE STORAGE 
FACILITY IN SERENDAH IS

93.2%

90%
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

To our valued shareholders and stakeholders, I sincerely 
appreciate your trust and confidence in our vision. Your 
unwavering support continues to motivate us to strive for 
excellence, innovation, and responsible growth.

As we embark on the next chapter, I am optimistic that with 
strategic foresight, strong governance, and a firm commitment 
to sustainability, Leform will continue to grow, innovate, and 
create enduring value for all stakeholders. 

Thank you.

Datuk Seri Akhil bin Bulat
Independent Non-Executive Chairman

FORGING AHEAD: 
POSITIONING FOR SUSTAINABLE GROWTH 

Looking ahead to FY2025 and beyond, we remain cautiously 
optimistic about the growth prospects in the steel industry. 
The Malaysian government’s commitment to infrastructure 
spending in Budget 2025 is expected to drive demand for steel 
products, offering opportunities for industry players.

However, we acknowledge that global economic uncertainties, 
fluctuations in raw material prices, and evolving environmental 
regulations will continue to shape the industry landscape. 
Energy costs and carbon reduction requirements will also play 
an increasingly critical role in operational planning and industry 
competitiveness.

In addition, renewed global trade tensions have raised concerns 
across the steel industry. While the direct impact on Leform is 
minimal as we do not export to the United States, we remain 
alert to any ripple effects that may influence global supply 
chains. 

To future-proof our business, Leform will focus on enhancing 
operational efficiency through technology adoption and process 
automation. We will continue to expand our market reach to 
capitalise on domestic and regional demand. Strengthening 
our sustainability initiatives remains a priority, ensuring that our 
strategies align with both global and national ESG goals. 

By maintaining a proactive approach to market trends and 
emerging risks, we are confident in our ability to deliver long-
term value for our shareholders, customers, and stakeholders.

APPRECIATION 

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I extend my heartfelt 
gratitude to our employees, management team, and business 
partners for their dedication and hard work. Your contributions 
have been instrumental in driving the Group’s success and 
positioning us for a sustainable future.

LEFORM BERHAD14



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Leform Berhad (“Leform” 
or “the Group”) is primarily 
involved in the manufacturing 
and trading of steel products, 
with a strong focus on serving 
the needs of the construction, 
furniture, automotive parts, and 
engineering industries. Backed 
by over two decades of industry 
experience, the Group has built a 
reputation for quality, reliability, 
and adaptability in the highly 
cyclical and competitive steel 
market. 

Operating primarily from the Group’s 
headquarters in Serendah, Selangor, 
Leform’s integrated operations encompass 
the manufacturing of welded steel pipes 
and tubes, flat steel products, and related 
steel-based products, alongside trading 
and logistics services that support our end-
to-end supply chain.

Leform’s vertically integrated business 
model, covering procurement, production, 
quality control, warehousing, logistics, 
and customer service, enables us to offer 
responsive, value-added solutions tailored 
to the diverse needs of our clients, while 
upholding stringent quality and delivery 
standards. 

As a socially responsible organisation, 
Leform is committed to supporting the 
Malaysian Government’s sustainability 
agenda while contributing to the growing 
green steel movement. As we continue 
to grow, we remain focused on reducing 
our carbon footprint across all aspects 
of our operations. This includes adopting 
measures to minimise emissions and 
actively exploring alternative energy 
sources to reduce reliance on fossil fuels, in 
line with our long-term strategic priorities.

OUR PRODUCTS

Leform’s product range is designed to meet the requirements of multiple 
end-user industries. Our offerings include:

Round Steel Pipes
Manufactured using Electric Resistance Welding 
(ERW) techniques, our round steel pipes are 
widely utilised in structural applications across 
the construction, furniture, and industrial sectors. 
These pipes are produced to meet stringent 
quality standards, ensuring both durability and 
reliability. 

Oval and Ellipse Steel Pipes
Leform produces oval and ellipse-shaped 
steel pipes that cater to specialised design 
requirements, particularly in the furniture and 
architectural sectors. These pipes provide 
aesthetic appeal without compromising structural 
integrity. 

Scaffolding Pipes 
Leform’s product portfolio includes construction-
grade scaffolding pipes, certified by the 
Construction Industry Development Board (CIDB). 
Engineered for strength and reliability, these 
pipes are designed to meet the rising demand 
for certified scaffolding systems in building and 
infrastructure developments. 

Steel Hollow Sections
Leform’s steel hollow sections, available in 
square and rectangular profiles, are designed 
for structural and mechanical applications. They 
offer excellent strength-to-weight ratios, making 
them ideal for use in construction frameworks, 
machinery, and equipment manufacturing.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUR PRODUCTS (CONT’D)

Gate Channels, Trolley 
Tracks, and U-Channels
Leform offers range includes gate channels, 
trolley tracks, and U-channels, which are essential 
components in various structural and support 
systems. These products are crafted to precise 
dimensions to facilitate seamless integration into 
larger assemblies.

Slitted Steel Coils
Leform processes the slitted steel coils to 
specific widths, catering to manufacturers who 
require precise dimensions for their production 
processes. These coils are commonly used 
in the production of automotive components, 
appliances, and other steel-based products.

Steel Sheets
Leform offers high-quality steel sheets suitable 
for a variety of applications, including fabrication, 
construction, and industrial manufacturing. Our 
steel sheets are available in various thicknesses 
and dimensions to meet specific customer 
requirements.

Guardrails
We manufacture high-strength guardrails used 
predominantly in road safety systems. These 
guardrails are designed to withstand significant 
impact, providing effective protection on 
highways and other roadways.

OVERVIEW 

In the financial year ended 31 December 
2024 (“FY2024”), Leform demonstrated 
steady progress across financial, 
operational, and strategic fronts amid a 
volatile global steel market. The Group 
returned to profitability, underpinned by 
higher sales volume, strategic procurement 
practices, and enhanced inventory 
management supported by our ongoing 
warehouse expansion. 

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT 

The global steel industry continued to 
experience pricing volatility in 2024, driven 
by demand uncertainties from China, 
macroeconomic tightening, and evolving 
trade dynamics. Changes in tariffs, trade 
policies, and regulatory frameworks also 
played a role in shaping the competitive 
landscape. Domestically, the steel sector 
remained supported by Malaysia’s 
infrastructure development agenda. 

Leform navigated these headwinds through 
proactive inventory planning, enhanced 
bulk procurement, and timely sourcing 
decisions. Exchange rate fluctuations, 
particularly against the USD, impacted 
raw material import costs, but the Group’s 
prudent purchasing strategy helped mitigate 
margin compression. The resilience of the 
domestic market, supported by projects 
such as the MRT3 Circle Line, East Coast 
Rail Link (“ECRL”), Pan Borneo Highway, 
and industrial developments under the 
New Industrial Master Plan 2030 (“NIMP 
2030”), provided demand stability across 
our key customer segments. 

UTILISATION OF IPO PROCEEDS

Leform was listed on the ACE Market of 
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on 30 
November 2022 in conjunction with its 
initial public offering (“IPO”). The gross 
proceeds of RM71.5 million raised from 
Leform’s IPO have been fully utilised during 
the FY2024.

By continually expanding and diversifying our product offerings, Leform 
remains committed to delivering steel solutions that align with the evolving 
needs of our clients and the industries we serve. 
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Details Revenue
FY2024

(RM‘000)

Revenue 
FY2023

(RM‘000)

Variance

Manufacturing 288,732 264,461 +9.2%

Trading 115,530 105,462 +9.5%

Transportation 124 93 +33.3%

Total 404,386 370,016 +9.3%

FY2024 
(RM’000)

FY2023 
(RM’000)

Total interest-bearing borrowings* 169,975 191,171

Total shareholders’ equity 219,836 213,819

Gearing ratio (times) 0.8 0.9

FY2024 
(RM’000)

FY2023 
(RM’000)

Contracted but not provided for

Purchase of equipment 2,742 3,196

Construction of property 1,758 14,082

Total 4,500 17,278

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

The Group recorded a revenue of RM404.4 million in 
FY2024, representing a 9.3% increase from the RM370.0 
million recorded in the previous financial year ended 31 
December 2023 (“FY2023”). This was largely driven by an 
18.1% increase in sales volume, which offset the impact 
of lower average selling prices. Gross profit increased to 
RM24.9 million from RM13.2 million previously, reflecting 
improvements in volume-driven margins and supply chain 
efficiencies.

Other income decreased from RM11.3 million to RM5.1 
million following fewer disposal gains, while administrative 
and other expenses were well contained. Finance costs 
decreased from RM12.7 million to RM11.3 million, in line with 
lower trade borrowings and better capital management.

The Group achieved a profit before tax of RM1.6 million in 
FY2024, reversing a loss before tax of RM8.3 million recorded 
in FY2023. This turnaround was driven by an improved gross 
profit margin, which increased from 3.6% to 6.2%, and was 
supported by stronger sales demand. After accounting for 
taxes and non-controlling interests, profit attributable to 
shareholders stood at RM2.4 million, compared to a loss of 
RM5.0 million in the previous year.

The Group’s total comprehensive income of RM5.0 million 
was mainly boosted by a RM3.6 million revaluation gain on 
properties for FY2024. This lifted total equity to RM220.9 
million, up from RM216.0 million in FY2023.

SEGMENTAL REVIEW

costs. The improved performance reflects the Group’s ability 
to navigate pricing volatility while responding effectively to 
market opportunities.

The trading segment recorded a revenue by RM115.5 million, 
an increase by RM10.1 million from the previous year, driven 
by higher demand. The segment’s profit was recorded lower 
at RM0.4 million, driven by a one-off gain on disposal of a 
machinery in the previous year. 

Overall, fluctuations within the transportation segment 
did not have a material impact on the Group’s financial 
performance. For the financial year, the segment registered 
a marginal increase in revenue to RM0.1 million. However, 
its profit contribution declined to RM0.07 million, reflecting 
subdued operational margins during the period.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The manufacturing segment recorded a revenue increase of 
9.2% to RM288.7 million, primarily attributed to improved 
market demand for steel products. The segment’s profit rose 
to RM14.4 million, underpinned by a stronger gross profit 
margin, marking a recovery from the previous year, which 
was impacted by weaker steel prices and elevated material 

*	 Total interest-bearing borrowings include banker’s acceptance, revolving 
credit, bank overdrafts, form loans, trust receipts and hire purchase owing 
to financial institutions for the purchase of motor vehicles.

The Group’s improved gearing ratio is due to lesser net 
drawdowns of credit facilities and prudent debt management, 
including prioritising internal funding and controlling 
borrowing levels.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

The reduction in the Group’s capital commitments is mainly 
due to the progress towards completion of the new integrated 
warehouse facilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS 

Warehouse Expansion
The new warehouse in Serendah is 90% complete and on track for commissioning in 2H 2025. Once completed, it will increase 
our storage capacity by 93.2% to 311,720 MT and enhance logistics and procurement efficiency.

RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Group recognises that effective risk management is essential for safeguarding shareholder value and sustaining long-term 
business performance. In FY2024, Leform continued to operate in a dynamic environment shaped by macroeconomic volatility, 
currency fluctuations, and industry-specific challenges such as raw material cost pressures and supply chain disruptions.

In response, the Group maintained a proactive approach to risk identification and mitigation, ensuring that key operational, 
financial, and strategic risks were regularly monitored and addressed. While there were no material changes to our risk 
management framework during the year, ongoing assessments were carried out to ensure alignment with prevailing business 
conditions and regulatory requirements.

Key areas of focus in FY2024 included:

Looking ahead, Leform remains committed to enhancing our risk governance by embedding risk awareness across all levels of 
the organisation. The Board and Management will continue to review risk exposures regularly and take pre-emptive measures to 
ensure the Group’s resilience and operational agility in a continuously evolving environment. 

SUSTAINABILITY

In FY2024, the Group focused on key areas including enhancing governance by providing mandatory anti-corruption training 
for employees, reducing environmental impact through solarisation of the Group’s plants by February 2024, and continuing our 
commitment to fostering a talented and skilled workforce through targeted training programmes in quality management, auditing, 
financial planning and budgeting. These initiatives improved our culture of integrity, refined our environmental management 
strategies and equipped our team for long-term success.

•	Raw Material Price Volatility: 
	 Leform mitigated exposure to steel price fluctuations 

through bulk purchasing strategies and the optimisation 
of inventory cycles, made possible by our expanded 
warehousing capacity.

•	Operational Continuity: 
	 To manage supply chain disruptions and labour 

shortages, Leform strengthened our relationships with 
key suppliers, streamlined logistics through the in-
house transport arm, and improved efficiency through 
enhanced internal coordination across departments.

•	Foreign Exchange Risk: 
	 With a significant portion of raw materials imported, 

the depreciation of the Malaysian Ringgit against the 
US Dollar impacted procurement costs. The Group 
actively monitored currency movements and adjusted 
sourcing and payment strategies accordingly.

•	Workforce Risk: 
	 The Group continued to address talent retention 

and foreign labour dependency through training, 
automation, and investments in dedicated worker 
accommodation under Leform CLQ Sdn Bhd.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROSPECTS AND OUTLOOK 

Looking ahead to the financial year ending 31 December 
2025 (“FY2025”), Leform remains cautiously optimistic 
about our growth prospects amidst a landscape shaped by 
global economic uncertainties, evolving trade dynamics, and 
continued volatility in steel prices. The Group anticipates 
that the steel industry will continue to face a mix of 
challenges and opportunities, influenced by fluctuating raw 
material costs, geopolitical tensions, and supply-demand 
imbalances. Nevertheless, sustained government investment 
in infrastructure, coupled with Leform’s own capacity 
expansion, is expected to provide a solid foundation for 
future performance.

Malaysia’s commitment to infrastructure development is 
expected to continue supporting domestic steel demand. 
Under Budget 2025, the Government allocated RM90 billion 
for development expenditure, with a significant portion 
directed toward public transportation, road upgrades, 
and renewable energy-linked construction. Key national 
initiatives, including the MRT3 Circle Line, ECRL, Pan Borneo 
Highway, and the broader implementation of the NIMP 
2030, are anticipated to generate robust demand for steel 
products, particularly within the construction, transportation, 
and industrial development sectors.

Leform is well-positioned to benefit from these opportunities 
through our diversified product range, including the recent 
introduction of scaffolding pipes certified by CIDB, and our  
expanded warehousing capacity, which enables efficient 
stockpiling and timely delivery to large-scale project 
contractors.

The Group’s strategic investments in infrastructure are 
expected to enhance both capacity and operational resilience. 
The upcoming completion of Leform’s new warehouse 
facility in Serendah will support bulk purchasing strategies 
and improve overall logistics efficiency. Additionally, the 
establishment of a new subsidiary to explore solar mounting 
structure manufacturing signals the Group’s intent to tap into 
emerging growth areas aligned with renewable energy and 
green construction.

With increased machinery utilisation, improved workflows, 
and a leaner cost structure, Leform aims to enhance 
production output, reduce lead times, and improve customer 
responsiveness in FY2025. 

On the global front, the push toward sustainable steel 
production and the emergence of the green steel movement 
are expected to reshape industry expectations. Leform 
remains aligned with these developments, having installed 
rooftop solar panels in FY2024 as part of our environmental 
commitment. The Group will continue to monitor ESG trends 
and evaluate opportunities for green product innovation and 
energy efficiency across our operations.

Meanwhile, uncertainties stemming from the U.S.-China 
trade tensions and shifting tariff landscapes remain a key 
consideration. While Leform is not directly exposed to the 
US market, these trade measures may create ripple effects 
in global supply chains and pricing trends. 

In addition, Southeast Asia’s construction and manufacturing 
recovery, fuelled by public investment and foreign direct 
investment inflows into industrial parks and data centres, 
is expected to support steel demand in the region. This 
outlook bodes well for Leform, particularly in our positioning 
as a reliable regional supplier of welded steel pipes and 
infrastructure components.

To capitalise on these trends, Leform will focus on:

Despite external uncertainties, Leform enters FY2025 with 
a strong foundation, robust infrastructure, and a clear 
strategic direction. By maintaining our focus on efficiency, 
sustainability, and customer value, the Group is well-
positioned to pursue sustainable growth and deliver long-
term shareholder value.

•	 Finalising our capacity expansion efforts, including the 
new warehouse and accommodation facilities.

•	 Broadening our product portfolio, particularly in high-
margin categories such as scaffolding and renewable 
infrastructure components.

•	 Strengthening operational efficiency through 
automation, inventory control, and integrated logistics.

•	 Diversifying our market reach by exploring new customer 
segments and industries.
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FORGING A SUSTAINABLE FUTURE IN STEEL

DISCUSSING THE STATEMENT 

As an integrated steel manufacturer and trader, Leform 
Berhad (“Leform” or “the Company”) and our subsidiaries 
(“the Group”) are committed to implementing sustainable 
processes that enhance industry resilience. As such, 
Leform is pleased to present the sustainability statement 
for the financial year 2024 (“FY2024”), which details the 
environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) developments 
shaping our operations. 

HIGHLIGHTS IN FY2024

Leform made steady progress in FY2024, focusing on key 
areas such as ethical practices, environmental impact and 
workforce development. To strengthen ethical business 
practices, we implemented enhanced anti-corruption 
measures including mandatory anti-corruption training for 
our employees, fostering a culture of integrity throughout the 
company.

As part of our commitment to reducing our environmental 
footprint, we began installing solar panels, which were fully 
operational by February 2024. This marks a significant step 
in our transition to renewable energy and lowering our carbon 
footprint.

Recognising the importance of investing in our people, 
Leform prioritised employee development through targeted 
training programmes in areas such as quality management, 
auditing, financial planning and budgeting in FY2024. 
These initiatives are designed to equip our workforce with 
the skills needed for long-term success and to achieve our 
sustainability goals.

REPORTING SCOPE AND BOUNDARY

The reporting period for this statement covers 1 January 
2024 to 31 December 2024 (“FY2024”) and includes the 
primary business activities of our head office at Rawang and 
the following wholly owned subsidiaries across Malaysia.

Where relevant, historical data from the past three years has 
been included for comparative and trend analysis.

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

The statement was prepared in accordance with Bursa 
Malaysia’s Sustainability Reporting Guide (3rd Edition) 
to ensure cohesive reporting, with ESG disclosures 
benchmarked against the Global Reporting Initiative (“GRI”) 
Standards and aligned with the United Nations Sustainable 
Development Goals (“UN SDGs”).

MEMBERSHIPS AND ASSOCIATIONS

As a member of the Malaysia Steel and Metal Distributors’ 
Association (“MSMDA”), we stay updated on the latest 
developments and best practices within the steel 
manufacturing industry.

FOCUS ON PRECISION

All data presented in this statement was internally sourced, 
verified and validated by the respective business divisions 
and information owners. We are committed to enhancing our 
data collection and analysis procedures in preparation for 
external assurance in the upcoming years.

FEEDBACK AND CONTACT POINT

Leform welcomes comments, feedback and inquiries as part 
of our ongoing commitment to continuous improvement. 
Kindly direct all feedback or recommendations to the contact 
provided below.

Leform Berhad
PT 16077 & PT16078, Jalan Kesidang 4, 
Kawasan Perindustrian Sungai Choh, 
48200 Serendah, Selangor.
Phone: +603-6099 0666
Email: sales@leformgroup.com.my

•	 Leform Berhad
•	 Leform Steel Pipes 
	 Sdn Bhd
•	 Leform CLQ Sdn Bhd
•	 Leform Metal Sdn Bhd

•	 Leform Transport Sdn Bhd
•	 Leform Steel Service 

Centre Sdn Bhd
•	 LF Metal Sdn Bhd
•	 Leform Marketing Sdn Bhd
•	 LF Engineering Sdn Bhd
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SUSTAINABILITY HIGHLIGHTS

Economic 
Growth

Good 
Governance

Environmental 
Stewardship

Economic Value Generated

RM 404,386,019

invested in community where the target 
beneficiaries are external to the listed issuer

substantiated complaints 
concerning human rights violations

organisations benefited from 
community investment

RM 26,800

Zero

9

average hours of 
training per employee

13
women representation 

on the Board

43%

cases of corruption & 
whistleblowing

substantiated compliants 
concerning customers’ privacy 

breaches or data losses

Commenced 
anti-bribery and 

anti-corruption training 
for employees

Zero Zero

reduction in Scope 
2 GHG Emissions

discharge of 
wastewater by recycling 
and reusing wastewater

scrap metal collected 
by licensed recyclers 

annualy

of electricity 
consumed is 

generated from 
solar energy

24% Zero 100%34%

Social 
Responsibility
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OUR APPROACH TO SUSTAINABILITY

ESG STRATEGY

Guided by our Sustainability Vision, our ESG strategy integrates sustainability into corporate goals to optimise decision-
making and drive sustainable development. This is anchored in four ESG pillars aligned with our material matters and seven 
UN SDGs, ensuring our initiatives remain closely aligned with the Group’s sustainability objectives.

KEY 
STAKEHOLDER 
GROUPS

To create sustainable value for our stakeholders through an integrated approach that takes into account 
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) factors, aligned with the United Nations Sustainable 
Development Goals (“UN SDGs”).

SUSTAINABILITY 
VISION

GOALS Goal 1 

Sustainable manufacturing

Goal 2

Creating a conductive 
workplace

Goal 3

Ensuring compliance and 
transparency

CONTRIBUTION 
TO UN SDGS

INVESTORS/ 
SHAREHOLDERS

SUPPLIERS 
AND VENDORS CUSTOMERS EMPLOYEES LOCAL 

COMMUNITIES

GOVERNMENT AND 
REGULATORY AUTHORITIES

SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT TEAM

ESG PILLARS 
& MATERIAL 
SUSTAINABILITY 
MATTERS

1)	 Economic Impact
2)	 Supply Chain 

Management

Economic 
Growth

1)	 Corporate 
Governance and 
Anti-Corruption

2)	 Data Privacy and 
Cybersecurity

Good 
Governance

1)	 Energy, Emissions 
and Climate 
Resilience

2)	 Waste 
Management

3)	 Water 
Consumption

Environmental 
Stewardship

1)	 Labour Practices 
and Standards

2)	 Occupational 
Health and Safety

3)	 Diversity and 
Inclusion

4)	 Product Quality 
and Reliability

5)	 Community 
Enrichment

Social 
Responsibility
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OUR APPROACH TO SUSTAINABILITY

SUSTAINABILITY POLICY

Our Sustainability Policy embeds core principles and guidelines across all operations, with specific ESG objectives to align 
initiatives with our commitments. This ensures that Leform operates ethically, promotes responsible economic growth and 
minimises environmental impacts in the communities where we operate.

SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Our three-tier sustainability governance structure outlines the roles and responsibilities of the Board of Directors, Executive 
Director and Sustainability Committee, ensuring transparency and accountability in the implementation of sustainable initiatives. 

•	 Adopting a sustainable 
business model 
emphasising quality 
products, value-added 
services and ethical 
practices.

•	 Conducting regular 
assessments to identify 
and mitigate potential 
risks associated within 
our value chain, ensuring 
compliance with ethical 
and responsible sourcing 
practices.

•	 Prioritising the delivery of 
returns to our shareholders 
while considering the 
long-term impacts of our 
actions.

•	 Maintaining transparent 
and open communication 
with our stakeholders, 
ensuring disclosure of 
accurate information 
regarding our sustainability 
practices, performance 
and goals.

•	 Upholding the highest 
level of ethics and integrity 
in our business operations, 
encouraging a culture 
of honesty, fairness and 
accountability.

•	 Maintaining and improving 
our level of environmental 
management by 
strictly complying with 
environmental-related laws 
and regulations.

•	 Implementing efficient 
resource management 
practices to minimise 
waste generation, reduce 
energy consumption 
and promote the use of 
renewable resources.

•	 Continuously investing in 
technology and processes 
that reduce our production 
cost, carbon footprint and 
other emissions by striving 
for environmentally-friendly 
manufacturing processes.

•	 To provide strategic oversight over the Group’s overall sustainability agenda, policies, strategies 
and ESG performance.

•	 To approve the material sustainability matters, materiality matrix and annual Sustainability Statement.

•	 To recommend sustainability strategies, initiatives and targets in line with the Group’s business 
strategy to the Board.

•	 To oversee the implementation of the Group’s sustainability initiatives, targets and ESG 
performance and report progress to the Board.

•	 To identify and propose material sustainability matters that are significant to the Group’s 
business operations and stakeholder groups to the Executive Director.

•	 To integrate sustainability strategies and initiatives into the Group’s day-to-day operations.

•	 Prioritising employee 
health, safety and well-
being by implementing 
stringent safety guidelines 
and protocols, while 
providing regular training 
to promote a safe and 
healthy work environment.

•	 Fostering an inclusive 
and diverse workplace, 
treating all employees with 
respect and dignity, while 
providing opportunities for 
professional development 
and promoting well-being 
and satisfaction. 

Economic 
Growth

Good 
Governance

Environmental 
Stewardship

Social 
Responsibility

Board of Directors

Executive Director

Sustainability 
Committee

GOVERNANCE ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Leform’s Sustainability Governance Structure
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OUR APPROACH TO SUSTAINABILITY

OUR CONTRIBUTION TO THE UN SDGs

The UN SDGs provide a global framework for creating a more equitable world by 2030. Leform is dedicated to advancing five key 
UN SDGs and their associated targets, aligned with our steel manufacturing and trade operations. These goals guide our efforts 
in managing risks and seizing opportunities, ensuring our practices contribute to a sustainable future.	

UN SDG 3: GOOD HEALTH AND WELL-BEING
Ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages

UN SDG 5: GENDER EQUALITY
Achieve gender equality and empower all women and girls

UN SDG 7: AFFORDABLE AND CLEAN ENERGY
Ensure access to affordable, reliable, sustainable and modern energy for all

Why it matters to us: Targets: Initiatives & Performances:

Potential hazards associated with 
the steel industry include exposure 
to potentially harmful substances. By 
prioritising occupational health and 
safety, we reduce workplace hazards, 
enhance productivity and fulfil our 
responsibility to public health.

3.4	 Reduce the number 
of premature 
mortalities through 
prevention and 
treatment and 
promote mental 
health and well-being.

•	 Established a Safety Committee to monitor 
Occupational Health and Safety compliances.

•	 Zero cases of occupational illness or disease.
•	 Total lost time injury rate (“LTIR”) reduced 

from 1.92 to 1.35 in FY2024.

Why it matters to us: Targets: Initiatives & Performances:

Leform promotes a corporate culture 
that values equity and inclusivity. By 
supporting women’s participation 
and advancement, we aim to foster 
a diverse leadership team that drives 
innovative solutions and enhances 
decision-making.

5.5	 Ensure women’s 
full and effective 
participation for 
leadership.

5.c	 Enhance policies and 
laws for gender equality 
and empowerment of 
women and girls at all 
levels.

•	 Ensured that the Board is comprised of at 
least 30% women.

•	 Established the Gender Diversity Policy and 
conducted annual reviews on the scope and 
applicability of the policy.

Why it matters to us: Targets: Initiatives & Performances:

Energy consumption is a significant 
aspect of steel manufacturing. 
Transitioning to renewable energy 
sources enhances sustainability, 
reduces operational costs and our 
carbon footprint.

7.2	 Increase 
substantially the 
share of renewable 
energy in the global 
energy mix.

•	 1,896,881 kWh of renewable energy 
generated from newly installed solar PV 
panels at the facility.
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OUR APPROACH TO SUSTAINABILITY

OUR CONTRIBUTION TO THE UN SDGS (CONT’D)

UN SDG 8: DECENT WORK AND ECONOMIC GROWTH
Promote sustained, inclusive and sustainable economic growth, full and productive employment and decent 
work for all

UN SDG 12: RESPONSIBLE CONSUMPTION AND PRODUCTION
Ensure sustainable consumption and production patterns

UN SDG 13: CLIMATE ACTION
Take urgent action to combat climate change and its impact

Why it matters to us: Targets: Initiatives & Performances:

Providing decent work and upholding 
labour rights are vital for promoting 
economic growth in our operations. 
By investing in employee training and 
maintaining safe working conditions, 
we enhance productivity and foster a 
positive workplace culture.

8.7	 End modern slavery, 
trafficking and child 
labour.

8.8	 Protect labour rights 
and promote safe 
and secure working 
environments for all 
workers.

•	 Ensured compliance with labour regulations 
including the Employment Act 1955 and 
Minimum Wage Order 2022 to uphold fair 
wages as well as prevent child labour and 
forced labour.

•	 Provided well-maintained accommodation 
for workers and obtained the Certificate of 
Accommodation from the Department of Labour.

•	 Provided continuous training programmes for 
employees.

Why it matters to us: Targets: Initiatives & Performances:

Adopting sustainable production 
practices and effective waste 
management is essential in the 
steel industry to minimise resource 
consumption and environmental 
impact.

12.4	 Environmentally 
sound management 
of waste.

•	 Enabled the responsible management 
of manufacturing waste by appointing 
a Department of Environment (“DOE”) 
authorised contractor to discard waste.

•	 Facilitated the recycling of scrap metals, 
ensuring valuable materials are reintroduced 
into the production cycle and minimising 
waste sent to landfill.

Why it matters to us: Targets: Initiatives & Performances:

Addressing climate change is critical 
in the steel manufacturing industry, 
which contributes significantly 
to emissions. By integrating 
climate measures and improving 
energy efficiency, we reduce our 
carbon footprint and enhance our 
sustainability efforts.

13.2	 Integrate climate 
change measures 
and policies.

13.3	 Build knowledge and 
capacity to meet 
climate change.

•	 Actively assessed improvements in energy 
efficiency to lower production costs and our 
carbon footprint.

•	 Assessed the possibilities for the installation 
of solar photovoltaic (PV) panels to provide 
energy for the operational plant within the 
manufacturing facilities.
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OUR APPROACH TO SUSTAINABILITY

OUR CONTRIBUTION TO THE UN SDGS (CONT’D)

UN SDG 16: PEACE, JUSTICE AND STRONG INSTITUTIONS
Promote peaceful and inclusive societies for sustainable development, provide access to justice for all and 
build effective, accountable and inclusive institutions at all levels

Why it matters to us: Targets: Initiatives & Performances:

Strong governance and ethical 
business practices are essential for 
building trust with our stakeholders. 
By establishing transparent policies 
and codes of conduct, we ensure 
that our businesses are conducted 
with integrity and promotes a stable 
operating environment.

16.4	 Strengthen measures 
to address illicit 
financial activities 
and combat all forms 
of organised crime.

16.5	 Enhance frameworks 
and initiatives to 
prevent corruption 
and bribery in all 
their forms.

•	 Established codes, policies and procedures:
o	Code of Conduct and Ethics;
o	Related Party Transaction Policy and 

Procedures;
o	Whistleblowing Policy;
o	Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Our success relies on our ability to meet stakeholder expectations and secure their continued support. To achieve this, we 
engage with them through diverse communication channels to understand their concerns, gaining valuable insights into 
market trends in steel manufacturing and trade. These collaborative efforts help us to identify material issues and adapt our 
strategies and sustainability plans accordingly.

Why We Engage Engagement Channel

Regular communication with investors and shareholders ensures alignment with their 
expectations, maintaining confidence in our financial performance and long-term 
sustainability, which is crucial for attracting ongoing investments.

Annually 
•	 Annual General Meetings
As needed
•	 Analyst briefings
•	 Extraordinary General 

Meetings
•	 Road shows 
•	 Bursa Malaysia 

announcements 
•	 Media

Areas of Concern

•	 Financial and Operational Performance
•	 Corporate Governance
•	 Risk Management

Our Responses

•	 Adopting integrated reporting to communicate our company goals, strategic direction, sustainability initiatives and 
governance policies, with a focus on long-term value creation

•	 Engaging an Investor Relations team to manage communications

INVESTORS/ SHAREHOLDERS

Why We Engage Engagement Channel

Engaging with government bodies and regulatory authorities ensures compliance with 
industry regulations, environmental standards and safety protocols. This helps the Group 
stay informed of policy changes and mitigate potential legal and operational risks.

As needed
•	 Meetings and 

consultations 
•	 Site visits and audits

Areas of Concern

•	 Anti-Bribery and Corruption
•	 Corporate Governance
•	 Regulatory Compliance

Our Responses

•	 Consistently staying abreast of legal and regulatory changes with the support of an internal team and external advisors 
•	 Contributing to the Malaysian economy through taxes and employer contributions

GOVERNMENT AND REGULATORY AUTHORITIES
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Why We Engage Engagement Channel

Regular engagement with customers allows the Group to understand market needs, 
deliver quality products and tailor services to meet expectations. Building strong customer 
relationships fosters loyalty, enhances customer satisfaction and drives repeat business.

As needed
•	 Feedback channels 
•	 Regular meetings 

between customers and 
sales and/ or technical 
personnel

Areas of Concern

•	 Product Quality and Safety
•	 Product Pricing and Timely Product Deliveries
•	 After Sales Service

Our Responses

•	 Raising their feedback to management for consideration and future implementation

CUSTOMERS

Why We Engage Engagement Channel

Maintaining open communication with suppliers and vendors ensures a reliable supply 
chain, promotes mutually beneficial partnerships and supports the Group’s ability to meet 
production demands.

Bi-annually
•	 Regular supplier and 

vendor meetings
As needed
•	 Site visitsAreas of Concern

•	 Regulatory Compliance
•	 Fair Procurement Practice
•	 Produce and Service Quality

Our Responses

•	 Organising regular meetings with suppliers to enable effective production planning and cost efficiency
•	 Conducting periodic reviews ensure timely delivery and better quality

SUPPLIERS AND VENDORS

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Why We Engage Engagement Channel

Engaging with the senior management team ensures alignment on business goals, 
strategies and decision-making processes, driving Leform forward with a unified vision that 
enhances performance and operational efficiency.

As needed
•	 Regular meetings with 

management teams of 
our segments 

Quarterly
•	 Periodic reports on 

performance, KPIs, etc.

Areas of Concern

•	 Business Strategy
•	 Risk Management

Our Responses

•	 Aligning the Group’s performance with the overall strategies and goals of the organisation

SENIOR MANAGEMENT TEAM
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Why We Engage Engagement Channel

Regular engagement with employees ensures job satisfaction and boosts productivity. By 
involving employees in decision-making and addressing their concerns, the Group can 
cultivate a positive work environment and retain talent.

Ongoing
•	 Memos, meetings, 

announcements, 
messaging groups

Areas of Concern

•	 Occupational Health and Safety
•	 Fair Labour Practices
•	 Capacity Building

Our Responses

•	 Providing a safe and conducive work environment that supports their development
•	 Ensuring the ongoing provision of employee training to support career advancement

EMPLOYEES

Why We Engage Engagement Channel

Engaging with local communities enables the Group to contribute positively, mitigate 
operational impacts and enhance our reputation. These relationships foster goodwill, 
enhance our social licence to operate and support community development.

As needed
•	 Community members 

can contact the Group 
directly via phone or 
emailAreas of Concern

•	 Social and Environmental Issues
•	 Community Support and Development

Our Responses

•	 Enhancing our understanding on their needs
•	 Improving our sustainability initiatives
•	 Seeking their input on business matters related to the environment and surrounding areas

LOCAL COMMUNITIES

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Material matters are key issues impacting value creation, including economic, governance, environmental and social aspects. 
Understanding these matters allows us to develop targeted strategies and allocate resources effectively. Materiality assessments 
help identify the most critical issues for stakeholders and the Group, ensuring alignment with long-term objectives.

Leform conducted our first materiality assessment in FY2023, evaluating 12 identified material matters. In FY2024, we reviewed 
the materiality matrix and confirmed its relevance in the current business landscape and industry best practices. The materiality 
matrix highlights the significance of each matter, with the top-right segment representing those of highest strategic priority.
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Economic Growth Good Governance Environmental Stewardship Social Responsibility

Ranking Sustainability Matters Importance Level

1 Product Quality and Reliability

Critical Importance

2 Occupational Health and Safety

3 Economic Impact

4 Supply Chain Management

5 Corporate Governance and Anti-Corruption

6 Data Privacy and Cybersecurity

Very High Importance
7 Labour Practices and Standards

8 Energy, Emissions and Climate Resilience

9 Waste and Effluent Management

10 Water Consumption

High Importance11 Diversity and Inclusion

12 Community Enrichment
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

MAPPING OF MATERIAL SUSTAINABILITY MATTERS

The Group’s mapping process demonstrates the interconnectivity of our material matters with the relevant UN SDGs, 
stakeholder groups and strategies, ensuring clear objectives.

Material Matters Our Approach UN SDGs Stakeholder Groups

Economic Growth

Economic 
Impact

The Group supports local businesses, creating 
employment opportunities and driving economic growth.

Supply Chain 
Management

We prioritise sourcing from local suppliers wherever 
possible, contributing to the local economy. We also 
procure high-quality materials from reputable suppliers.

Good Governance

Corporate 
Governance and 
Anti-Corruption

Guided by a robust governance structure, we uphold high 
standards of integrity in our operations, implementing 
policies, codes and procedures to ensure ethical conduct 
at Leform and with all those we engage with.

Data and 
Customer Privacy

We protect customers’ data and privacy with established 
policies and procedures across our subsidiaries.

Environmental Stewardship

Energy, Emissions 
and Climate 
Resilience

We mitigate our environmental impact and address 
climate change by managing energy consumption to 
reduce greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions.

Water 
Consumption

The Group strives to enhance water management across 
our operations through specific measures to manage 
consumption.

Waste and 
Effluent 
Management

The Group reduces our environmental footprint by 
managing waste disposal and reducing general waste 
generation. Our effluents are recycled for use in the 
Group’s activities.

Social Responsibility

Health and 
Safety

Measures are in place to protect employee health and 
safety by maintaining a safe and conducive working 
environment.

Fair Labour 
Practices

The Group upholds the rights of employees and the 
community by implementing policies and procedures that 
safeguard these rights across its subsidiaries.

Diversity and 
Inclusion

We ensure equal opportunities and engage with our 
workforce regardless of gender or social background.

Contribution to 
Society

The Group allocates resources to support various 
community initiatives aimed at alleviating the challenges 
faced by vulnerable groups and communities surrounding 
our operations.
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KPIS / PERFORMANCE SCORECARD

To ensure the timely progression of our sustainability goals, consistent monitoring is essential. Sustainability Key Performance 
Indicators (“KPIs”) play a vital role in this process, offering quantifiable metrics to track our progress towards ESG objectives. 
These data-driven insights allow us to assess long-term progress, evaluate the effectiveness of our initiatives and identify 
areas for improvement.

Material Matters KPIs Performance/Progress

Good Governance

Corporate 
Governance and 
Anti-Corruption

Zero reported incidents of anti-bribery and 
anti-corruption annually.

Zero reported incidents of anti-bribery and 
anti-corruption in FY2024.

Zero unresolved reported grievances or 
whistle-blowing complaints to the Group 
annually.

Zero unresolved reported grievances or 
whistle-blowing complaints to the Group in 
FY2024.

Environmental Stewardship

Energy, Emissions 
and Climate 
Resilience

To establish a baseline year for GHG 
emissions by FY2025.

Continue tracking and monitoring of GHG 
Emissions across the Group.

Waste and 
Effluent 
Management

To achieve 100% scrap metal collected by 
licensed recyclers annually.

100% scrap metal collected by licensed 
recyclers in FY2024.

To achieve zero wastewater discharge 
annually.

Zero wastewater discharge in FY2024.

Social Responsibility

Occupational 
Health and 
Safety

To achieve zero lost time injuries per 
200,000 hours of work annually.

30% decrease in lost time injury rate, from 
1.92 (FY2023) to 1.35 (FY2024).

To ensure at least 60% of workers receive 
safety and health training annually.

At least 26% of workers receive safety and 
health training in FY2024.

Labour Practices 
and Standards

Provide an average of 10 training hours 
per employee for 50% of our local workers 
annually.

An average of 13 training hours per 
employee for 50% of our local workers.

Zero substantiated complaints of human 
rights violations annually.

Zero substantiated complaints of human 
rights violations in FY2024.

Sustainability Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”)

Achieved for FY2024 In-Progress
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CLIMATE-RELATED DISCLOSURES

Leform acknowledges the importance of addressing climate-related risks and opportunities. The Group is actively working to 
understand and mitigate climate change impacts on our operations and the broader value chain.

We are aligning our transition strategy to a low-carbon future, demonstrating our dedication to adapting to evolving challenges, 
enhancing resilience and driving sustainable growth.

Governance
Leform has established a governance structure to oversee our sustainability efforts, ensuring alignment with strategic priorities 
and regulatory requirements.

•	 The Board provides strategic oversight over the Group’s sustainability strategies, policies and performance, including 
climate-related initiatives and convenes quarterly. 

•	 The Sustainability Committee reviews and monitors the implementation of sustainability initiatives and performance, 
focusing on climate-related matters.

Metrics and Targets
We have identified Energy, Emissions and Climate Resilience, and Waste and Effluent Management as the two most material 
climate-related matters impacting our business. To evaluate our performance in these areas, we track and disclose the 
following metrics.

To support our sustainability goals, we have established annual KPIs aimed at reducing emissions and waste generation. These 
KPIs enable performance monitoring and regular evaluations to ensure continuous improvement and effective management of 
climate-related risks and opportunities.

•	 Establish a baseline year by FY2025

•	 Set Scope 1 and Scope 2 GHG emissions targets by FY2025

Details of our management approach and performance data can be found within the “Energy, Emissions and Climate 
Resilience” section.

Strategy
As part of our low-carbon transition, we are committed to enhancing climate awareness, streamlining our strategic direction 
with the Group’s Sustainability Policy and monitoring environmental impacts to address climate-related risks and opportunities. 
In FY2024, we continue tracking our Scope 1, 2 and 3 GHG emissions, aligning climate-related disclosures with regulations 
and established climate-related KPIs.

Management of Material Sustainability Matters
Our climate-related material sustainability matters include energy consumption, GHG emissions, water consumption and 
waste management. We have outlined our management approach for these matters, with performance details featured within 
the “Energy, Emissions and Climate Resilience” section.

Metric Unit Description

GHG Emissions Tonnes of carbon dioxide 
equivalent (“tCO2e”)

Measures total greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions, including Scope 1, Scope 2 and 
limited Scope 3 (business travel and employee commute) GHG emissions.

Energy Usage Gigajoules (“GJ”) Tracks total fuel and electricity consumption.

Fuel Consumption Litres (“L”) Measures the total amount of fuel used.

Electricity Consumption Kilowatt-hours (“kWh”) Records the total electricity consumption.

Waste Metric tonnes (“MT”) Quantifies the total amount of waste generated.

Water Usage Megalitres (“ML”) Measures total water consumption.

LEFORM BERHAD34



KEY 
STAKEHOLDER 
GROUPS

MATERIAL 
MATTERS

CONTRIBUTION 
TO UN SDGS

INVESTORS/ 
SHAREHOLDERS

SUPPLIERS 
AND VENDORS

LOCAL 
COMMUNITIESEMPLOYEES

SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT TEAM

In a rapidly changing business landscape, Leform remains dedicated to balancing 
sustainable growth with strong economic performance. Through effective strategies, 
we adapt to industry shifts while consistently delivering high-quality steel products 
that provide enduring value to our customers.

ECONOMIC GROWTH

Economic Impact

Supply Chain Management
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ECONOMIC IMPACT

Robust economic performance is essential for long-term sustainability, enabling us to allocate resources effectively and invest 
in innovative clean technologies and renewable energy. Guided by a well-defined business strategy, we seek to achieve and 
maintain excellence in economic performance.

The Group’s economic performance for FY2024. 

Leform’s Business Strategy

Staying 
attuned 

to market 
trends

Maintaining 
a strong 

balance sheet 
and healthy 
cash flow

Embracing 
technological 
advancements

Pursuing 
strategic 
market 

expansion

Mitigating 
Risks

Economic Value 
Generated

RM404,386,019

Economic value 
retained

RM 23,598,730

Payments to 
government
RM 150,935

Employee 
wages and 

benefits
RM 15,549,040

Community 
investments
RM 26,800

Operating 
costs

RM 379,457,509

ECONOMIC GROWTH
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SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

Leform emphasises responsible sourcing, resource efficiency and compliance with regulatory standards to support a 
sustainable and resilient supply chain. By engaging local suppliers, we contribute to the economic growth within our 
community, create opportunities for local businesses and enhance our ability to respond swiftly to market demands, while 
maintaining operational efficiency. Rigorous sourcing and procurement criteria ensure that our supply chain meets the highest 
standards of quality, efficiency and sustainability.

Our supplier selection and evaluation process align with ISO standards and is guided by our Sustainability Policy. This 
evaluation ensures that our suppliers are competitive, reliable and cost-effective, enabling us to deliver exceptional products 
while meeting our sustainability commitments.

In FY2024, Leform sourced 31% of our materials from local suppliers and 69% from international suppliers.

ECONOMIC GROWTH

Alignment with 
current requirements 

or standards

Reliable quality of 
materials and services

Reasonable pricing

Proportion of  Spending on Suppliers

FY2022

FY2023

FY2024

34.49%

30.74%

46.82%

65.51%

53.18%

69.26%

Local Foreign
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KEY 
STAKEHOLDER 
GROUPS

MATERIAL 
MATTERS

CONTRIBUTION 
TO UN SDGS

GOVERNMENT AND 
REGULATORY AUTHORITIES EMPLOYEES CUSTOMERS

SUPPLIERS 
AND VENDORS

Corporate Governance and 
Anti-Corruption

Data Privacy and Cybersecurity

The Group is committed to upholding the highest standards of corporate 
governance, prioritising integrity and accountability. Our robust anti-corruption 
measures and ethical business practices cultivate a culture of trust, creating long-
term value for our stakeholders and supporting the sustainability of our business.

GOOD GOVERNANCE
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GOOD GOVERNANCE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND ANTI-CORRUPTION

Corporate Governance

Leform recognises that strong corporate governance is crucial for ensuring responsible operations. By establishing robust 
governance frameworks and clear oversight structures, we promote accountability and ethical decision-making, safeguarding 
stakeholder interests, mitigating operational risks and achieving corporate objectives. This proactive approach enhances our 
compliance with industry standards, driving long-term sustainable growth. 

In line with the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance (“MCCG”) principles, Leform places a strong emphasis on 
corporate governance to uphold exemplary business conduct across our operations. These values are reinforced through the 
establishment of several policies.

All policies are accessible to employees, suppliers and vendors through the Group’s corporate website, ensuring transparent 
communication with all stakeholders.

Anti-Corruption and Anti-Bribery

Leform enforces strict anti-bribery and anti-corruption measures in compliance with the Malaysian Anti-Corruption Commission 
(“MACC”) Amendment Act 2018. Our policies are designed to prevent misconduct and ensure full compliance with ethical 
standards.

In line with the MACC Amendment Act 2018, the Board periodically reviews and updates the Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption 
(“ABAC”) Policy to ensure continuous alignment with regulatory requirements.

In FY2024, we provided anti-corruption training to employees at all levels across our operations. A total of 39% of our full-time 
workforce completed the training, promoting a culture of integrity and ethical behaviour throughout the organisation.

Leform Governance Policies

Board 
Charter

DIrector’s Fit 
and Proper 

Policy

Code of Ethics 
and Conduct

Related Party 
Transaction 
Policy and 

Procedures

Conflict 
of Interest 

Policy

Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption 
Policy

Whistle Blowing 
Policy
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GOOD GOVERNANCE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND ANTI-CORRUPTION (CONT’D)

Anti-Corruption and Anti-Bribery (Cont’d)

With our anti-corruption policy and training programmes in place, we successfully maintained zero substantiated cases of 
corruption and whistleblowing over the past two financial years. Although a corruption risk assessment was not conducted 
this year, these assessments will be implemented across all operations in the future.

DATA PRIVACY AND CYBERSECURITY

Safeguarding our intellectual assets is crucial in an era of rapid technological advancement. As businesses increasingly rely 
on interconnected systems and cyber threats grow more sophisticated, robust cybersecurity measures are essential to protect 
sensitive information and mitigate risks from cyberattacks and fraud.

We ensure strict compliance with the Personal Data Protection Act (“PDPA”) 2010 and the Personal Data Protection Regulations 
(“PDPR”) 2013. All data is collected lawfully with the necessary consent, ensuring full transparency in how information is 
gathered, used and documented in our interactions with stakeholders. 

In FY2024, there were zero substantiated complaints concerning breaches of customer privacy and loses of customer data, 
maintaining the positive trend from FY2023.

Financial Year FY2023 FY2024

Substantiated Complaints Concerning Breaches of Customer Privacy and Loses of Customer Data 0 0

Percentage of Employees Received Training on Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption

Financial Year FY2024

Managerial and Professional Executives 37.14%

Executives 53.85%

Non-Executives 34.43%
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KEY 
STAKEHOLDER 
GROUPS

MATERIAL 
MATTERS

CONTRIBUTION 
TO UN SDGS

INVESTORS/ 
SHAREHOLDERS

GOVERNMENT AND 
REGULATORY AUTHORITIES

EMPLOYEES LOCAL 
COMMUNITIES

Energy, Emissions and Climate 
Resilience

Water Consumption

Waste and Effluent Management

At Leform, we are committed to reducing our environmental impact through 
responsible resource management, including energy, water and waste. We 
focus on enhancing our climate resilience and reducing emissions, ensuring that 
our operations contribute positively to the environment and support long-term 
sustainability.

ENVIRONMENTAL STEWARDSHIP
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ENVIRONMENTAL STEWARDSHIP

ENERGY, EMISSIONS AND CLIMATE RESILIENCE

Energy consumption and greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions are key considerations for Leform as a steel manufacturer and 
trader. Effectively managing our energy use and emissions directly impacts our operational efficiency and environmental 
footprint, supporting our broader commitment to environmental sustainability and climate change mitigation within the steel 
industry.

In line with industry best practices and international standards, we are actively pursuing decarbonisation and continuously 
monitoring our Scope 1, 2, and 3 GHG emissions to track progress. In February 2024, we completed and commissioned a 
solar panel system on the rooftop of our existing factory, marking a significant step in reducing our carbon footprint.

Energy Consumption 

At Leform, electricity accounts for 65% of our total energy consumption, primarily from our facilities, factories and employee 
accommodations. Diesel and petrol contribute 30% and 5%, respectively, to our overall energy consumption. 

In FY2024, our total energy consumption amounted to 30,628 Gigajoules (“GJ”), with an energy intensity of 0.150 GJ/RM’000. 
The total energy consumption includes 10,678 GJ from fuel, 13,121 GJ from purchased electricity and 6,829 GJ from solar-
generated electricity. Notably, we experienced a 60% increase in energy intensity compared to FY2023, primarily due to 
increased production activities to meet higher sales volumes.

Total Energy Consumption (GJ)

Total Energy Intensity (GJ/RM’000)Electricity Consumption (MWh)

FY2022

4,122.09
3,644.79

4,771.61 1896.88

FY2023 FY2024

FY2022

0.070

0.150

0.073

FY2023 FY2024

Fuel Consumption

Purchased Grid 
Electricity Consumption

Solar-Generated 
Electricity Consumption

Purchased Grid Electricity Solar-Generated Electricity

FY2023

9,761

17,178

FY2022

11,249

14,840

10,678

6,829

13,121

FY2024

26,938
26,088

30,628

Total Energy 
Consumption
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ENERGY, EMISSIONS AND CLIMATE RESILIENCE (CONT’D)

Total GHG Emissions

In the year under review, the Group reported a total of 3,939 tCO2e in GHG emissions, with 19% from Scope 1, 72% from 
Scope 2 and 9% from Scope 3.

ENVIRONMENTAL STEWARDSHIP

Scope 2 GHG Emissions (tCO2e)

GHG Intensity (tCO2e/RM’000)

Breakdown of GHG Emissions (tCO2e)

Scope 3 GHG Emissions (tCO2e)

FY2022

3,190.49

688.78 753.73

2,821.07

1,468.19

0.019

487.50 364.61

3,693.23

0.013

3,693.23

4,869.50

2821.07

3,939.41

FY2023

FY2023

FY2023 FY2024

FY2024

FY2024

Scope 1 GHG Emissions (tCO2e)

FY2022

91.74 100.87

1.77

81.29

0.20

709.00
652.87

362.84

607.49

487.30

FY2023

FY2023

FY2024

FY2024

Petrol

Business Air Travel

Scope 1

Diesel

Employee Commuting

Scope 2 GHG Emissions Generation Scope 2 GHG Emissions Avoidance

Scope 2

Scope 3

Total GHG Emissions

Notes:
1	 Scope 1 GHG emissions are direct emissions from owned or controlled sources
2	 Scope 2 GHG emissions are indirect emissions from the generation of purchased electricity
3	 Scope 3 GHG emissions are indirect GHG emissions that occur in the value chain but are not directly owned or controlled by the company
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ENERGY, EMISSIONS AND CLIMATE RESILIENCE (CONT’D)

Scope 1 GHG Emissions

Scope 1 GHG emissions from petrol and diesel use in company-owned vehicles, employee commuting and operating 
manufacturing machinery, amounted to 754 tCO2e in FY2024. This represents a 10% increase compared to FY2023, primarily 
driven by expanded sales activities and increased business travel.

Note: Scope 1 GHG emissions were calculated using emission factors from the UK Government GHG Conversion Factors for Company Reporting 2022, 2023 

and 2024.

 
Scope 2 GHG Emissions

Scope 2 GHG emissions from electricity consumption across our facilities, factories, and employee accommodations totalled 
2,821 tCO2e in FY2024, a 24% decrease from FY2023. This significant decrease was primarily driven by the installation of 
rooftop solar panels during the year, which generated 1,896,881 kWh of solar electricity and resulted in the avoidance of 
approximately 1,468 tCO2e in Scope 2 emissions.

Note: Scope 2 GHG emissions were calculated using the grid emission factors (2022) provided by the Energy Commission in Malaysia.

 
Scope 3 GHG Emissions

Scope 3 GHG emissions, from employee commuting and business air travel, amounted to 501.1 tCO2e in FY2024, a 16% 
decrease from FY2023.

Note: Scope 3 GHG emissions were calculated using emission factors from the UK Government GHG Conversion Factors for Company Reporting 2023 and 2024

WATER CONSUMPTION

Water is vital to our steel manufacturing processes, especially for processing, cooling and sanitation. Regular monitoring helps 
assess water efficiency, identify improvements and minimise our operations’ impact on local water resources.  

We have implemented an efficient closed-loop water system that recycles water, significantly reducing water consumption and 
eliminating wastewater discharge. This supports our resource conservation and environmental stewardship goals. 

In FY2024, we consumed 39 ML of water across our operations and facilities, reflecting a 16% increase compared to FY2023 
due to the increase in production activities to meet increased sales demand.     

ENVIRONMENTAL STEWARDSHIP

Water Intensity (m3/RM’000)Total Water Consumption (Megalitres)

FY2022FY2022

0.078

28.964

0.19138.936

0.091

33.517

FY2023FY2023 FY2024FY2024
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WASTE AND EFFLUENT MANAGEMENT

Effective waste and effluent management are essential for environmental sustainability at Leform. Our initiatives optimise 
resource use, minimise environmental impact and reduce contamination risks. Beyond regulatory compliance, responsible 
waste management strengthens our corporate responsibility as a steel manufacturer, fostering stakeholder trust and enhancing 
our public image. 

Our operational waste is categorised into three types: scheduled waste, non-scheduled waste and recycled waste. Scheduled 
waste is collected by authorised contractors in compliance with Department of Environment (“DOE”) regulations. Non-
scheduled waste, primarily plastics and office waste, is typically sent to landfills. Metal scraps, a significant by-product, are 
reintegrated into production processes due to steel’s recyclability. The Group strictly adheres to the Environmental Quality Act 
of 1974 and the Scheduled Waste Management Regulations 2005, as mandated by the DOE.

During the reporting year, we generated a total of 1,551 
tonnes of waste, comprising 66 tonnes of scheduled 
waste, 189 tonnes of non-scheduled waste and 1,296 
tonnes from recyclable metal scrap waste. This represents 
a 79% increase in scheduled waste generation compared 
to FY2023, alongside a 45% rise in non-scheduled waste. 
Additionally, 1,296 tonnes of steel were successfully recycled 
during FY2024, contributing to the circular economy. 

ENVIRONMENTAL STEWARDSHIP

Non-Scheduled Waste (tonnes)

Metal Scraps (tonnes)

Scheduled Waste (tonnes)

FY2022

FY2022

151.41

1,171.20

189.46

1,295.76

131.00

977.00

FY2023

FY2023

FY2024

FY2024

FY2022

22.15

62.25

34.00

2.49 3.873.00

FY2023 FY2024

Used Oil/ Coolant Contaminated Cotton Rag

Used oil / Coolant

Collected by Prescribed Contractor

Scheduled Waste Non-Scheduled Waste Recycled Waste

Collected by Prescribed Contractor

Contaminated 
Cotton Rags

Plastic / Office Waste Metal Scrap

Recycled
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KEY 
STAKEHOLDER 
GROUPS

MATERIAL 
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CONTRIBUTION 
TO UN SDGS

INVESTORS/ 
SHAREHOLDERS

GOVERNMENT AND 
REGULATORY AUTHORITIES

CUSTOMERS EMPLOYEES LOCAL 
COMMUNITIES

Labour Practices and Standard Diversity and Inclusion

Product Quality and Reliability Community Enrichment

Occupational Health and Safety

The Group promotes sustainability practices that support our people, products and 
communities. We uphold strong labour practices, ensure the quality and reliability of 
our products, and prioritise the health and safety of our employees. Our commitment 
to diversity and inclusion fosters a collaborative work environment, while our 
community initiatives create lasting positive social impacts.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

Health and Safety Governance

The steelmaking process involves 
hazardous processes, with workers 
operating near intense heat, machinery 
and toxic emissions. Strict safety 
measures are crucial to protect our 
workforce, prevent work disruptions 
and enhance productivity. A safe 
working environment also supports 
talent retention, strengthening Leform’s 
resilience and operational success. 

To ensure compliance with health 
and safety regulations, Leform has 
established a Safety Committee 
dedicated to protecting all within our 
operations. 

Adherence to Health and Safety Standards

We remain guided by the regulations, guidelines and codes of practice set by the Department of Occupational Safety and 
Health (“DOSH”), ensuring the implementation of robust Occupational Health and Safety (“OHS”) practices and initiatives 
throughout the year.

Leform Safety Committee

Health and Safety (“HSE”) Practices

CHAIRMAN

EMPLOYER REPRESENTATIVE

DEPUTY CHAIRMAN

EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATIVE

SAFETY REPRESENTATIVE SECRETARY

HIRARC Assessment
•	 A Hazard Identification, Risk Assessment and Risk 

Control (“HIRARC”) was last conducted in 2023, 
and shall be re-assessed every 3 years, allowing us 
to systematically identify potential hazards, assess 
associated risks and implement control measures to 
ensure the safety of our workforce.

HSE Engagement
•	 Conducted safety briefings when necessary
•	 Organised four engagement sessions with employees to 

identify potential safety risks and develop management 
strategies in line with OSHA guidelines.

Collaboration with DOSH 
•	 Leform collaborated with DOSH to conduct emissions 

monitoring and develop a phased plan of internal 
initiatives aimed at improving our environmental 
performance.

Auditing OSHWA Compliance
•	 Conducted internal audits in accordance with 

Occupational Safety and Health Workplace Assessment 
(“OSHWA”) standards to ensure compliance and foster 
continuous improvement in safety practices.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY (CONT’D)

Health and Safety Performance

In FY2024, our workforce accumulated a total of 718,203 hours, during which we recorded a lost-time injury rate (“LTIR”) of 
1.39 across our operations. We remain dedicated to cultivating a workplace that prioritises the health, safety and well-being 
of our most valuable asset – our people.

LABOUR PRACTICES AND STANDARDS

Ethical labour practices and standards are essential for fostering a respectful workplace culture that upholds equal opportunities 
and dignity for all employees. At Leform, we are committed to safeguarding fundamental human rights and ensuring fair 
treatment in line with our social responsibility commitments. We strictly adhere to all relevant laws and regulations, ensuring 
fair treatment, competitive compensation and a safe working environment for employees.

Additionally, a total of 139 participants completed health and safety training in FY2024.

Machine Safety 
& Line of Fire 
(“LOF”) 
Safety Briefing 
and Refresher on 
Machine Safety

Hearing 
Conservation 
Programme (“HCP”) 
Annual Audiometric 
Testing

Employee Development

Leform invests annually in training programmes to enhance 
technical skills, health and safety knowledge and soft skills, 
fostering employee growth and development. In FY2024, 
we provided training in areas such as supervisory and 
leadership skills, health and safety, quality management and 
auditing, among others.
 
These initiatives amounted to a total of 1,084 hours of 
training, benefitting 83 employees. 

Professional Development 
and Skills

Quality Management and 
Auditing

Occupational Health and 
Safety

Financial and Budgeting

Types of Training Programmes

13%

13%

37%

37%

OHS Performance FY2023 FY2024

Total number of hours worked 626,306 718,203

Number of fatalities as a result of work-related injury 0 0

Number of recordable work-related injuries 6 5

Number of fatalities as a result of work-related ill health 0 0

Number of cases of recordable work-related ill health 0 0

Lost time injury rate (LTIR) 1.92 1.39

Note: LTIR was calculated based on the Bursa Malaysia Sustainability Reporting Guide for 200,000 hours worked.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

LABOUR PRACTICES AND STANDARDS (CONT’D)

Human Rights Performance

Employee Recruitment

Our workforce in FY2024 comprised 218 individuals, with 37% permanent and 63% contract or temporary workers. During the 
reporting year, the Group welcomed 54 new employees, 80% of whom were men, with 68% under the age of 30. Employee 
turnover for the year totalled 30, with 70% men and 84% non-executives.

304 304

228

608

720
672

320

120
184

FY2022 FY2023 FY2024

Total Training Hours by Employee Category Average Hours of Training Provided to Each 
Employee Category

Managerial and Professional Executive Non-Executive

11

14

9

12 12

17

11
12

11

FY2022 FY2023 FY2024

10 10

37

7
4

0

69

51

17

FY2022 FY2023 FY2024

Managerial and Professional Executive Non-Executive

Reported cases concerning 
human rights

Reported incidents of 
discrimination0 0

New Hires by Gender

FY2022

57

43

59

29

11
6

FY2023 FY2024

Male Female

New Hires by Age

<30 30-50 >50

 INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2024 49



SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

LABOUR PRACTICES AND STANDARDS (CONT’D)

Employee Recruitment (Cont’d)

8
12 10

1
5

0

18

50

20

FY2022 FY2023 FY2024

Turnover by Gender

Employee Demographic by Employment Status

FY2022

FY2022

23

53.82%

21

36.70%

42

43.49%

4

46.18%

9

63.30%

25

56.41%

FY2023

FY2023

FY2024

FY2024

Male

Permanent

Female

Contract or Temporary

Turnover by Age

Turnover by Employee Category

<30 30-50 >50

Managerial and 
Professional

2

25

3

Executive Non-Executive

Employee Benefits

At Leform, we provide our employees a comprehensive benefits package, including healthcare coverage and accommodations 
with essential amenities.

Leform’s Employee Benefits

Leave 
Entitlement

Healthcare 
Benefits

Free 
Accommodation 

(Local and 
Foreign 

Workers)

Retirement 
Provision 
(KWSP)

Parental Leave

Disability 
& Invalidity 
Coverage 
(SOCSO)
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

LABOUR PRACTICES AND STANDARDS (CONT’D)

Employee Benefits (Cont’d)

In FY2024, only one (1) female employee utilised parental 
leave across the Group, achieving a 100% return-to-work 
rate. 

Additionally, 115 employees underwent performance 
evaluations to review their progress and development.

Number of Employees who Received 
Performance Appraisal

FY2022

144
115115

FY2023 FY2024

DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION

Leform strives to cultivate an inclusive workplace, recognising diversity as a driver of innovation and sustainable growth. 
By embracing diversity, we create a vibrant culture that values individuals, supports professional development and offers 
opportunities for meaningful contributions. 

In 2022, we introduced our Diversity Policy, reinforcing our commitment to equal opportunity and fair treatment. Guided by 
this policy, hiring and career advancement decisions are based solely on merit, free from discrimination based on age, race or 
gender. We actively promote diversity, ensuring every individual is valued, respected and empowered to thrive. 

Board Diversity

Leform’s Board of Directors comprises seven (7) members, with women accounting for 43% of the Board – exceeding the 
national target of 30% female representation set by the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance (“MCCG”). 

Employee Diversity

Our workforce primarily consists of non-executive roles (78%), followed by managerial and professional roles (11%) and 
executive positions (11%). Reflecting the nature of the steel manufacturing industry, 83% of our employees are male, with 
84% aged between 30-50.

Percentage of Directors by Gender Percentage of Directors by Age

Male 30 - 50

Female 51 - 60

> 60

43% 43% 43%

57%

14%
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION (CONT’D)

Employee Diversity (Cont’d)

Local employees represent 37% of our total workforce, while non-local employees account for 63%, bringing valuable 
expertise and skills to our operations. Recognising the importance of local employment, we are committed to increasing the 
proportion of local employees as part of our long-term strategy, aiming to foster community engagement and support regional 
economic development. 

Employee Demographic by NationalityTotal Number of Employees

FY2022FY2022

46%

54%

275 63%

37%

218

56%

44%

273

FY2023FY2023 FY2024FY2024

Local Non-Local

65
.7

1%

58
.3

3%

62
.8

6%

Male

2.
86

%

4.
17

%

5.
71

%

<30

54
.2

9%

45
.8

3%

54
.2

9%

30 - 50

42
.8

6%

50
.0

0%

40
.0

0%

>50

39
.3

9%

34
.7

8%

36
.0

0%

<30

45
.4

5%

43
.4

8%

44
.0

0%

30 - 50

15
.1

5%

21
.7

4%

20
.0

0%

>50

4.
35

%

3.
51

%

5.
16

%

<30

93
.7

2%

94
.7

4%

93
.4

3%

30 - 50

1.
93

%

1.
75

%

1.
75

%

>50

54
.5

5%

50
.0

0%

60
.0

0%

Male

83
.5

7%

91
.7

6%

90
.6

1%

Male

34
.2

9%

41
.6

7%

37
.1

4%

Female

45
.4

5%

50
.0

0%

40
.0

0%

Female

16
.4

3%

8.
24

%

9.
39

%
Female

Employee Demographic by Gender

Employee Demographic by Age Group

FY2022

FY2022

FY2023

FY2023

FY2024

FY2024

Managerial and Professional

Managerial and Professional

Executive

Executive

Non-Executive

Non-Executive
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

PRODUCT QUALITY AND RELIABILITY

Leform’s products serve a diverse range of sectors, including furniture, construction and automobile component manufacturing. 
Recognising the critical role of steel in ensuring structural integrity and safety, we are committed to delivering high-quality 
products and maintaining our reputation as a trusted supplier across industries.

Our steel products meet stringent Japanese Industrial Standards (“JIS”), and we are proud to hold ISO 9001:2015 certification 
from TUV Nord Cert GmbH. Additionally, we hold a Construction Industry Development Board (“CIDB”) licence. To ensure our 
products meet customer expectations, we conduct annual surveys to gather feedback, driving continuous improvement and 
enhancing our offerings.

COMMUNITY ENRICHMENT

Leform firmly believes that corporate social responsibility (“CSR”) is integral to building meaningful relationships with local 
communities. By investing in social initiatives, we aim to support communities, uplift vulnerable groups and promote greater 
social equity. Strengthening these bonds not only benefits the communities we serve but also enhances our social licence to 
operate.

In FY2024, Leform actively engaged in various community-oriented initiatives, including sponsorships, donations, and 
contributions to local programmes. These efforts reflect our ongoing dedication to giving back to society and supporting the 
well-being of the communities around us.

Products Certifications & Licences

Steel Pipes, Hollow Sections ISO 9001:2015 & CIDB

Steel Pipes OD 42.7mm x T2.50mm CIDB

Steel Pipes OD 27.2mm x T2.00mm CIDB

Steel Pipes OD 21.7mm x T2.00mm CIDB

Steel Pipes OD 48.6mm x T2.50mm CIDB

Highway Guardrails CIDB

Customer Ratings Distribution (Grade A & B) from 
Satisfaction Survey

FY2022

75%

67%65%

25%
33%35%

FY2023 FY2024

Grade A Grade B

In the year under review, our annual customer satisfaction 
survey revealed that 67% of respondents consistently rated 
our products as Grade A.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

COMMUNITY ENRICHMENT (CONT’D)

Throughout the year, we provided monetary and non-monetary contributions totalling RM26,800 to nine organisations, 
supporting festive celebrations, annual gatherings, development programmes, and charitable causes.

Summary of FY2024 Community Contributions

No Community Programmes Beneficiaries/Recipient Amount (RM)

1 Sponsorship for Chinese New Year Celebration 
2024

MISIF Charity Fund
10,000

2 Sponsorship for Annual Lunch 2024 Machmar Industries 1,000

3 Sponsorship for Annual Dinner 2024 MSM Group 1,000

4 Contribution for E-Sports Development Hulu Selangor District Police Headquarters 500

5 Donation for 85th Anniversary Celebration Perak Chinese Hardware Dealers Association
(Ibu Pejabat Polis Daerah Hulu Selangor) 

1,000

6 Donation for 69th Anniversary Celebration Sabah Builders Association
(Persatuan Pembina Sabah)

1,200

7 Contribution for Koperasi Annual General 
Meeting

Hulu Selangor District Council
(Majlis Daerah Hulu Selangor)

500

8 General Donation Customs Officers Union of Peninsular Malaysia
(Kesatuan Pegawai Kastam Semenanjung Malaysia)

600

9 Sponsorship for Annual Dinner Gathering Sinkong Construction 1,000

10 Sponsorship for Chinese New Year Celebration 
2025

MISIF Charity Fund
10,000

Total 26,800
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BUILDING A SUSTAINABLE FUTURE

In conclusion, Leform’s commitment to sustainability goes 
beyond fulfilling corporate responsibility – it represents a 
steadfast pledge to drive meaningful change. We are dedicated 
to embedding sustainable practices into every aspect of our 
operations, ensuring our business remains resilient and poised 
for future growth. By embracing these principles, we are building 
a solid foundation for long-term success while contributing to a 
sustainable future for all stakeholders.
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PERFORMANCE DATA TABLE

GOVERNANCE

Indicator Unit FY2022 FY2023 FY2024

Anti-Corruption

Bursa C1(a) Percentage of employees who 
have received training on anti-corruption by 
employee category

•	 Senior Management % - - -

•	 Management % - - 37.14

•	 Executive % - - 53.85

•	 Non-Executive % - - 34.43

Bursa C1(b) Percentage of operations 
assessed for corruption related risks

% - - -

Bursa C1(c) Confirmed incidents of 
corruption and actions taken

Number 0 0 0

Data Privacy and Security

Bursa C8(a) Number of substantiated 
complaints concerning breaches of 
customer privacy or losses of customer 
data

Number 0 0 0

Supply Chain Management

Bursa C7(a) Proportion of spending on local 
suppliers

% 34.49 46.82 30.74

ENVIRONMENT

Indicator Unit FY2022 FY2023 FY2024

Energy, Emissions and Climate Resilience

Bursa C4(a) Total energy consumption GJ 26,088 26,938 30,628

Bursa C11(a) Scope 1 emissions in tonnes 
of CO2e

tCO2e 800.74 688.78 753.73

Bursa C11(b) Scope 2 emissions in tonnes 
of CO2e

tCO2e 3,190.49 3,693.23 2,821.07 

Bursa C11(c) Scope 3 emissions in tonnes 
of CO2e (business travel and employee 
commuting)

tCO2e - 487.50 364.61

Waste and Effluent Management

Bursa C10(a) Total waste generated Metric tonnes        1,347.25       1,145.00   1,551.34 

Bursa C10(a)(i) Total waste diverted from 
disposal

Metric tonnes        1,171.20          977.00   1,295.76 

Bursa C10(a)(ii) Total waste directed to 
disposal

Metric tonnes           176.05          168.00      255.58 

Bursa S8(a) Total volume of water (effluent) 
discharge over the reporting period

L 0 0 0

Water Consumption

Bursa C9(a) Total volume of water used ML 28.964 33.517 38.936
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SOCIAL

Indicator Unit FY2022 FY2023 FY2024

Occupational Health and Safety

Bursa C5(a) Number of work-related 
fatalities

Number - 0 0

Bursa C5(b) Lost time incident rate (“LTIR”) Rate - 1.92 1.39

Bursa C5(c) Number of employees (crews) 
trained on health and safety standards

Number - 100 139

Human Rights, Labour Practices and Standards

Bursa C6(d) Number of substantiated 
complaints concerning human rights 
violation

Number 0 0 0

Talent Attraction and Development

Bursa C6(a) Total hours of training by 
employee category

•	 Managerial and Professional Hours 304 304 228

•	 Executive Hours 320 120 184

•	 Non-Executive Hours 608 720 672

Bursa C6(c) Total number of employee 
turnover by employee category

•	 Managerial and Professional Number - 2 2

•	 Executive Number - 3 3

•	 Non-Executive Number - 62 25

Diversity and Inclusion

Bursa C3(a) Percentage of employees by 
gender and age group, for each employee 
category

Gender group by employee category

•	 Managerial and Professional (Men) % 65.71 62.86 58.33

•	 Managerial and Professional (Women) % 34.29 37.14 41.67

•	 Executive (Men) % 54.55 60.00 50.00

•	 Executive (Women) % 45.45 40.00 50.00

•	 Non-Executive (Men) % 83.57 90.61 91.76

•	 Non-Executive (Women) % 16.43 9.39 8.24

Age group by employee category

•	 Managerial and Professional (<30) % 2.86 5.71 4.17

•	 Managerial and Professional (30-50) % 54.29 54.29 45.83

•	 Managerial and Professional (>50) % 42.86 40.00 50.00

•	 Executive (<30) % 39.39 36.00 34.78

•	 Executive (30-50) % 45.45 44.00 43.48

•	 Executive (>50) % 15.15 20.00 21.74

•	 Non-Executive (<30) % 4.35 5.16 3.51

•	 Non-Executive (30-50) % 93.72 93.43 94.74

•	 Non-Executive (>50) % 1.93 1.41 1.75

PERFORMANCE DATA TABLE
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GOVERNANCE

Indicator Unit FY2022 FY2023 FY2024

Bursa C3(b) Percentage of directors by 
gender and age

Men % 57.14 57.14 57.14

Women % 42.86 42.86 42.86

30-50 % 42.86 42.86 42.86

51-60 % 14.29 14.29 14.29

>60 % 42.86 42.86 42.86

Bursa C6(b) Percentage of employees that 
are contractors or temporary staff

•	 Permanent % 53.82 43.59 36.70

•	 Contract % 46.18 56.41 63.30

Community Engagement

Bursa C2(a) Total amount invested in the 
community where the target beneficiaries 
are external to the listed issuer

RM 2,610.00 29,929.50 26,800.00

Bursa C2(b) Total number of beneficiaries of 
the investment in communities

Number 1 9 9

PERFORMANCE DATA TABLE
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GRI CONTENT INDEX

Statement of use Leform Berhad has reported the information cited in this GRI content index for the period 1 
January 2024 to 31 December 2024 with reference to the GRI Standards.

GRI 1 used GRI 1: Foundation 2021

Gri Standard Disclosure Location 
(Page)

GRI 2: General 
Disclosures 2021

2-1 Organisational details 21

2-2 Entities included in the organisation’s sustainability reporting 21

2-3 Reporting period, frequency and contact point 21

2-6 Activities, value chain and other business relationships 21

2-7 Employees 49 - 52

2-8 Workers who are not employees 49

2-9 Governance structure and composition 24

2-10 Nomination and selection of the highest governance body 24, 34, 39

2-11 Chair of the highest governance body 24, 34

2-12 Role of the highest governance body in overseeing the management of impacts 24, 34, 39

2-13 Delegation of responsibility for managing impacts 24, 34, 39

2-14 Role of the highest governance body in sustainability reporting 24, 34, 39

2-16 Communication of critical concerns 39

2-18 Evaluation of the performance of the highest governance body 39

2-19 Remuneration policies 39

2-20 Process to determine remuneration 39

2-22 Statement on sustainable development strategy 21 - 23

2-23 Policy commitments 39

2-24 Embedding policy commitments 39

2-26 Mechanisms for seeking advice and raising concerns 24, 39

2-27 Compliance with laws and regulations Throughout

2-28 Membership associations 21

2-29 Approach to stakeholder engagement 28 - 30

GRI 3: Material Topics 
2021

3-1 Process to determine material topics 31 - 32

3-2 List of material topics 32

3-3 Management of material topics Throughout

GRI 201: Economic 
Performance 2016

201-2 Financial implications and other risks and opportunities due to climate change 34

GRI 204: Procurement 
Practices 2016

204-1 Proportion of spending on local suppliers 37

GRI 205: Anti-
corruption 2016

205-1 Operations assessed for risks related to corruption 39

205-2 Communication and training about anti-corruption policies and procedures 39

205-3 Confirmed incidents of corruption and actions taken 39

GRI 301: Materials 
2016

301-2 Recycled input materials used 45

GRI 302: Energy 2016 302-1 Energy consumption within the organisation 42 - 44

302-2 Energy consumption outside of the organisation 42 - 44

302-4 Reduction of energy consumption 42
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Gri Standard Disclosure Location 
(Page)

GRI 303: Water and 
Effluents 2018

303-2 Management of water discharge-related impacts 44

303-5 Water consumption 44

GRI 305: Emissions 
2016

305-1 Direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions 43, 44

305-2 Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions 43, 44

305-3 Other indirect (Scope 3) GHG emissions 43, 44

305-5 Reduction of GHG emissions 42, 43

GRI 306: Waste 2020 306-1 Waste generation and significant waste-related impacts 45

306-2 Management of significant waste-related impacts 45

306-3 Waste generated 45

306-4 Waste diverted from disposal 45

GRI 401: Employment 
2016

401-1 New employee hires and employee turnover 49, 50

401-2 Benefits provided to full-time employees that are not provided to temporary or 
part-time employees

50

401-3 Parental leave 50, 51

GRI 403: Occupational 
Health and Safety 
2018

403-1 Occupational health and safety management system 47, 48

403-2 Hazard identification, risk assessment, and incident investigation 47

403-3 Occupational health services 47, 48

403-4 Worker participation, consultation, and communication on occupational health 
and safety

47, 48

403-5 Worker training on occupational health and safety 48

403-6 Promotion of worker health 47 - 48

403-7 Prevention and mitigation of occupational health and safety impacts directly 
linked by business relationships

47 - 48

403-8 Workers covered by an occupational health and safety management system 48, 49

403-9 Work-related injuries 48, 49

403-10 Work-related ill health 48, 49

GRI 404: Training and 
Education 2016

404-1 Average hours of training per year per employee 48, 49

404-2 Programmes for upgrading employee skills and transition assistance 
programmes

48, 49

GRI 405: Diversity and 
Equal Opportunity 
2016

405-1 Diversity of governance bodies and employees 51, 52

GRI 413: Local 
Communities 2016

413-1 Operations with local community engagement, impact assessments, and 
development programmes

53

GRI 418: Customer 
Privacy 2016

418-1 Substantiated complaints concerning breaches of customer privacy and losses 
of customer data

40

GRI CONTENT INDEX
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROFILE

DATUK SERI AKHIL 
BIN BULAT
Independent Non-Executive Chairman

Datuk Seri Akhil Bin Bulat is our Independent Non-Executive Chairman.

He graduated from University Kebangsaan Malaysia with a Diploma in Police Science 
in 1998. He also graduated from University Malaya with a Diploma in Strategic 
Studies in 1993.

He worked with the Royal Malaysia Police for 38 years, since he began his career 
in 1977 as Sabah Research Staff Officer. Throughout the years, he worked across 
various branches in the Royal Malaysia Police. In 2015, he retired from his role as 
Director of Special Branches of the Royal Malaysia Police.

Datuk Seri Akhil Bin Bulat has attended all five (5) Board of Director’s meetings 
Board of Directors’ Meetings held during the financial year 2024.

Date of Appointment
6 December 2021

Membership of Board Committees
None

Directorship in Public Companies and Listed 
Corporations
Edaran Pekemas Bhd

Age
72

Nationality
Malaysian

Gender
Male
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROFILE

Law Kok Thye is our Managing Director. He is responsible for the strategic direction 
and business development of our Group.

He completed his Sijil Tinggi Persekolahan Malaysia (STPM) at Sekolah Menengah 
Kebangsaan Mat Salleh, Sabah, in 1986.

He has over three decades of experience in the manufacturing and steel industries, 
having held key roles in companies such as Product Manufacturing Sdn Bhd, Bright 
Steel Sdn Bhd, Kanzen Kagu Sdn Bhd, and Prestar Steel Pipes Sdn Bhd. In 2001, 
he acquired equity in Leform Steel Pipes Sdn Bhd and later in Leform, assuming the 
position of Managing Director. Since then, he has been leading the strategic growth 
of our Group.

He is also a member of the Board of Directors for Tianwen Holdings Sdn Bhd.

Law Kok Thye has attended all five (5) Board of Directors’ Meetings held during the 
financial year 2024.

Date of Appointment
17 January 2003

Membership of Board Committees
None

Directorship in Public Companies and Listed 
Corporations
None

Age
59

Nationality
Malaysian

Gender
Male

LAW KOK THYE
Managing Director
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROFILE

Esmariza Binti Ismail is our Non-Independent Executive Director and the Group’s 
Human Resource Manager. She is responsible for handling our Group’s administrative 
and human resource related activities.

She graduated from Universiti Teknologi MARA with a Bachelor of Accountancy in 
1999.

She has extensive experience in accounting, administration, and human resources, 
having started her career with Fast Airfreight Forwarding (M) Sdn Bhd before joining 
our Group in 2002. She has since held various leadership roles, including Human 
Resource Manager for our Group and LF Engineering.

Esmariza Binti Ismail has attended all five (5) Board of Directors’ Meetings held 
during the financial year 2024.

Date of Appointment
6 December 2021

Membership of Board Committees
None

Directorship in Public Companies and Listed 
Corporations
None

Age
50

Nationality
Malaysian

Gender
Female

ESMARIZA 
BINTI ISMAIL
Non-Independent Executive Director
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROFILE

Law Kar Hou is our Non-Independent Executive Director and the Executive Assistant 
to Managing Director. He is responsible to support the Managing Directors leadership 
by assisting in strategic initiatives and coordinating administrative functions. 
Additionally, he holds the responsibilities in overseeing the production planning of 
Leform Berhad’s manufacturing division.

He graduated from Brunel University London with a Bachelor of Science with second 
class (upper division) honours in Accountancy in 2022.

He completed an internship from 7 September 2022 to 6 December 2022, where he 
worked in the Operations Department of Penjana Kapital Sdn Bhd. His responsibilities 
included performing clerical tasks, managing day-to-day payments as well as the 
processing of capital calls, for the distribution of funds to investments. Additionally, 
he also served as an investment analyst, conducting comprehensive due diligence 
and deal assessments for new investment opportunities. Following the completion 
of his internship, he transitioned to Leform Berhad, assuming the role of Executive 
Assistant to the Managing Director.

Law Kar Hou has attended all two (2) Board of Directors’ Meetings held during the 
financial year 2024.

Date of Appointment
16 July 2024

Membership of Board Committees
None

Directorship in Public Companies and Listed 
Corporations
None

Age
25

Nationality
Malaysian

Gender
Male

LAW KAR HOU
Non-Independent Executive Director
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROFILE

Chua Leng Leek is our Independent Non-Executive Director.

She graduated from Tunku Abdul Rahman University College with an Advanced 
Diploma in Commerce (Financial Accounting) in 2002 and became a Chartered 
Accountant of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants in 2009. She is also a 
professional member of the Institute of Internal Auditors Malaysia.

With a strong background in finance, audit, and corporate governance, she has 
held key positions in various firms, including ITS Plus Synergy (M) Sdn Bhd and Pro 
Affluence Management (M) Sdn Bhd, where she currently serves as Director. She 
also holds a directorship in Metro Healthcare Berhad, a company listed on the ACE 
Market of Bursa Securities.

Chua Leng Leek has attended all five (5) Board of Directors’ Meetings held during 
the financial year 2024.

Date of Appointment
6 December 2021

Membership of Board Committees
-	 Chairman of Audit and Risk Management 

Committee
-	 Member of Remuneration Committee
-	 Member of Nomination Committee

Directorship in Public Companies and Listed 
Corporations
Metro Healthcare Berhad

Age
45

Nationality
Malaysian

Gender
Female

CHUA LENG LEEK
Independent Non-Executive Director

 INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2024 65



BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROFILE

Lai Chin Yang is our Independent Non-Executive Director. 

He graduated from the University of Malaya with a Bachelor of Science majoring in 
Physics in 1977 and obtained a Chartered Diploma in Marketing from the Chartered 
Institute of Marketing, United Kingdom, in 1992.

He has over 40 years of experience in sales, marketing, and management within 
the steel industry. He has held senior roles in companies such as Hume Industries 
Berhad, Franki Piling Sdn Bhd, PC Holdings Group, and the Steel Division of the Lion 
Group, where he retired as Marketing Director. During his tenure, he was responsible 
for the sales and marketing of long and flat steel products.

Lai Chin Yang has attended all five (5) Board of Directors’ Meetings held during the 
financial year 2024.

Date of Appointment
6 December 2021

Membership of Board Committees
-	 Chairman of Nomination Committee
-	 Member of Remuneration Committee
-	 Member of Audit and Risk Management 

Committee

Directorship in Public Companies and Listed 
Corporations
None

Age
72

Nationality
Malaysian

Gender
Male

LAI CHIN YANG
Independent Non-Executive Director
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROFILE

Lee Wee Leng is our Independent Non-Executive Director.

She graduated with a Bachelor of Business, majoring in Accounting and IT, from the 
University of Technology Sydney, Australia. She is a Fellow Member of CPA Australia 
and a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants.

She has over 20 years of experience in finance, auditing, and business performance 
analysis across industries such as manufacturing, trading, financial services, 
property development, and retail. She has held senior roles at companies including 
Yeng & Co., Deloitte, Barry Callebaut Malaysia, Fraser & Neave Holdings Berhad, 
AEON Group, and currently serves as the Head of Finance at The Coffee Bean & Tea 
Leaf (M) Sdn. Bhd.

Lee Wee Leng has attended all five (5) Board of Directors’ Meetings held during the 
financial year 2024.

Date of Appointment
21 February 2022

Membership of Board Committees
-	 Chairman of Remuneration Committee
-	 Member of Audit and Risk Management 

Committee
-	 Member of Nomination Committee

Directorship in Public Companies and Listed 
Corporations
None

Age
44

Nationality
Malaysian

Gender
Female

LEE WEE LENG
Independent Non-Executive Director

Additional Information for Board of Directors’ Profile :

Family Relationship with any Director and/or Major Shareholder of the 
Company
Save for Law Kok Thye, the Managing Director, and Law Kar Hou, the Non-
Independent Executive Director, who share a father-son relationship, none of 
the Directors have any family relationship with any of the Directors and/or Major 
Shareholders of the Company.

Conviction of Offence
None of the Directors have been convicted of any offence within the past 5 years 
other than traffic offences, if any nor any public sanction or penalty imposed by 
any relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year.

Conflict of Interest and Potential conflict of Interests
None of the Directors have any conflict of interest and potential conflict of 
interest with the Company.
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KEY SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE

Hong Ka Hock is our General Manager. He is responsible for 
our Group’s project development, monitoring, managing the 
setting-up of machineries, factory planning and related matters.

He graduated from Sekolah Menengah Kebangsaan Dato’ 
Syed Omar, Kedah with a Sijil Tinggi Persekolahan Malaysia 
(STPM) certificate in 1984.

His career began in 1988 as a Quality Assurance Technician 
at Matsushita Refrigeration Industries (S) Pte Ltd, where he 
was later promoted to Supervisor. Over the years, he gained 
extensive experience in production management, quality 
control, and supply chain planning through key roles at Bright 
Steel Sdn Bhd, Prestar Storage System Sdn Bhd, and Deluxe 
Forum Sdn Bhd.

In 2007, he joined Leform as General Manager, bringing his 
expertise in operational efficiency, production oversight, and 
strategic project execution.

Hong Ka Hock does not have any family relationship with any 
of our Directors and/or major shareholders.

Wong Kian Ning is our Chief Financial Officer. He is in charge 
of handling all accounting and finance related matters for our 
Group.

He graduated with a Bachelor of Accounting from University 
Utara Malaysia. He is also a member of CPA Australia and the 
Malaysian Institute of Accountants.

He is an experienced finance professional with over 13 years 
in audit, accounting, and finance. He has held senior roles 
across diverse sectors, including a Big 4 accounting firm, 
multinational corporations, manufacturing, and renewable 
energy. His career also includes involvement with listed 
companies, reverse takeovers, and fundraising exercises.

Wong Kian Ning does not have any family relationship with 
any of our Directors and/or major shareholders.

Date of Appointment
19 November 2007

Date of Appointment
1 November 2024

Age
61

Nationality
Malaysian

Gender
Male

Age
37

Nationality
Malaysian

Gender
Male

WONG KIAN NING
Chief Financial Officer

HONG KA HOCK
General Manager
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Lee Li Wah is our Group’s Plant Manager. She is in charge of 
overseeing the overall production, planning, quality assurance 
and quality control processes, quality management system as 
well as product development activities.

She graduated from Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia with a 
Bachelor’s Degree in Applied Physics in 2004.

Her career began as a Project Engineer at Wenhup Engineering 
Sdn Bhd, followed by roles in product development and 
production management at Sena Diecasting Industries Sdn 
Bhd, Prestar Precision Tube Sdn Bhd, and LF Metal Sdn Bhd.

She joined Leform in 2012 as a Personal Assistant (Sales & 
Planning) to the Managing Director, before being promoted to 
Plant Manager in 2014. In this role, she oversees all aspects 
of production operations, quality control, and new product 
initiatives.

Lee Li Wah does not have any family relationship with any of 
our Directors and/or major shareholders.

Date of Appointment
1 August 2014

Date of Appointment
1 November 2016

LEE LI WAH
Plant Manager

KEY SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE

Surian A/L Krishnan is our Senior Accounts Manager. He 
is responsible for supporting our CFO in the preparation of 
financial statements.

He graduated from Systemic College in 1992 with a London 
Chamber of Commerce Industry (LCCI) Higher in Accounting. 
In 2001, he completed the Professional Banking and Finance 
Course from the Institute of Banker Malaysia. He is an affiliate 
with the Chartered Institute of Management (CIMA) since 
2002. He is also an associate member of the Institute of 
Banker Malaysia (presently known as the Asian Institute of 
Chartered Bankers).

With a career spanning over 30 years, he has held financial 
roles at JS Noronha & Co, Standard Chartered Bank (Malaysia) 
Berhad, Gas Malaysia Berhad, and Amalgamated Industrial 
Steel Berhad.

He joined Leform in 2012 as Corporate Finance Manager, 
overseeing banking facilities, and was promoted to Senior 
Accounts Manager in 2016. He played a key role in financial and 
accounting matters before the appointment of the Group’s CFO.

Surian A/L Krishnan does not have any family relationship with 
any of our Directors and/or major shareholders.

Additional Information for Key Senior Management’s Profile :

Directorship in Public Companies and Listed Corporations
None of the Key Senior Management have any directorships in public companies and/or listed corporations.

Conviction of Offence
None of the Key Senior Management have been convicted of any offence within the past 5 years other than traffic offences, if any.
None of the Key Senior Management were penalised or sanctioned by any regulatory bodies during the financial year.

Conflict of Interest and Potential  Conflict of Interests
None of the Key Senior Management  have any conflict of interest and potential  conflict of interest with the Company

Age
45

Nationality
Malaysian

Gender
Female

Age
53

Nationality
Malaysian

Gender
Male

SURIAN A/L KRISHNAN
Senior Accounts Manager
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VALUE CREATION STRATEGIC REVIEW

OUR APPROACH TO VALUE CREATION

At Leform Berhad (“Leform” or “the Group”), our value creation strategy is guided by our commitment to operational 
excellence, customer-centric innovation, sustainability, and financial resilience. The Group’s organisational strategy 
is guided by Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) factors and aligned with the United Nations Sustainable 
Development Goals (“UN SDG”). 

Our integrated business model, encompassing manufacturing, trading, and transportation of steel products, remains 
central to our value creation process. Leveraging our available resources, we have formulated strategies that balance 
immediate business needs with long-term growth and development. These strategies are executed through well-structured 
and established business processes. 

For the year in review, our operational enhancements, disciplined financial management, and commitment to sustainability 
have further reinforced our position in the steel industry. In the financial year ended 31 December 2024 (“FY2024”), we 
continued to enhance our business efficiency, optimise costs, and strengthen our sustainability efforts, ensuring long-term 
value creation for all stakeholders.

Our Business Strengths

Within the framework of our business model, we focus on developing and strengthening our core capabilities to drive sustainable 
growth. These core capabilities include: -

•	 offering an 
extensive selection 
of steel pipes, 
guardrails, and 
flat steel products 
tailored to diverse 
end-use industry 
applications

•	 an unwavering 
commitment to delivering 
steel products of the 
highest quality, validated 
by our ISO 9001:2015 
certification and CIDB 
certification for the use of 
our products in scaffolding

•	 a senior 
management 
team with 
broad industry 
experience 
and technical 
expertise

•	 operating from 
a well-equipped 
manufacturing 
facility 
designed 
to meet the 
highest industry 
standards

•	 seamless 
and efficient 
streamlining of 
operations, from 
the initial stages 
of production to 
the final stages of 
delivery

Our Group Business Model

•	 Building material or steel trading companies
•	 End-customers (Manufacturers and contractors)

Steel pipes and
guardrails

Flat steel products
(slitted steel coil and sheets)

Various steel products
(including slitted steel

coils and sheets)

Welding Steel slitting and shearing
Automative and furniture industry

MANUFACTURINGPRINCIPAL 
ACTIVITY

PRODUCTS

CUSTOMER 
SEGMENTS

MANUFACTURING 
PROCESS

TRADING

LEFORM BERHAD70



Environmental, Social, Governance

Sustainability is embedded into each stage of our value creation 
process and each of our business processes, generating shared 
value for our stakeholders, communities, and environment. 

8

FORMULATE IMPLEMENT

Growth Drivers

Our growth drivers are 
the three key factors 
that underpin our ability 
to create long-term 
value and sustain our 
competitiveness. They 
define our approach to 
developing and producing 
quality products efficiently 
and at a greater capacity. 

•	 Capacity
•	 Efficiency
•	 Product Value

Capital Inputs

Our capital inputs are 
the resources used to 
generate value through 
the processes in our 
business model. 

•	 Financial Capital
•	 Manufactured Capital
•	 Intellectual Capital
•	 Human Capital
•	 Social and Relationship 

Capital
•	 Natural Capital

ANALYSE

Market Review, Outlook, and 
Trends

We evaluate the global, local, and 
industry-specific environment, as well 
as megatrends, to determine external 
forces that may impact our ability to 
create value over the short, medium, 
and long term. 

Stakeholder Relationships

We continuously engage our 
stakeholders to identify what value 
means to them in a broader context, as 
well as within issue-specific contexts.

•	 Customers
•	 Investors/shareholders
•	 Suppliers and vendors
•	 Government and regulators
•	 Senior management team
•	 Employees
•	 Local communities

Material Matters

Our material matters are critical issues 
that significantly impact our ability to 
retain our competitiveness and uphold 
our reputation within the markets we 
operate, ultimately shaping our ability 
to create value. We have identified five 
material matters, each of which guide our 
strategic and management approaches.

•	 Product quality and reliability 
•	 Employee safety and health 
•	 Talent attraction and retention 
•	 Community impact and development 
•	 Governance and compliance 

Risks and Opportunities

We identify our risks, mitigation 
measures, and opportunities through 
analysis of external forces, stakeholder 
interests, and material matters. 

Our Value Creation Model

VALUE CREATION STRATEGIC REVIEW

MANUFACTURING OF 
STEEL PRODUCTS

TRADING OF 
STEEL PRODUCTS

TRANSPORTATION

Purchase 
order Manufacture Sell

Purchase 
order Manufacture Sell

Purchase 
order Delivery

1

Value Creation

Value creation is reflected in the 
sustainable outcomes generated 
by our business. These sustainable 
outcomes are a result of strategic 
reinvestment into our capitals, which 
form the foundation of our growth 
drivers. This approach ensures the 
efficient deployment of our resources 
in alignment with our organisational 
goals and strategies. 

7

5

2

6

3

4

REINVESTMENT
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VALUE CREATION STRATEGIC REVIEW

Our Value Creation Business Model
INPUTS PROCESSES

Risks

Business Processes

Material Matters

MANUFACTURING Receive PO Manufacture Sell

Receive PO Manufacture Sell

Receive PO Arrange delivery

TRADING

OTHER

Cost of raw 
material

Labour 
shortage

Credit risks

Working 
capital 
funding

Absence of 
long-term 
contracts

Disruption 
in processing 

facilities

Foreign 
exchange 

fluctuations

Growth
Drivers

CAPACITY

EFFICIENCY

PRODUCT 
VALUE

NATURAL
CAPITAL

HUMAN
CAPITAL

SOCIAL AND 
RELATIONSHIP

CAPITAL

INTELLECTUAL
CAPITAL

MANUFACTURING 
CAPITAL

FINANCIAL
CAPITAL

Product Quality and Reliability

Employee Safety and Health

Talent Attraction and Retention

Community Impact and Development 

Governance and Compliance
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VALUE CREATION STRATEGIC REVIEW

OUTPUTS OUTCOMES

Customers
•	 Strong relationships to meet their requirements
•	 Expansion of our customer base leveraging our good 

reputation
•	 New contracts secured 

FINANCIAL CAPITAL
-	 Revenue: RM404.4 million
-	 Net profit: RM1.4 million
-	 Earnings per share (sen): 0.16

HUMAN CAPITAL
-	 Training and upskilling 
-	 Workplace safety and health
-	 Accommodation provided to employees 

with permit from Jabatan Bangunan 
Majlis Perbandaran Hulu Selangor

-	 RM15.6 million in total remuneration for 
employees, senior management, and 
directors

-	 1,064 total training hours

NATURAL CAPITAL
-	 All scrap steel is collected by licensed 

recyclers 
-	 All water used in production is recycled 

– zero discharge of wastewater
-	 Installation of solar photovoltaic (“PV”) 

panels to reduce our carbon footprint 

MANUFACTURING CAPITAL
- 	Construction of new headquarters and 

storage facility
- 	Output of approx. 79,712 MT of steel 

products

INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL
-	 ISO 9001: 2015 certification
-	 CIDB certification
-	 Compliance with Japanese Industrial 

Standards (JIS)

SOCIAL AND RELATIONSHIP CAPITAL
-	 High quality steel products to cater to 

diverse customer needs
-	 44% of materials sourced locally
-	 Collaborative partnerships with 

suppliers 

Employees
•	 Providing a safe and conducive working environment that 

meets standards
•	 Ensuring their needs are met by providing accommodation 
•	 Attracting and retaining talent 
•	 Ensuring skills development to meet the latest industry 

requirements

Investors/shareholders
•	 Building relationships with our shareholders 
•	 Creating long-term value 

Local Communities
•	 Sustained employment 
•	 Ensuring no waste is disposed by recycling water and 

scrap

Suppliers and vendors
•	 Growing our supply chain to include more local suppliers 
•	 Building trust for long-term relationships

Government and regulators
•	 Continued contribution to the economy 
•	 Support of policies 
•	 Strong corporate governance

Senior management
•	 Meeting strategic goals
•	 Continuous process improvement 
•	 Producing quality products 
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VALUE CREATION STRATEGIC REVIEW

Growth Drivers

We have identified three factors that that contribute to the company’s financial performance, operational expansion, and 
long-term sustainability. These drivers provide a competitive edge and ensure the Group remains resilient and adaptable 
to market conditions.

Stakeholders Engagement 

At Leform, we recognise that our long-term success is built on strong, transparent, and mutually beneficial relationships with 
our stakeholders. Our stakeholder engagement approach is designed to address the needs, concerns, and expectations 
of our key stakeholders, including shareholders, employees, customers, suppliers, regulators, and the broader community.

As a steel manufacturer, our operations are closely tied to supply chain efficiency, regulatory compliance, and evolving 
industry demands. Through proactive engagement and open communication, we work to align our business strategies with 
stakeholder expectations, ensuring that our decisions contribute to sustainable value creation.

Aim: Increasing capacity and sales volume
•	 Strategic investments in equipment and facilities
•	 Enhancing and incorporating advanced technologies into our operations
•	 Adoption of innovative and advanced production methods 
•	 Increasing storage capacity for finished products to enable fulfilment of urgent orders 

A major growth driver in FY2024 is the ongoing construction of Leform’s expanded warehouse storage 
facility, which is now 90% complete and set for completion in the second half of 2025. This expansion will 
increase storage capacity, streamline logistics, and improve inventory management, allowing the Group to 
serve a larger customer base while optimising operations.

Aim: Improving production capacity and reducing redundancies in our processes
•	 Efficient factory layouts and effective production planning
•	 Standardisation and optimisation of processes to maximise efficiency
•	 Sustainable production and construction methods that reduce waste and raw material usage, improve 

occupational safety and health standards, and enhance energy efficiency

Enhancing manufacturing processes, optimising raw material procurement, and managing logistics efficiently 
have been crucial to sustaining profit margins. The Group’s strategic inventory management and bulk 
purchasing agreements help mitigate cost fluctuations, ensuring a stable supply chain and cost efficiency. 

Aim: Enhancing the value of our products for our customers and ensure we retain a competitive edge.
•	 Continual monitoring of consumer and market trends to drive product innovation
•	 Rigorous product testing methodologies
•	 Continued process innovation to develop value-added and sustainable products 

Leform focuses on delivering high-quality, precision-manufactured steel products, ensuring durability 
and reliability across multiple industries. Through continuous improvements in product quality, expansion 
of product offerings, and adherence to industry standards, Leform strengthens its market position. The 
Group’s commitment to consistent product innovation and customer-centric solutions allows it to cater to 
evolving industry demands, reinforcing customer trust and loyalty.

CAPACITY

EFFICIENCY 

PRODUCT 
VALUE 
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VALUE CREATION STRATEGIC REVIEW

Stakeholders Engagement (Cont’d)

In FY2024, Leform continued to enhance stakeholder relationships by improving product quality, streamlining operations, 
and reinforcing sustainability commitments. Our initiatives, such as the installation of rooftop solar PV panels and the 
expansion of our warehouse facility, reflect our dedication to operational efficiency, environmental responsibility, and long-
term business resilience.

By maintaining active dialogue and collaboration with our stakeholders, we can identify emerging challenges, opportunities, 
and risks, allowing us to make informed decisions that drive business growth, sustainability, and stakeholder trust.

Stakeholder Why We Engage Them How We 
Engage Them

How We Address Their 
Expectations

Expected Outcome

Customers The customer is the primary 
focus for our business 
segments. Their satisfaction is 
a key driver for the sustainable 
growth of our organisation. By 
understanding their needs, in 
the context of current market 
trends and other external 
factors, we can offer products 
with greater value.

As needed: 
Feedback 
channels, 
regular meetings 
between 
customers 
and sales and/
or technical 
personnel 

Raising their feedback to 
management for consideration 
and potential implementation

-	 Product and 
process 
improvement 

-	 Improved 
relationship

Investors/
shareholders

Our investors and shareholders 
are central to our capital base. 

As needed: 
Analyst 
briefings, road 
shows, Bursa 
filings, media 
engagement, 
Extraordinary 
General 
Meetings

Annually: 
Annual General 
Meetings

-	 Adopting integrated reporting 
for communication of our 
company goals, strategic 
direction, sustainability efforts 
and governance policies, 
with a focus on long-term 
value creation

-	 Engaging an Investor 
Relations team to manage 
communications

-	 Strengthened 
investor 
confidence 

-	 Improved 
transparency

-	 Long-term 
shareholder value

Suppliers 
and Vendors

Our suppliers and vendors are 
essential to the continuity of 
our operations for sourcing of 
materials, services, etc. 

Bi-annually: 
Regular supplier 
and vendor 
meetings

As needed: Site 
visits 

-	 Regular meetings with 
suppliers enable effective 
production planning and 
cost efficiency

-	 Periodic reviews ensure 
timely delivery and better 
quality

-	 Strengthened 
supplier 
relationships

-	 Optimised supply 
chain efficiency

-	 Reduced 
operational 
disruptions
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VALUE CREATION STRATEGIC REVIEW

Stakeholder Engagement (Cont’d)

Stakeholder Why We Engage Them How We 
Engage Them

How We Address Their 
Expectations

Expected Outcome

Government 
and 
regulatory 
authorities

Engaging with governmental 
and regulatory authorities 
helps us to drive compliance 
and formulate strategies that 
serve our business objectives.

As needed: 
Meetings and 
consultations. 
Site visits and 
audits

-	 Consistently staying abreast 
of legal and regulatory 
changes through an internal 
team and the engagement 
of external advisors

-	 Contributing to the Malaysian 
economy through taxes and 
employer contributions 

-	 Full regulatory 
compliance 

-	 Reduced legal 
risks

-	 Good industry 
reputation

Senior 
Management 

Our Senior Management team 
are the key decision makers, 
determining the organisation’s 
goals and formulating 
strategies.

As needed: 
Regular 
meetings with 
management 
teams of our 
segments 

Quarterly: 
Periodic reports 
on performance, 
KPIs, etc.

Aligning the Group’s 
performance with the overall 
strategies and goals of the 
organisation

-	 Effective 
execution 
of corporate 
strategy

-	 Improved 
operational 
efficiency

-	 Better decision-
making based 
on data driven 
insights 

-	 Improved 
communication 

Employees To create a conducive 
working environment that 
reduces turnover, increases 
productivity, builds better work 
and customer relationships, 
and contributes positively to 
profit generation.

As needed: 
Memos, 
meetings, 
announcements, 
messaging 
groups

-	 Providing a safe and 
conducive work environment 
that supports their 
development. 

-	 Providing ongoing training 
opportunities for employees 
to support their future career 
advancement.

-	 Higher employee 
satisfaction and 
retention. 

-	 Increased 
productivity and 
efficiency. 

-	 Enhanced 
workplace culture 
and morale.

Local 
communities 

The community surrounding 
our manufacturing facilities 
are directly impacted through 
employment by the Group. 

As needed: 
Members of the 
communities 
can contact the 
Group directly 
via phone or 
email

-	 Enhancing our understanding 
of their needs 

-	 Improving our sustainability 
initiatives

 
-	 Gathering their input 

on business matters 
involving the surrounding 
environment

-	 Strengthened 
community 
relations. 

-	 Positive social 
impact and local 
development. 

-	 Enhanced 
corporate social 
responsibility 
(CSR) efforts
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT

INTRODUCTION

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) of Leform Berhad (“Leform” or “the Company”) recognises the importance of adopting 
a sound base for good corporate governance in managing its business affairs so as to build a sustainable business capable 
of enhancing shareholder value. 

This Corporate Governance Overview Statement (“CGOS”) provides a summary of the Company’s corporate governance 
practices during the financial year ended 31 December 2024 (“FY2024”) with reference to the following three (3) principles 
set out in the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2021 (“MCCG”):- 

Principle A: Board leadership and effectiveness; 
Principle B: Effective audit and risk management; and 
Principle C: Integrity in corporate reporting and meaningful relationship with stakeholders

The Company is guided by Guidance Note 11 of the ACE Market Listing Requirements (“AMLR”) of Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) and the Corporate Governance Guide (4th edition) issued by Bursa Securities. The 
CGOS is supplemented with a Corporate Governance Report (“CG Report”), in accordance with Rule 15.25 of the AMLR 
of Bursa Securities and it provides an insight on how the Company maps the application of the Company’s CG practice 
during the FY2024 against MCCG.

The CGOS shall be read together with the CG Report, available on the Company’s website at https://www.leformgroup.com.
my/. The detailed explanation on the application of the corporate governance practices is reported under the CG Report.

The Board will continue to take measures to improve compliance with the principles and recommended best practices 
along with our course of business.

PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS

PART I : BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES

1.	 BOARD’S LEADERSHIP ON OBJECTIVE AND GOALS

1.1	 Board of Directors

	 The Board is collectively responsible for the long-term success of a company and the delivery of sustainable 
value to its stakeholders. Therefore, the Group is headed by an experienced and effective Board. It aims to 
provide an effective oversight of the conduct of Leform Group’s businesses, while ensuring that appropriate 
risk management and internal control systems are in place as well as regularly reviewing such systems to 
ensure their adequacy and effectiveness. 

	 Each Director has a legal duty to act in the best interest of the Group and the Directors are aware of their 
responsibilities to the stakeholders for the manner in which the affairs of the Group are managed. 

	 In performing its roles, the Board is committed to setting a high standard of corporate governance to drive 
sustainable performance and to meet good market practices and stakeholders’ expectations. 
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

PART I : BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES (CONT’D)

1.	 BOARD’S LEADERSHIP ON OBJECTIVE AND GOALS (CONT’D)

1.1	 Board of Directors (Cont’d)

	 Board Charter 

	 The Board is guided by a Board Charter that defines its roles and responsibilities, the principles for Board’s 
operation, Board’s evaluation, remuneration, code of ethics and conduct and matters reserved for the Board. 
It is accessible through the Company’s website at https://www.leformgroup.com.my/.

	 The Board Charter is subject to review by the Board as and when necessary to ensure it complies with all 
applicable laws, rules and regulations of the regulators and remains consistent with the policies and procedures 
of the Board. 

	 Board Committees 

	 In order to discharge of its stewardship role effectively, the Board has delegates certain responsibilities to the 
following Board Committees:-

	 Each of the Board Committees operates within its respective Terms of Reference (“TOR”) approved by the 
Board, which are available on the Company’s website. The respective Board Committees report to the Board 
on matters considered and their recommendation thereon. The ultimate responsibility for decision making, 
however, lies with the Board.

	 The presence of Independent Non-Executive Directors in these Committees provides independent advice, 
bringing impartiality, and contributing to the scrutiny and integrity of Board’s deliberations and decision-making 
processes.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT

Audit and Risk 
Management Committee

(“ARMC”)

Assist the Board in meeting its 
responsibilities for the oversight 
of the financial reporting process, 
the system of internal control, 
risk management policies and 
strategies, the internal and external 
audit processes and any conflict 
of interest situations and related 

party transactions. 

Nomination Committee
(“NC”)

Assist the Board to oversees 
matters relating to the nomination 
of new Directors, annually 
reviews the required mix of skills, 
experience and other requisite 
qualities of Directors as well as 
the annual assessment of the 
effectiveness of the Board as a 

whole and its Committee. 

Remuneration Committee
(“RC”)

Assist and recommend to the 
Board the remuneration package 
of Executive Directors, Non-
Executive Directors and Senior 
Management of the Group to 
attract, retain and motivate 
Directors and Senior Management 

to drive long term objectives.

Board of Directors
Responsible for performance and affairs of the Company as well as safeguard the interest of stakeholders 
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

PART I : BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES (CONT’D)

1.	 BOARD’S LEADERSHIP ON OBJECTIVE AND GOALS (CONT’D)

1.2	 The Chairman of the Board

	 The Board is chaired by an Independent Non-Executive Chairman namely, Datuk Seri Akhil Bin Bulat. The 
Chairman is responsible for leading the Board in oversight of Management, representing the Board to 
shareholders and chairing general meetings of shareholders. 

	 The responsibilities of the Chairman are set out in the Board Charter. 

	 The Board views that the Chairman of the Board should not be involved in any Board Committees. This is to 
ensure check and balance as well as the objectivity will not be influenced by the Chairman of the Board who 
also sits on Board Committee(s). Therefore, the Chairman of the Board is not a member of any of the Board 
Committees which is in line with MCCG.

1.3	 Separation of positions of the Chairman and Managing Director (“MD”)

	 The Board Charter has established clear roles and responsibilities of the Board in discharging its fiduciary and 
leadership function. The positions of the Chairman of the Board and the MD are held by different persons. The 
Chairman of the Company is Datuk Seri Akhil Bin Bulat, an Independent Non-Executive Chairman whilst the 
MD is Mr Law Kok Thye. The segregation of roles facilitates a healthy open discussion and exchange of views 
between the Board and Management in their deliberation of the business, strategic aims and key activities of 
the Company. 

	 There is a clear division of roles and responsibilities between the Chairman and MD to ensure a balance of 
power and authority so that no one individual has unfettered powers of decision making. The Chairman is 
responsible for leadership of the Board in ensuring the effectiveness of all aspects of its role, whilst the MD 
is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Group, ensure the effective implementation of the Group’s 
strategic plan and policies established by the Board as well as to manage the daily conduct of the business 
and affairs to ensure its smooth operations.

1.4	 Company Secretaries

	 The Board is supported by two (2) suitably qualified and competent Company Secretaries, namely Ms. Tai Yit 
Chan and Ms. Tan Ai Ning. 

	 Both the Company Secretaries are members of the Malaysian Institute of Chartered Secretaries and 
Administrators and are qualified to act as company secretary under Section 235 of the Companies Act 2016. 
The Board has access to the advice and services of the Company Secretaries who ensure effective functioning 
of the Board and compliance of applicable rules and regulations. The Board is also regularly updated and kept 
informed of the latest developments in the legislation and regulatory framework affecting the Group and is 
advised on the proposed contents and timing of material announcements to be made to regulatory authorities. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT

 INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2024 79



PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

PART I : BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES (CONT’D)

1.	 BOARD’S LEADERSHIP ON OBJECTIVE AND GOALS (CONT’D)

1.5	 Board meetings and Access to Information and Advice

	 The Board is required to meet on a quarterly basis with additional meetings being convened as and when 
necessary to consider urgent proposals or matters that require that Board’s consideration. 

	 In ensuring the effective functioning of the Board, all Directors have individual and independent access to the 
advice and support services of the Company Secretaries, Internal Auditors, External Auditors and Independent 
Advisers, if deemed necessary and may seek advice from the Management on issues under their respective 
purview. The Board members have full and unrestricted access to all information within the Group in discharging 
their duties. The Notice of the Board Meeting is served at least seven (7) days prior to the Board Meeting. 
Relevant Board Papers were usually circulated to all Directors at least five (5) business days prior to the Board 
Meeting so as to accord sufficient time for the Directors to peruse the Board papers. 

	 The Board papers which include the agendas and reports cover amongst others, areas of strategic, financial, 
operational and regulatory compliance matters that require the Board’s approval.

	 The attendance for Board meetings in FY2024 was held physically and the breakdown of the Directors’ 
attendance at the Board meetings during the FY2024 is set out below:-

Name of Director No. of meetings attended 

Datuk Seri Akhil Bin Bulat 5/5

Mr Law Kok Thye 5/5

Mr. Lai Chin Yang 5/5

Mr Phang Yew Cheong @ Phang Yew Choong* 1/1

Puan Esmariza Binti Ismail 5/5

Ms Lee Wee Leng 5/5

Ms Chua Leng Leek 5/5

Mr Law Kar Hou** 2/2

*	 Resigned w.e.f. 13 March 2024
**	 Appointed w.e.f. 16 July 2024

	 All proceedings of the Board meetings are duly minuted and circulated to all Directors for their perusal prior 
to the confirmation of the minutes by the Chairman as a correct record. The Company Secretaries record the 
proceedings of all meetings including pertinent issues pertinent issues, the substance of inquiries, if any, and 
responses thereto, members’ suggestion and the decision made, as well as the rationale for those decisions. By 
doing so, the Company Secretaries keep the Board updated on the follow-up actions arising from the Board’s 
decisions and/or requests at subsequent meetings. The Board is therefore able to perform its fiduciary duties 
and fulfil its oversight role towards instituting a culture of transparency and accountability in the Company. 
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

PART I : BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES (CONT’D)

1.	 BOARD’S LEADERSHIP ON OBJECTIVE AND GOALS (CONT’D)

1.6	 Code of Conduct and Ethics

	 The Company has set out a Code of Conduct and Ethics (“the COCE”) for its Directors, Management and 
employees in discharging their duties and responsibilities. The COCE is established to promote the corporate 
culture which engenders ethical conduct that permeates throughout the Group.

	 The COCE is published on the Company’s website at https://www.leformgroup.com.my/. 

1.7	 Whistleblowing Policy

	 The Board had formalised a Whistleblowing Policy as the Group places high value on the level of trust and 
integrity. Therefore, the Whistleblowing Policy provides an avenue for all Directors, employees and stakeholders 
of the Group to disclose or report any improper conduct and to provide protection for those who report such 
allegations.

	 The Whistleblowing Policy can be assessed through the Company’s website at https://www.leformgroup.com.my/. 

1.8	 Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policy 

	 In addition to the COCE, the Company has further established the Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policy 
(“ABAC”) Policy to comply with enforcement of Section 17A of the Malaysian Anti-Corruption Commission 
Act. The ABAC Policy is to ensure that all Directors, Management and employees are aware of their obligation 
to disclose and not to be involved in any corruption, briberies, conflict of interest or similar unethical acts that 
they may have in order to prevent the occurrence of bribery and corrupt practices in relation to the Group’s 
business. 

	 The ABAC Policy can be accessed through the Company’s website at https://www.leformgroup.com.my/. 

1.9	 Sustainability 

	 The Board is aware of its responsibility for Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) and sustainability to 
all various stakeholders and the communities in which it operates. As such, the ESG and sustainability aspects 
are considered by the Board in its corporate strategies. 

	 The Board continuously and constantly communicates the targets and performance of the ESG and sustainability 
to all the stakeholders of the Group internally and externally.

	 The Company’s efforts in this regard have been set out in the Sustainability Statement in the Integrated Annual 
Report. 
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

PART II : BOARD COMPOSITION

2.	 BOARD’S OBJECTIVES 

2.1	 Composition of the Board

	 The Company is led by a capable and experienced Board. During the financial year under review, the Board 
consists of seven (7) members, comprising one (1) Independent Non-Executive Chairman, three (3) Independent 
Non-Executive Directors, one (1) Managing Director and two (2) Non-Independent Executive Directors, as 
follows:-

Name Designation and Directorate Age Gender 

Datuk Seri Akhil Bin Bulat Independent Non-Executive Chairman 72 Male

Mr Law Kok Thye Managing Director 59 Male

Ms Chua Leng Leek Independent Non-Executive Director 45 Female

Mr Lai Chin Yang Independent Non-Executive Director 72 Male 

Ms Lee Wee Leng Independent Non-Executive Director 44 Female

Mr Phang Yew Cheong @ 
Phang Yew Choong*

Non-Independent Executive Director 66 Male

Puan Esmariza Binti Ismail Non-Independent Executive Director 50 Female

Mr Law Kar Hou Non-Independent Executive Director 25 Male

*	 Resigned w.e.f. 13 March 2024
**	 Appointed w.e.f. 16 July 2024

	 The composition of the Board complies with Rule 15.02(1) of the AMLR of Bursa Securities and the recommended 
Practice 5.2 of MCCG. 

	 The Board members are from different backgrounds with diverse perspectives. Such make-up is fundamental 
to the strategic success of the Group, as each Director has in-depth knowledge and experience in a variety of 
areas providing valuable direction to the Group. With more than half of the Board comprised of Independent 
Directors, the Company is able to facilitate greater checks and balances during board meetings deliberations 
and decision making. The Independent Directors provide the Board with professional judgement, experience 
and objectivity without being subordinated to operational considerations or the ability to provide independent 
judgement in the best interest of the Company. 

	 The Independent Directors are free from interest and influences that may conflict with their duties to the 
Company.

	 A brief profile of each Director is presented in the Profile of Directors section of the Integrated Annual Report 
2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT

LEFORM BERHAD82



PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

PART II : BOARD COMPOSITION (CONT’D)

2.	 BOARD’S OBJECTIVES (CONT’D)

2.2	 Re-election of Directors

	 In accordance with the Constitution of the Company, an election of Directors shall take place each year. At 
the annual general meeting of the Company where one-third (1/3) of the Directors for the time being or if the 
number is not three (3) or a multiple of three (3) then the number nearest one-third (1/3) shall retire from office 
provided always that all Directors including a Managing Director shall retire from office once at least in each 
three (3) years but shall be eligible for re-election. A retiring Director shall retain office until the close of the 
meeting at which he retires. 

	 The Directors to retire in every year shall subject nevertheless as hereinafter provided, be the Directors who 
have been longest in office since their last election but as between those who became Directors on the same 
day, the Directors to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot. The 
length of time a Director has been in office shall be computed from his last election or appointment when he 
has previously vacated office.

	 The Directors shall have power at any time to appoint any person as Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as 
an addition to the Board, but so that the total number of Directors shall not be increased beyond the maximum 
number hereinbefore prescribed. Any Director so appointed shall hold office only until the next annual general 
meeting and shall then be eligible for re-election but not be taken into account in determining the Directors who 
are to retire by rotation at the meeting. 

	 Based on the recent annual assessment, including fit and proper evaluations, the NC is satisfied with the 
performance of the Directors who are standing for re-election and has recommended to the Board their 
proposed re-election in accordance with the Constitution of the Company. The Board supported the NC’s 
recommendations to re-elect the eligible Directors standing for re-election at the forthcoming Thirtieth (“30th 
AGM”) of the Company. The Directors who are retiring shall abstain from deliberations and decisions on their 
own eligibility to stand for re-election at the meetings of the Board. The Directors who are standing for re-
election at the forthcoming 30th AGM are stated in the Notice of 30th AGM.

2.3	 Tenure of Independent Directors

	 The Board will justify and seek shareholders’ approval in the event it retains an Independent Director who has 
served in that capacity for a cumulative period of more than nine (9) years.

	 As at the date of this statement, none of the Independent Directors has served the Company beyond nine (9) 
years.

2.4	 Board Appointment 

	 The selection, nomination and appointment of suitable candidates to the Board are made via a formal, rigorous 
and transparent process and taking into account objective criteria such as skills, knowledge, expertise, 
experience, professionalism and merit needed on the Board. In the case of Independent Directors, the NC will 
evaluate the candidates’ ability to discharge such responsibilities/functions as are expected from Independent 
Non-Executive Directors.
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

PART II : BOARD COMPOSITION (CONT’D)

2.	 BOARD’S OBJECTIVES (CONT’D)

2.4	 Board Appointment (Cont’d)

	 The assessment of the Independent Directors is in accordance with the criteria as set out in the Board Charter 
and AMLR of Bursa Securities. 

2.5	 Gender Diversity

	 There are three (3) female Directors representing 43% on the Board which met the MCCG’s recommendation 
of 30% of female Board members. 

2.6	 NC

	 For FY2024, the NC comprises the following members and the details of the meeting attendance of each 
member are set out below:-

Name Designation Directorate No. of NC meetings attended

Lai Chin Yang Chairman Independent Non-Executive Director 1/1

Chua Leng Leek Member Independent Non-Executive Director 1/1

Lee Wee Leng Member Independent Non-Executive Director 1/1

	 The NC meeting is held as and when required, but at least once a year. The NC met once during FY2024. 

	 The NC has carried out the following activities during the financial year under review:-

i.	 Reviewed and recommended to the Board the adoption of Evaluation Forms for:-

•	 Board, Board Committees and each Director Evaluation
•	 Audit Committee Evaluation
•	 Audit Committee Members’ Self and Peer Evaluation 

ii.	 Assessed and was satisfied with the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the Board committees 
and the contribution of each Director. 

iii.	 Reviewed and was satisfied with the mix of skills, knowledge, expertise and experience, composition and 
size of the Board in terms of gender, ethnicity and age.

iv.	 Assessed the independence of Independent Directors and concluded that the Independent Directors are 
independent and have complied with the criteria of independence as set out in AMLR of Bursa Securities.

v.	 Assessed and was satisfied with the character, experience, integrity, competence and time commitment 
of Directors.
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

PART II : BOARD COMPOSITION (CONT’D)

2.	 BOARD’S OBJECTIVES (CONT’D)

2.6	 NC (Cont’d)

vi.	 Reviewed the terms of office and performance of the ARMC and each of its members and concluded that 
the ARMC and each of its members have carried out their duties and responsibilities.

vii.	 Reviewed and recommended to the Board the re-election of Directors at the Twenty-Ninth Annual General 
Meeting (“29th AGM”) of the Company pursuant to the Company’s Constitution.

viii.	 Reviewed the Directors’ training programme for the FY2024.

ix.	 Reviewed and recommended to the Board the appointment of new Director in accordance with the 
Directors’ Fit and Proper Policy pursuant to Rule 15.01A of the AMLR of Bursa Securities.

	 The NC is governed by its TOR approved by the Board which is available on the Company’s website at https://
www.leformgroup.com.my/. 

3.	 OVERALL BOARD EFFECTIVENESS

3.1	 Annual Evaluation

	 The Board, facilitated by NC, will conduct an annual evaluation to review the performance of each individual 
Director and the effectiveness of the Board and Board Committees as well as the independence of Independent 
Non-Executive Directors. The annual evaluation will be conducted on self and peer evaluation model through 
customised questionnaires guided by the Corporate Governance Guide of Bursa Securities.

	 The results of the annual evaluation and comments by the Directors were tabled and discussed at the NC 
meeting and thereafter reported at the Board meeting by the Chairman of NC. All evaluations carried out by the 
NC are properly documented. 

	 Pursuant to Rule 15.20 of the AMLR of Bursa Securities, the NC of a listed issuer must review the terms of 
office and performance of an ARMC and each of its members annually to determine whether such ARMC 
and members have carried out their duties in accordance with their terms of reference. The NC had reviewed 
and assessed the performance of each of the members of the ARMC through and was satisfied with the 
performance and effectiveness of the ARMC and each of its members. 

	 The NC had upon its annual evaluation conducted in February 2024, conclude that the Directors have discharged 
their duties satisfactory, objectively and professionally. The NC was also satisfied with the performance of the 
Board and its Board Committee.
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

PART II : BOARD COMPOSITION (CONT’D)

3.	 OVERALL BOARD EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

3.2	 Annual Assessment of Independence

	 The Board recognises the importance of independence and objectivity in its decision-making process. The 
Board through the NC has assessed the independence of its Independent Non-Executive Directors based on 
the criteria set out in the AMLR of Bursa Securities. 

	 The current Independent Directors of the Company have fulfilled the criteria for “independence” as prescribed 
under Rule 1.01 and Guidance Note 9 of the AMLR of Bursa Securities. The Company has also fulfilled the 
requirement of at least one-third of its Board members being Independent Non-Executive Directors.

3.3	 Directors’ Training 
		
	 The Board acknowledges that continuous education is vital for the Board members to keep abreast with the 

latest developments in the industry and business environment as well as changes to statutory requirements 
and regulatory guidelines. 

	 All Directors of the Company have attended and successfully completed the Mandatory Accreditation 
Programme as required by Bursa Securities. The Directors will continue to identify and attend other training 
courses to equip themselves effectively to discharge their duties as Directors on a continuous basis. 

	 The training programmes and seminars attended by the Directors during the FY2024 are as follows:-

Name of 
Directors

Training Programmes 
Attended

Trainer/Organiser Date Duration

Datuk Seri Akhil 
Bin Bulat 

Aligning Risk Management 
to Strategy & Purpose 

Institute of Corporate 
Directors Malaysia

7 October 2024 4 hours

Law Kok Thye Aligning Risk Management 
to Strategy & Purpose 

Institute of Corporate 
Directors Malaysia

7 October 2024 4 hours

Chua Leng Leek Aligning Risk Management 
to Strategy & Purpose 

Institute of Corporate 
Directors Malaysia

7 October 2024 4 hours

Lai Chin Yang Mandatory Accreditation 
Programme Part II: Leading 

for Impact (LIP)

Institute of Corporate 
Directors Malaysia

25 & 26 September 
2024

16 hours

Lee Wee Leng Aligning Risk Management 
to Strategy & Purpose

Institute of Corporate 
Directors Malaysia

7 October 2024 4 hours

Esmariza Binti 
Ismail

Aligning Risk Management 
to Strategy & Purpose

Institute of Corporate 
Directors Malaysia

7 October 2024 4 hours

Law Kar Hou Mandatory Accreditation 
Programme (MAP)

Institute of Corporate 
Directors Malaysia

14 & 15 August 
2024

16 hours
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

PART III : REMUNERATION

4.	 LEVEL AND COMPOSITION OF REMUNERATION

4.1	 Remuneration Policies and Procedures

	 The RC is responsible for establishing and developing a competitive remuneration policy and packages for the 
Board and Senior Management in accordance with the duties and responsibilities as stated in its TOR.

	 Nevertheless, the RC had reviewed the remuneration packages of the Chairman, MD, Executive Directors, Non-
Executive Directors and Senior Management, taking into account of individual performance, time commitment, 
experience, level of responsibilities, as well as the performance of the Group and market conditions and 
recommend the same for Board approval.

	 The Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration comprises fees that are linked to their expected roles and level 
of responsibilities. The Directors’ annual fees, which are determined by the Board as a whole, are approved 
by shareholders of the Company at each AGM. All individual Directors shall abstain from making decisions in 
respect of his own remuneration. 

4.2	 RC

	 The RC is primarily responsible for recommending to the Board the remuneration packages of the Chairman, 
MD, Non-Independent Executive Directors, Independent Non-Executive Directors and Senior Management in 
all its forms. 

	 For FY2024, the RC comprises the following members and the details of the meeting attendance of each 
member are set out below:- 

Name Designation Directorate No. of RC meetings attended

Lee Wee Leng Chairperson Independent Non-Executive Director 1/1

Lai Chin Yang Member Independent Non-Executive Director 1/1

Chua Leng Leek Member Independent Non-Executive Director 1/1

	 The RC meeting is held as and when required, but at least once a year. One (1) RC meeting was held during 
FY2024. The RC has carried out the following activities during the financial year under review: 

•	 Reviewed the directors’ fee and benefit payables to the Directors of the Group for the FY2024 and 
recommended the same to the Board for approval.

•	 Reviewed the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and Chief Financial Officer and 
recommended the same to the Board for approval. 

	 The RC is governed by its TOR approved by the Board which is available on the Company’s website at 
	 https://www.leformgroup.com.my/. 
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

PART III : REMUNERATION (CONT’D)

5.	 REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

5.1	 Remuneration of Directors

	 The Board is mindful that fair remuneration is critical to attract, retain and motivate the directors of Leform 
Group as well as Directors serving as members of the Board committees. 

	 The Company will seek shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming 30th AGM for directors’ fees for the current 
financial year and benefits payable to the directors for the period from this 30th AGM until the next AGM of the 
Company in 2026. 

	 Details of the Directors’ remuneration of the Company and the Group includes fees, salary, bonus, benefits in-
kind and other emoluments for the FY2024 are disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report of the Company.

5.2	 Remuneration of Key Senior Management

	 In determining the remuneration packages of the Group’s Key Senior Management, factors that were taken 
into consideration included the Senior Management’s responsibilities, skills, expertise and contribution to the 
Group’s performance. 

	 Due to confidentiality and sensitivity of information, the Board is of the view that it would not be in its best 
interest to make such disclosure on named basis in view of the competitive nature of human resource market 
and the Company should maintain confidentiality on employees’ remuneration packages. 

	 As an alternative, the Board decided to disclose the remuneration for the Group’s Key Senior Management who 
are not holding director position, on an unnamed basis in bands of RM50,000, as follows:-

Range of Remuneration No. of Key Senior Management

RM50,000 to RM100,000 1

RM150,000 to RM200,000 2

RM200,000 to RM250,000 2

PRINCIPLE B: EFFECTIVE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT

PART I : AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

6.	 ARMC

6.1	 Chairman of ARMC

	 The ARMC is chaired by an Independent Non-Executive Director namely, Ms Chua Leng Leek who is distinct 
from the Chairman of the Board. The Chairperson of the ARMC is a professional member of the Institute of 
Internal Auditors Malaysia since 2015 and member of Malaysian Institute of Accountants.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT

LEFORM BERHAD88



PRINCIPLE B: EFFECTIVE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

PART I : AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE (CONT’D)

6.	 ARMC (CONT’D)

6.2	 Financial Reporting

	 The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounting records, which disclose with reasonable accuracy at 
any time the financial position of the Group and ensuring that the financial statements of the Group comply with 
the Companies Act 2016 and applicable approved financial reporting standards in Malaysia. 

	 The ARMC assists the Board in discharging its fiduciary duties by ensuring that the audited financial statements 
and quarterly financial reports are prepared in accordance with the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards and 
AMLR of Bursa Securities. In presenting the annual audited financial statements and quarterly announcements 
of results to shareholders, the Board aims to present a balance and fair assessment of the Company’s financial 
position and prospects. The ARMC reviews the Company’s quarterly financial results and annual audited 
financial statements to ensure accuracy adequacy and completeness prior to presentation to the Board for its 
approval.

	 The Statement of Directors’ Responsibility in respect of the preparation of the annual audited financial 
statements is set out in the Integrated Annual Report. 

6.3	 Cooling-Off Period for Former Key Audit Partner

	 The ARMC recognises the importance of upholding independence of its external auditors and that no possible 
conflict of interest whatsoever should arise. The TOR of the ARMC states that no former key audit partner shall 
be appointed as a member of the ARMC before observing a cooling-off period of at least three (3) years in line 
with the practice of 9.2 of MCCG. Presently, none of the current ARMC members is a former key audit partner 
involved in auditing of the Group. 

6.4	 Assessment of Suitability and Independence of External Auditors

	 The Board maintains a good professional relationship with the external and internal auditors through the ARMC 
in discussing with them their audit plans, audit findings and financial statements. In addition, the ARMC met 
with the external auditors during FY2024 without the presence of the Managing Director, Non-Independent 
Executive Directors and Key Senior Management to discuss on audit findings, audit plans and the Company’s 
financial statements.

	 The ARMC is responsible for the recommendation on the appointment and re-appointment of the Company’s 
external auditors and the audit fees. The ARMC carried out an assessment of the performance and suitability of 
the external auditors based on the quality of services, sufficiency of resources, communication and interaction 
and independence and objectivity. 

	 Messrs Crowe Malaysia PLT, the External Auditors of the Company had resigned and in place thereof, Messrs 
KPMG PLT had been appointed as the External Auditors of the Company on 14 November 2024. Messrs KPMG 
PLT have confirmed to the ARMC that they are, and have been, independent throughout the conduct of the 
audit engagement in accordance with the terms of relevant professional and regulatory requirements. 
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PRINCIPLE B: EFFECTIVE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

PART I : AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE (CONT’D)

6.	 ARMC (CONT’D)

6.4	 Assessment of Suitability and Independence of External Auditors (Cont’d)

	 Being satisfied with the external auditors’ performance, technical competence and independence, the ARMC 
recommended the re-appointment of Messrs KPMG PLT as external auditors for the financial year ending 31 
December 2025. In view thereof, the Board has recommended the re-appointment of the External Auditors for 
the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming 30th AGM. 

6.5	 Composition of the ARMC

	 The ARMC comprises three (3) Independent Non-Executive Directors. The present members of the ARMC are 
as follows:-

Designation Name Directorship

Chairperson Chua Leng Leek Independent Non-Executive Director

Member Lai Chin Yang Independent Non-Executive Director

Member Lee Wee Leng Independent Non-Executive Director

	 The members of the ARMC are financially literate, competent and able to understand matters under the purview 
of the ARMC including the financial reporting process. The summary of activities of ARMC are set out in the 
ARMC Report.

	 The ARMC is governed by its TOR approved by the Board which is available on the Company’s website at 
https://www.leformgroup.com.my/.   

PART II : RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL FRAMEWORK (CONT’D)

7.	 Effective Risk Management and Internal Control Framework

	 The Board assumes its overall responsibility in establishing a risk management framework and maintaining a sound 
system of risk management and internal control throughout the Group which provides reasonable assurance in 
ensuring the effectiveness and efficiency of the Group’s operations that is not limited to financial aspects of the 
business but also operational and regulatory compliance. The ARMC has been entrusted by the Board in managing 
the risks and establishment of the internal control system and processes of the Group. The ultimate objectives are to 
protect the Group’s assets and safeguard shareholders’ investments.

	 The Board acknowledges that the internal control system is devised to cater for particular needs of the Company and 
risk management system is to provide reasonable assurance against material misstatements or loss. 

	 Our Group has outsourced its internal audit function to the independent professional service provider, Messrs Sterling 
Business Alignment Consulting Sdn Bhd (“Sterling”), which reports directly to our ARMC. Sterling carries out its 
function in accordance with the approved annual internal audit plan approved by the ARMC. The findings of the 
audits and the recommendations for improvement or actions to be taken by the Management to rectify the issue will 
be presented in ARMC Meeting. 
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PRINCIPLE B: EFFECTIVE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

PART II : RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL FRAMEWORK (CONT’D)

7.	 Effective Risk Management and Internal Control Framework (Cont’d)

	 Any significant issue affecting the existing risks or emerging risks as well as the changes to the action plans to 
address the risks identified, will be discussed during the ARMC meetings and brought to the attention of the Board 
by the Chairperson of ARMC.

	 The Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control as set out in this Integrated Annual Report provides an 
overview of the state of risk management and internal controls within the Group. 

8.	 Internal Audit Function
	
	 The Company recognises that an internal audit function is essential to ensure the effectiveness of the Group’s system 

of internal control and is an integral part of the risk management process. 

	 The Board has engaged Sterling to assume the Group’s risk management and its internal audit function, who reports 
and assists the ARMC in managing the risks and establishment of the internal control system and processes of the 
Group. The Board has also ensured that Sterling, is free from any relationship and/or conflict of interest with the Group. 

	 Sterling is headed by Mr Cheng Chean, a Chartered Member of Institute of Internal Auditor (“CMIIA”) and a Fellow 
Member of the Chartered Certified Accountant (“FCCA”). Mr. Cheng has 23 years of hands-on experience in the fields 
of External Audit, Internal Audit and Internal Control Review. 

	 The Internal Auditor team applied the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) 
Internal Control – Integrated Framework as a basis for evaluating the effectiveness of the internal control systems and 
conduct the internal audit assessment in accordance with the International Professional Practices Framework.

	 The further details of Internal Audit Function are set out in the ARMC Report of this Integrated Annual Report.

PRINCIPLE C: INTEGRITY IN CORPORATE REPORTING AND MEANINGFUL RELATIONSHIP WITH 
STAKEHOLDERS

9.	 Communication with Stakeholders

	 The Board recognises the importance of effective, transparent, regular and timely communication with its shareholders 
and other stakeholders to keep them informed on the Group’s latest financial performance, business and corporate 
developments. 

	 Our Group endeavours to provide as much information as possible to its shareholders and stakeholders. It is mindful of 
legal and regulatory framework governing the release of material and price-sensitive information. Such material and price-
sensitive information will not be released unless it has been duly announced or made public through proper channels.

	 The Group maintains a corporate website, https://www.leformgroup.com.my/ with the intention of building 
communication channel between our Company with the stakeholders:- 

(a)	 Announcements submitted to Bursa Securities 
(b)	 Investor section which provides relevant corporate information

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
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PRINCIPLE C: INTEGRITY IN CORPORATE REPORTING AND MEANINGFUL RELATIONSHIP WITH 
STAKEHOLDERS (CONT’D)

9.	 Communication with Stakeholders (Cont’d)

	 The Group maintains a corporate website, https://www.leformgroup.com.my/ with the intention of building 
communication channel between our Company with the stakeholders (Cont’d):- 

(c)	 General telephone number, fax number and email address

10.	 Conduct of General Meetings

	 The principal forum for dialogue and interaction with shareholders is the Company’s Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) 
and extraordinary general meeting. The Board encourages and welcomes participation from shareholders to ask 
questions regarding the resolutions being proposed at the meeting and also other matters pertaining to the business 
activities of the Group. All Directors, including the Chairman/Chairperson of the ARMC, RC, and NC including the Key 
Senior Management team, the External Auditors and Sponsor would endeavour to attend the 30th AGM to provide 
meaningful responses to the questions raised by shareholders.

	 In line with Practice 13.1 of MCCG, the notice convening the 30th AGM to be held on 23 June 2025 will be circulated to 
the shareholders at least twenty-eight (28) days before the AGM, which gives shareholders sufficient time to prepare 
themselves to attend the AGM or to appoint proxy to attend and vote on their behalf. Each item of special business 
included in the notice of the AGM will be accompanied by an explanatory statement on the effects of the proposed 
resolution. 

	 The 29th AGM of the Company held on 24 June 2024 was conducted physically at Level 2 (Johor Kedah Room), 
World Trade Centre Kuala Lumpur, 41, Jalan Tun Ismail, Chow Kit, 50480 Kuala Lumpur. All resolutions set out in the 
Notice of 29th AGM were put to vote by poll voting and duly passed. The shareholders were informed of their rights to 
demand for a poll. The outcome of the 29th AGM was announced to Bursa Securities on the same meeting day. The 
Company had appointed an independent scrutineer, Quantegic Services Sdn Bhd to verify the poll results.

	 The Chairman of the Board ensures that general meetings support meaningful engagement between the Board, Senior 
Management and shareholders. The engagement is interactive and include robust discussions on amongst others 
the Company’s financial and non-financial performance as well as the Company’s long-term strategies. Shareholders 
are also provided with sufficient opportunities to pose questions during the general meetings and all the questions 
received meaningful responses.

	 The Minutes of the 29th AGM detailing the meeting proceedings, including issues and concerns raised by the 
shareholders together with the responses from the Company, were published on the Company’s corporate website 
within 30 business days after the conclusion of the 29th AGM.

FUTURE PRIORITIES IN KEY AREAS OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board shall continue to strive for high standards of corporate governance throughout the Group for the best interest 
of all stakeholders.

The areas to be prioritised would be those principles which have not adopted by the Company as disclosed in the CG 
Report 2024. 

This CGOS and the CG Report are made in accordance with the resolution passed by the Board of Directors on 28 April 
2025.
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AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE REPORT 

The primary objective of the Audit and Risk Management Committee (“ARMC” or “the Committee”) is to assist and support 
the Board of Directors (“the Board”) in meeting its responsibilities for the oversight of the financial reporting process, the 
system of Internal Control, the internal and external audit processes, and any conflict of interest situations and related party 
transactions. The Board of Leform Berhad (“Leform” or “the Company”) is pleased to present the following ARMC Report 
which illustrates the insights as to the manner in which the ARMC has discharged their duties and responsibilities during 
the financial year ended 31 December 2024 (“FY2024”). This report is prepared in compliance with Rule 15.15 of the ACE 
Market Listing Requirements (“AMLR”) of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”)

In performing their duties and discharging their responsibilities, the ARMC is guided by its Terms of Reference (“TOR”). The 
ARMC’s TOR is available at the Company’s website at https://www.leformgroup.com.my/.
 
COMPOSITION OF THE ARMC 

The ARMC comprises three (3) members, all of whom are Independent Non-Executive Directors which satisfy the 
requirements of Rule 15.09(1)(a) and (b) of the AMLR of Bursa Securities and Practice 9.4 under Principle B of the Malaysian 
Code on Corporate Governance.

The members of the ARMC and their respective designation are as follows:-

Name Designation Directorship

Chua Leng Leek Chairperson Independent Non-Executive Director

Lai Chin Yang Member Independent Non-Executive Director

Lee Wee Leng Member Independent Non-Executive Director

The ARMC also meets the AMLR which requires that at least one member of the Committee must fulfill the financial 
expertise requisite of Rule 15.09(c) of the AMLR of Bursa Securities.

The Chairperson of the Committee, Ms Chua Leng Leek, is a professional member of the Institute of Internal Auditors 
Malaysia since 2015 and a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants. 

All ARMC members are financially literate with diverse backgrounds, experiences and knowledge and are able to analyse 
and interpret financial statements to effectively discharge their duties. None of the members were former key audit partners 
of the Company’s existing External Auditors. 

ATTENDANCE OF MEETINGS

The ARMC conducted five (5) meetings during the FY2024. The details of members’ attendance held during FY2024 are as 
follows:

Members Total no. of meetings attended 

Chua Leng Leek 5/5

Lai Chin Yang 5/5

Lee Wee Leng 5/5

The Executive Directors, Chief Financial Officer, External Auditors, Internal Auditors and relevant personnel from Management 
were invited to attend ARMC meetings to present their reports and provide updates and developments on issues arising 
from the audit reports. The ARMC Chairperson thereafter reported the ARMC’s recommendations to the Board for their 
consideration and also updated the Board on significant matters discussed during the ARMC meetings.
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ATTENDANCE OF MEETINGS (CONT’D)

Discussions and deliberation at the ARMC meetings were recorded in the Minutes of the ARMC meetings and tabled to the 
Board upon confirmation at each subsequent ARMC meeting.

SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES 

For the FY2024, the main activities undertaken by the ARMC were as follows:

1. 	 Financial Reporting

(a)	 Reviewed the unaudited quarterly financial results of the Company and the Group prior to the recommendation 
to the Board for approval and subsequent release to Bursa Securities. 

(b)	 Reviewed the draft audited financial statements of the Company and the Group for the financial year ended 
31 December 2023 prior to the submission to the Board for their consideration and approval. The review 
was to ensure that the audited financial statements were drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act 2016 and the applicable Financial Reporting Standards in Malaysia.

2. 	 External Audit

(a)	 Reviewed the status of the audit for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 with External Auditors including 
the issues arising from their audit of the annual financial statements and their resolution of such issues as 
highlighted in their report to the ARMC. 

(b)	 Reviewed the Audit Planning Memorandum for the FY2024 presented by the External Auditors, entailing mainly 
the audit scope, key areas of audit emphasis and the audit approach. 

(c)	 Evaluated the performance of the External Auditors before recommending their re-appointment and remuneration 
to the Board for approval. 

(d)	 Reviewed the audit fees and non-audit fees and recommended to the Board for approval.

(e)	 Had private sessions with the External Auditors during the financial year, i.e. 27 February 2024 and 18 November 
2024 respectively without the presence of the Executive Directors and Management to discuss further with 
them any issues of concern, if any, arising from the audit.

3. 	 Related Party Transactions

(a)	 Reviewed the related party transactions (“RPTs”), conflict of interest (“COI”) and potential COI situations that 
may arise within the Company or the Group on a quarterly basis, including any transactions, procedure or 
course of conduct that may raise questions of Management integrity or impartiality. 

(b)	 Reviewed the RPTs and recurrent RPTs (“RRPTs”) entered and/or to be entered by the Group to ensure that 
the transactions entered into were on an arm’s length basis and not detrimental to the interests of minority 
shareholders.

(c)	 Reviewed the Circular to Shareholders in relation to the Proposed Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for 
existing RRPTs of a Revenue or Trading Nature and Proposed New Shareholders’ Mandate for New RRPTs of 
a Revenue or Trading Nature prior to submitting the same to the Board for consideration and approval.
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SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES (CONT’D)

For the FY2024, the main activities undertaken by the ARMC were as follows (Cont’d):

4. 	 Internal Audit

(a)	 At the meeting held on 22 February 2024, the ARMC reviewed the adequacy of the scope, functions, competency 
and resources of the internal audit function to ensure its effectiveness and efficiency.

(b)	 Reviewed the reports from the Internal Auditors and assessed the Internal Auditors’ findings and the 
Management’s responses and the necessary recommendations.

(c)	 Reviewed and discussed the effective implementation of the action plans taken by the Management in response 
to audit findings and weaknesses identified during the audit review.

(d)	 Had private sessions with internal auditors on 27 February 2024 and 18 November 2024 respectively, without 
the presence of the Executive Directors and Management for discussion on internal audit related matters.

5. 	 Others

(a)	 Reviewed the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control, ARMC Report, Corporate Governance 
Overview Statement and Corporate Governance Report prior to recommendation for Board’s approval for 
inclusion into the Integrated Annual Report. 

(b)	 Reviewed conflict of interest (“COI”) and potential COI of Directors and Key Senior Management.

(c)	 Reported to the Board on significant issues and concerns discussed during the ARMC meeting. 

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Company recognised that an internal audit function is essential in ensuring the effectiveness of the Group’s system of 
internal control and is an integral part of the risk management process. The internal audit function of the Group was carried 
out by Sterling, an independent professional internal audit service provider. 

The internal audit function has undertaken independent and systematic audit reviews in accordance with the annual internal 
audit plan approved by the ARMC before the commencement of work. Sterling reports directly to the ARMC on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group.

For FY2024, Sterling was free from any relationship or conflict of interest, which could impair their objectivity and 
independence during the internal audit review.

(1)	 Summary of Works

	 During the period under review, the Internal Auditors carried out the following activities:-

a)	 Performed audit according to the audit plan.

b)	 Reviewed business process of the Group and made recommendations to improve their effectiveness.

c)	 Performed follow-up reviews in assessing the progress of the agreed Management’s action plan and report to 
the Management and ARMC.

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE REPORT
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INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION (CONT’D)

(2)	 Total costs incurred for the financial year ended 31 December 2024

	 The total cost incurred for the internal audit function for the FY2024 was RM33,500.

(3)	 Review of Internal Audit Function

	 The ARMC and the Board were satisfied with the performance of the Internal Auditors for the FY2024.

	 The ARMC is of the opinion that the internal audit function is independent and the Internal Auditors have performed 
their audit assignments with impartiality, proficiency and due professional care.

Further details of the activities of internal audit functions are set out in the Statement on Risk Management and Internal 
Control in this Integrated Annual Report.

This Report is made in accordance with the resolution of the Board dated 28 April 2025.
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STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT 
AND INTERNAL CONTROL

INTRODUCTION

The Board of Directors (“Board”) of Leform Berhad (“Leform” or the “Company”) is pleased to present the Statement on 
Risk Management and Internal Control (“Statement”) for the financial year ended 31 December 2024 (“FY2024”), issued in 
compliance with Rule 15.26(b) of the ACE Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, the Malaysian 
Code on Corporate Governance (“MCCG”) with guidance from the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control: 
Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITY

The Board acknowledges and assumes its overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management and internal control 
system to safeguard shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets, including the need to review the adequacy and 
operating effectiveness of this system in meeting the Group’s objectives. In line with the Guidance 1.1 of the MCCG the 
Board had discharged its fiduciary duties and responsibilities at all times in the best interest of the Company to ensure a 
sound framework for risk management and internal control.

The Management Team is responsible for implementing the Group’s policies and procedures on risk management and 
internal control to identify, evaluate, monitor, and report risks as well as deficiencies and non-compliance with internal 
controls.

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

The Board regards the management of core risks as an integral and critical part of the day to-day operations of the Group. 
The experience, knowledge and expertise to identify and manage such risks throughout the financial period under review 
enables the Group to make cautious, mindful and well-informed decisions through formulation and implementation of 
requisite action plans and monitoring regime which are imperative in ensuring the accomplishment of the Group objective.

As part of our Risk Management Framework, risk identifying, risk assessment, risk evaluation, risk control measures, risk 
reporting, etc., are stipulated clearly to guide the management of key risks. The Group maintains a Registry of Risk which 
stated the principal business risk and key risk area, their impact, likelihood of occurrence, risk owner and risk control 
actions. The respective risk owners are assigned and responsible for identifying risks as well as ensuring that adequate 
internal control is implemented to mitigate the risks faced by the Group. 

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION (“IAF”) 

The IAF is being outsource to Sterling Business Alignment Consulting Sdn Bhd (“Sterling”). The purpose of the internal 
audit function is to provide the Board, through ARMC, reasonable assurance of the effectiveness of the system of internal 
controls of the designated entities of the Group.

Sterling understands our processes, reviews the risks identified by the Management and proposes measures to mitigate 
those risks. Sterling does not have any direct operational responsibility or authority over the day to day operations of the 
Group. Sterling reports any identified risks directly to the ARMC. Hence, they are independent and free from any conflicts 
of interest.
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INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION (“IAF”) (CONT’D)

The scope of works of the IAF includes but not limited to the following: -

•	 Review the significant risks in relation to the activity’s objectives, resources, and operations, and assess how the 
potential impact of these risks is kept to an acceptable level

•	 Review and assess the adequacy, efficiency and effectiveness of the Group’s governance, risk management and 
internal control processes as compared to a relevant framework or model

•	 The opportunities for making significant improvement to the activity’s governance, risk management and internal 
control processes.

•	 Conduct follow-up visits to ensure that all corrective action plans are implemented
•	 Highlight findings to the ARMC

Sterling uses the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) Internal Control-Integrated 
Framework as a basis for evaluating the effectiveness of the internal control systems. Internal audit reviews will be conducted 
according to the approved risk-based internal audit plan, which addresses the critical business processes, internal control 
gaps, effectiveness, and adequacy of the existing state of internal control, and recommends possible improvements to the 
internal control processes.

During the financial year, Sterling conducted two internal audit reviews in accordance with its plan which was entailed 
below and two follow up status reviews on previously reported audit issues.

•	 Production and Production Planning, Quality Control
•	 Sales & Marketing

There are no material issues highlighted by Sterling during the financial year under review.

OTHER KEY ELEMENTS OF INTERNAL CONTROL PROCESSES

In addition to the risk management and internal control, the Group had other controls in place such as: -

•	 Quarterly review of the financial results
•	 Standard Operating Procedures for various departments are properly documented for guidance and compliance
•	 Delegation of authority to ensure segregation of power
•	 Whistle Blowing Policy

ASSURANCE TO THE BOARD MEMBERS

The Board finds the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system to be satisfactory. The 
Board is of the view that it is able to effectively protect the shareholders’ interest and the Group’s assets.

Additionally, the Board has received assurance from the Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer that the Group’s risk 
management and internal control system are operating adequately and effectively in all material aspects.
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ASSURANCE TO THE BOARD MEMBERS (CONT’D)

The Board is of the opinion that the Group’s risk management and internal control systems are adequate and effective. 
There is no internal control failure nor any significant weaknesses in the system that has resulted in any loss to the Group 
during the financial year under review. 

The Board will continue monitoring all the major risks affecting the Group and take appropriate action plans to further 
improve the existing risk management framework and internal control systems.

REVIEW OF THIS STATEMENT BY THE EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The External Auditors have reviewed this Statement for inclusion in the Integrated Annual Report of the Company for the 
FY2024 pursuant to the scope set out in Audit and Assurance Practice Guide 3 (“AAPG 3”), Guidance for Auditors on 
Engagements to Report on the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control included in the Annual Report as 
issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants and reported to the Board that nothing has come to their attention that 
caused them to believe that the Statement intended to be included in the Integrated Annual Report of the Company, in all 
material respect: -

a)	 has not been prepared in accordance with the disclosures required by paragraphs 41 and 42 of the Statement on Risk 
Management and Internal Control: Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers to be set out; or 

b)	 is factually inaccurate. 

AAPG 3 does not require the External Auditors to consider whether this Statement covers all risks and controls, or to form 
an opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control system, including the 
assessment and opinion by the Directors and management thereon. The External Auditors are also not required to consider 
whether the processes described to deal with material internal control aspects of any significant problems disclosed in the 
Integrated Annual Report will, in fact, remedy those problems.

This Statement is made in accordance with the resolution of the Board dated 28 April 2025.
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ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE INFORMATION 

1.	 UTILISATION OF PROCEEDS

	 The Company was listed on the ACE Market of Bursa Securities on 30 November 2022 in conjunction with its initial 
public offering (“IPO”) (“Listing”), where the Company undertook a public issue of 311,013,000 new ordinary shares 
in the Company at an issue price of RM0.23 per share, raising proceeds of RM71.5 million (“IPO Proceeds”).

	 The gross proceeds of RM71.5 million raised from the IPO have been utilised during the financial year ended 31 
December 2024.

2.	 AUDIT AND NON-AUDIT FEES 

	 The amount of audit and non-audit fees paid or payable to the external auditors’ firm by the Group and the Company 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2024 are as follows:-

						      Company (RM)	 Group (RM)

Audit Fees						      163,000	 350,000
Non-Audit Fees*						      10,000	 10,000

Total						      173,000	 360,000

*	 Non-audit fees comprise the review of Statement of Risk Management and Internal Control.

3.	 RECURRENT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION (“RRPT”) 

	 The details for the Recurrent Related Party Transactions of a Revenue or Trading Nature transacted pursuant to the 
Shareholders’ Mandate during the financial year ended 31 December 2024 are stated in Section 2.4 of the Circular to 
Shareholders dated 30 April 2025, which is available on Bursa Securities’ website and the Company’s website.

4.	 MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

	 There were no material contracts entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries involving the interest of Directors, 
chief executive who is not a Director or major shareholder, either still subsisting as at the end of the financial year or 
entered into since the end of the previous financial year.

5.	 STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RELATION TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

	 The Directors are required under Rule 15.26(a) of the ACE Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities to issue 
a statement on its responsibility in the preparation of the annual audited financial statements.

	 The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with 
the provisions of the Companies Act 2016 and applicable Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards approved by the 
Malaysian Accounting Standards Board in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Group and the Company as at 31 December 2024 and of the financial performance and cash flows of the Group for 
the year then ended and of the Company for the financial year then ended. 
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5.	 STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RELATION TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)

	 During the preparation of the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2024, the Directors have: 

(i)	 applied the appropriate and relevant accounting policies consistently and in accordance with applicable 
approved accounting standards;

(ii)	 made judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

(iii)	 applied the going concern basis for the preparation of the financial statements. 

	 The Directors are also responsible for taking such steps that are necessary and reasonable to safeguard the assets 
of the Group and of the Company, and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. 

	 The Board is satisfied that it has met its obligation to present a balanced and understandable assessment of the 
Company’s position and prospects in the Directors’ Report and the Financial Statements of this Integrated Annual 
Report. 

	 The Statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors 28 April 2025.

ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE INFORMATION
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report and the audited financial statements of the Group and the Company 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2024.

Principal activities

The Company is principally engaged in the businesses of manufacturing of steel products, transport and carrier and 
scaffolding rental services whilst the principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are as stated in Note 3 to the 
financial statements. 

Ultimate holding company

The Company is a subsidiary of Tianwen Holdings Sdn. Bhd., of which is incorporated in Malaysia and regarded by the 
Directors as the Company’s ultimate holding company, during the financial year and until the date of this report.

Subsidiaries

The details of the Company’s subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 3 to the financial statements.

Results

						      Group	 Company
						      RM’000	 RM’000
			 
Profit for the year attributable to:			 
   Owners of the Company						      2,421	 5,643
   Non-controlling interests						      (993)	 -

						      1,428	 5,643

Reserves and provisions

There were no material transfers to or from reserves and provisions during the financial year under review except as 
disclosed in Note 23 to the financial statements.

Dividends

No dividend was paid during the financial year and the Directors do not recommend any dividend to be paid for the financial 
year under review.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Directors of the Company

Directors who served during the financial year and until the date of this report are:

Datuk Seri Akhil Bin Bulat 
Law Kok Thye
Esmariza Binti Ismail 
Chua Leng Leek 
Lai Chin Yang 
Lee Wee Leng
Law Kar Hou (Appointed on 16 July 2024)
Phang Yew Cheong @ Phang Yew Choong (Resigned on 13 March 2024)

Directors of the subsidiaries

The following is a list of directors of the subsidiaries (excluding Directors who are also Directors of the Company) who held 
office during the financial year and until the date of this report:

Chai Chang Wai
Lam Chung Ming 
Yau Kwai Lin

Directors’ interests in shares

The interests and deemed interests in the shares of the Company and of its related corporations (other than wholly-owned 
subsidiaries) of those who were Directors at financial year end (including the interests of the spouses or children of the Director 
who themselves are not Directors of the Company) as recorded in the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings are as follows:

	 Number of ordinary shares
				    At 1.1.2024/ 
				    date of			   At
				    appointment	 Bought	 Sold	 31.12.2024

Interests in the ultimate holding company				  
Law Kok Thye				  
- own				    1,400,000	 -	 -	 1,400,000

Deemed interests in the Company				  
Datuk Seri Akhil Bin Bulat				  
- own				    350,000	 -	 -	 350,000
Law Kok Thye 				  
- own				    340,549,000	 -	 -	 340,549,000
- others*				    755,800,000	 6,000,000	 -	 761,800,000
Law Kar Hou				  
- own				    100,000	 2,000,000	 -	 2,100,000
Chua Leng Leek							     
- own				    450,000	 -	 -	 450,000
Lai Chin Yang				  
- own				    350,000	 150,000	 -	 500,000
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Directors’ interests in shares (Cont’d)

	 Number of ordinary shares
				    At 1.1.2024/ 
				    date of			   At
				    appointment	 Bought	 Sold	 31.12.2024

Deemed interests in the Company				  
Lee Wee Leng				  
- own				    100,000	 -	 -	 100,000
Esmariza Binti Ismail				  
- own				    210,000	 -	 -	 210,000

*	 Deemed interested through spouse’s and children’s shareholdings in the Company and deemed interested by virtue 
of his direct substantial shareholding in Tianwen Holdings Sdn. Bhd.

By virtue of his interests of more than 20% in the shareholdings of the Company, Law Kok Thye is deemed interested in the 
ordinary shares of its related corporations during the financial year to the extent of the Company’s interests, in accordance 
with Section 8 of the Companies Act 2016.

Directors’ benefits

Since the end of previous financial year, no Director of the Company has received nor become entitled to receive any benefit 
(other than those shown below) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the Director or 
with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with a Company in which the Director has a substantial financial interest.

The Directors’ benefits paid to or receivable by Directors in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2024 are as follows:

							       From 
						      From the	 subsidiary 
						      Company	 companies
						      RM’000	 RM’000

Directors of the Company:		
   Fees						      458	 -
   Remuneration						      2,155	 364
   Other short-term benefits						      265	 49
   Estimated money value of any other benefits					     56	 7
		
						      2,934	 420

There were no arrangements during and at the end of the financial year which had the object of enabling Directors of the Company 
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Issue of shares and debentures

There were no changes in the issued and paid-up capital of the Company during the financial year. There were no debentures 
issued during the financial year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Options granted over unissued shares 

No options were granted to any persons to take up unissued shares of the Company during the financial year.

Indemnity and insurance costs

There is no indemnity given to or insurance effected for Director, officer or auditor of the Company during the financial year.

Other statutory information

Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps to 
ascertain that:

i)	 all known bad debts have been written off and adequate allowance for impairment losses on receivables, and

ii)	 any current assets which were unlikely to be realised in the ordinary course of business have been written down to 
an amount which they might be expected to realise.

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances:

i)	 that would render the amount written off for bad debts or the amount of the provision for doubtful debts in the Group 
and in the Company inadequate to any substantial extent, or 

ii)	 that would render the value attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company misleading, or

iii)	 which have arisen which render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and 
of the Company misleading or inappropriate, or

iv)	 not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial statements that would render any amount stated in the financial 
statements of the Group and of the Company misleading.

At the date of this report, there does not exist:

i)	 any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company that has arisen since the end of the financial year and which 
secures the liabilities of any other person, or 

ii)	 any contingent liability in respect of the Group and of the Company that has arisen since the end of the financial year.

No contingent liability or other liability of any company in the Group has become enforceable, or is likely to become 
enforceable within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of the Directors, will 
or may substantially affect the ability of the Group and of the Company to meet their obligations as and when they fall due.

In the opinion of the Directors, the financial performance of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended 31 
December 2024 have not been substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature nor 
has any such item, transaction or event occurred in the interval between the end of that financial year and the date of this 
report.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Subsequent events

Refer to Note 31 for subsequent events after the end of the financial year.

Auditors 

The auditors, KPMG PLT, have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.

The details of the auditors’ remuneration of the Group and of the Company during the year are as follows:

						      The	 The
						      Group	 Company
						      RM’000	 RM’000
				  
Audit fees						      350	 163
Non-audit fees						      10	 10

						      360	 173

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

Law Kok Thye
Director

Esmariza Binti Ismail 
Director

Date: 28 April 2025
Selangor
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024

	 Group	 Company
			   Note	 2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Assets							     
Investments in subsidiaries			   3	 -	 -	 11,906	 8,156
Investment in joint venture			   4	 -*	 -	 -	 -
Right-of-use assets			   5	 3,596	 -	 -	 -
Property, plant and equipment			   6	 164,438	 145,110	 159,218	 140,107
Investment properties			   7	 9,309	 9,533	 4,511	 4,622
Goodwill			   8	 2,702	 2,702	 -	 -

Total non-current assets				    180,045	 157,345	 175,635	 152,885

Inventories 			   9	 147,103	 155,820	 136,771	 136,501
Trade and other receivables			   10	 101,885	 99,894	 101,483	 106,177
Contract assets			   11	 4,737	 7,843	 -	 -
Current tax assets				    11,372	 11,447	 11,038	 11,150
Other investments			   12	 7,584	 6,102	 6,938	 5,581
Cash and cash equivalents			   13	 4,142	 18,096	 1,278	 13,496

Total current assets				    276,823	 299,202	 257,508	 272,905

Total assets				    456,868	 456,547	 433,143	 425,790

			 
Equity						    
Share capital				    146,909	 146,909	 146,909	 146,909
Reserves				    72,927	 66,910	 65,788	 56,549

Equity attributable to owners of the Company		  14	 219,836	 213,819	 212,697	 203,458
Non-controlling interests				    1,048	 2,141	 -	 -

Total equity				    220,884	 215,960	 212,697	 203,458
								      

Liabilities					   
Loans and borrowings			   15	 9,274	 6,368	 8,762	 6,339
Deferred tax liabilities			   16	 9,748	 9,395	 9,480	 9,108

Total non-current liabilities				    19,022	 15,763	 18,242	 15,447
								      
Trade and other payables			   17	 56,249	 38,788	 43,780	 21,576
Loans and borrowings			   15	 160,701	 185,603	 158,424	 184,893
Current tax liabilities				    12	 17	 -	 -
Derivative liabilities			   18	 -	 416	 -	 416

Total current liabilities				    216,962	 224,824	 202,204	 206,885

Total liabilities				    235,984	 240,587	 220,446	 222,332

Total equity and liabilities				    456,868	 456,547	 433,143	 425,790

* Amount is less than RM1,000

The notes on pages 115 to 167 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS 
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
	 Group	 Company
			   Note	 2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Revenue			   19	 404,386	 370,016	 334,792	 312,806
Cost of sales				    (379,458)	 (356,774)	 (310,733)	 (302,196)

Gross profit				    24,928	 13,242	 24,059	 10,610
Other income	  			   5,071	 11,341	 7,196	 9,781
Administrative expenses				    (14,610)	 (15,965)	 (13,129)	 (14,523)
Net reversal/(loss) on impairment of financial assets			   737	 (1,320)	 496	 (856)
Other expenses				    (3,403)	 (3,745)	 (2,894)	 (3,394)

Results from operating activities				    12,723	 3,553	 15,728	 1,618

Finance income				    195	 814	 924	 814
Finance costs			   20	 (11,286)	 (12,663)	 (10,897)	 (12,360)

Net finance costs				    (11,091)	 (11,849)	 (9,973)	 (11,546)

Profit/(Loss) before tax				    1,632	 (8,296)	 5,755	 (9,928)
Tax expense			   21	 (204)	 3,155	 (112)	 3,181

Profit/(Loss) for the year			   22	 1,428	 (5,141)	 5,643	 (6,747)

Other comprehensive income/(expense), net of tax	 		  1,428	 (5,141)	 5,643	 (6,747)
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently 
   to profit or loss							     
Revaluation of properties			   23	 3,596	 -	 3,596	 -

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year, 
   net of tax				    5,024	 (5,141)	 9,239	 (6,747)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year			  5,024	 (5,141)	 9,239	 (6,747)
								      

Profit/(Loss) attributable to:							     
Owners of the Company				    2,421	 (4,960)	 5,643	 (6,747)
Non-controlling interests				    (993)	 (181)	 -	 -

				    1,428	 (5,141)	 5,643	 (6,747)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) attributable to:				  
Owners of the Company				    6,017	 (4,960)	 9,239	 (6,747)
Non-controlling interests				    (993)	 (181)	 -	 -

				    5,024	 (5,141)	 9,239	 (6,747)

Earnings/(Loss) per share (Sen)						    
Basic/Diluted			   24	 0.16	 (0.33)

The notes on pages 115 to 167 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

	 /--Attributable to owners of the Company--/	
	 Non-distributable	 Distributable	
				    Share	 Revaluation	 Retained	 Total
Company			   Note	 capital	 reserves	 earnings	 equity
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
					   
At 1 January 2023				    146,909	 43,943	 32,682	 223,534
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year			  -	 -	 (6,747)	 (6,747)
Distributions to owners of the Company:					  
 - Dividends to owners of the Company			   25	 -	 -	 (13,329)	 (13,329)

Total transactions with owners of the Company			   -	 -	 (13,329)	 (13,329)

At 31 December 2023/ 1 January 2024				   146,909	 43,943	 12,606	 203,458

Revaluation of properties				    -	 3,596	 -	 3,596

Total other comprehensive income for the year			   -	 3,596	 -	 3,596
Profit for the year				    -	 -	 5,643	 5,643

Total comprehensive income for the year	 		  -	 3,596	 5,643	 9,239

At 31 December 2024				    146,909	 47,539	 18,249	 212,697
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

	 Group	 Company
			   Note	 2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Cash flows from operating activities
   Profit/(Loss) before tax				    1,632	 (8,296)	 5,755	 (9,928)
   Adjustments for:							     
      Depreciation of property, plant and equipment		  6	 7,153	 7,430	 6,255	 6,463
      Depreciation of investment properties		  7	 224	 225	 111	 111
      Depreciation of right-of-use-assets			   5	 30	 -	 -	 -
      Net (reversal)/impairment loss on trade receivables 
         and contract assets			   22	 (737)	 1,320	 (496)	 856
      Reversal of allowance for slow-moving and obsolete stock	 9	 (674)	 -	 (491)	 -
      Finance costs			   20	 11,286	 12,663	 10,897	 12,360
      Reversal of inventories previously written down		  9	 -	 (1,082)	 -	 (1,082)
      Unrealised loss on derivatives				    -	 416	 -	 416
      Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment			   (149)	 (70)	 -	 (50)
      Interest income				    (195)	 (814)	 (924)	 (814)
  
 Operating profit before changes in working capital			  18,571	 11,792	 21,107	 8,332
   Increase in inventories				    9,391	 74,122	 221	 65,980
   Decrease in trade and other receivables			   (1,253)	 (18,126)	 (19,382)	 (381)
   Increase/(Decrease) in contract assets				    3,106	 (7,843)	 -	 -
   Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other payables			   18,140	 (23,211)	 15,449	 (11,682)
   Increase/(Decrease) in amount owing by subsidiaries			  -	 -	 28,743	 (22,893)
   Increase in amount owing to a subsidiary			   -	 -	 -	 558
   Net (decrease)/increase in amount owing to holding company		  (1,098)	 4,011	 2,913	 -

   Cash generated from operations				    46,856	 40,745	 49,051	 39,914
   Income tax paid				    (151)	 (3,216)	 -	 (2,941)
   Tax refunded				    -	 783	 -	 600

   Net cash from operating activities	 			   46,705	 38,312	 49,051	 37,573

Cash flows used in investing activities		
   Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment		  149	 70	 -	 50
   Purchase of property, plant and equipment		  (b)	 (17,658)	 (20,174)	 (17,336)	 (19,702)
   Purchase of right-of-use assets				    (3,626)	 -	 -	 -
   Investment in joint venture				    -*	 -	 -	 -
   Increase in investment in subsidiaries				    -	 -	 (3,750)	 -
   Interest income received				    195	 814	 179	 814
   Additions of deposits pledged with licensed financial banks 
      or with tenure more than 3 months				    (1,482)	 9,502	 (1,357)	 10,023

   Net cash used in investing activities	 			   (22,422)	 (9,788)	 (22,264)	 (8,815)
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

	 Group	 Company
			   Note	 2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Cash flows (used in)/from financing activities
Repayment of principal for term loans			   (a)	 (3,088)	 (26,421)	 (3,088)	 (26,421)
Proceeds from drawdown for term loans			  (a)	 -	 100	 -	 100
Repayment of principal for hire payables			  (a)	 (1,205)	 (1,307)	 (976)	 (956)
Proceeds from drawdown for bankers’ acceptances		  (a)	 222,232	 263,660	 212,900	 263,049
Repayment of principal for bankers’ acceptances		  (a)	 (247,331)	 (248,370)	 (239,485)	 (248,370)
Proceeds from drawdown of trust receipts		  (a)	 214,160 	 166,034	 214,160	 156,885
Repayment of principal for trust receipts			  (a)	 (214,981)	 (182,454)	 (214,981)	 (173,305)
Proceeds from drawdown of revolving credit		  (a)	 -	 10,000	 -	 10,000
Dividend paid				    -	 (13,329)	 -	 (13,329)
Interest paid				    (11,286)	 (12,663)	 (10,897)	 (12,360)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests		  3	 (100)	 -	 -	 -

Net cash used in financing activities				    (41,599)	 (44,750)	 (42,367)	 (44,707)
								      
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents			   (17,316)	 (16,226)	 (15,580)	 (15,949)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year		  12,142	 28,368	 7,542	 23,491

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year		  13	 (5,174)	 12,142	 (8,038)	 7,542

* Amount is less than RM1,000

(a)	 Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities

		  	 Net	 At 31 	 Net
			   changes	 December	 changes
		  At 1	 from	 2023/	 from	 Acquisition	 At 31
		  January	 financing	 1 January	 financing	 of new	  December 
		  2023	 cash flows	 2024	 cash flows	 lease	 2024
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Group						    
Term loans		  35,128	 (26,321)	 8,807	 (3,088)	 -	 5,719
Hire purchase payables		  2,705	 (1,307)	 1,398	 (1,205)	 4,855	 5,048
Bankers’ acceptance		  80,687	 15,290	 95,977	 (25,099)	 -	 70,878
Trust receipts		  86,255	 (16,420)	 69,835	 (821)	 -	 69,014
Revolving credit		  -	 10,000	 10,000	 -	 -	 10,000

Total liabilities from financing activities	 204,775	 (18,758)	 186,017	 (30,213)	 4,855	 160,659

						    
Company
Term loans		  35,128	 (26,321)	 8,807	 (3,088)	 -	 5,719
Hire purchase payables		  2,226	 (956)	 1,270	 (976)	 4,062	 4,356
Bankers’ acceptance		  80,687	 14,679	 95,366	 (26,585)	 -	 68,781
Trust receipts		  86,255	 (16,420)	 69,835	 (821)	 -	 69,014
Revolving credit		  -	 10,000	 10,000	 -	 -	 10,000

Total liabilities from financing activities	 204,296	 (19,018)	 185,278	 (31,470)	 4,062	 157,870
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

(b)	 Analysis of purchase of property, plant and equipment

	 Acquisition of property, plant and equipment during the year were by way of:

	 Group	 Company
				    2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
		

Cash				    17,658	 20,174	 17,336	 19,702
Hire purchase				    4,855	 -	 4,062	 -

				    22,513	 20,174	 21,398	 19,702
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Leform Berhad (the “Company”) is a public limited liability company, incorporated  and domiciled in Malaysia. The address 
of the principal place of business and registered office of the Company is as follows:

Principal place of business
PT16077 and PT16078, Jalan Kesidang 4
Kawasan Perindustrian Sungai Choh
48200 Serendah
Selangor, Malaysia

Registered office
12th Floor, Menara Symphony
No. 5, Jalan Professor Khoo Kay Kim
Seksyen 13, 46200 Petaling Jaya
Selangor, Malaysia

The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the financial year ended 31 December 2024 comprise 
the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and individually referred to as “Group entities”) and 
the Group’s interests in joint venture.

The Company is principally engaged in the businesses of manufacturing of steel products, transport and carrier and 
scaffolding rental services whilst the principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are as stated in Note 3 to the 
financial statements.

The Company is a subsidiary of Tianwen Holdings Sdn. Bhd., of which is incorporated in Malaysia and regarded by the 
Directors as the Company’s ultimate holding company, during the financial year and until the date of this report.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 April 2025. 

1.	 Basis of preparation 

	 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with the MFRS 
Accounting Standards as issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MFRS Accounting Standards”), IFRS 
Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IFRS Accounting Standards”) 
and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.

	 The following are accounting standards, interpretations and amendments of the MFRS Accounting Standards that 
have been issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) but have not been adopted by the Group 
and the Company: 

(a)	 Statement of compliance

	 MFRS Accounting Standards, interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2025
•	 Amendments to MFRS 121, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates – Lack of Exchangeability

	 MFRS Accounting Standards, interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2026
•	 Amendments to MFRS 9, Financial Instruments and MFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures – 

Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments
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1.	 Basis of preparation (Cont’d)

(a)	 Statement of compliance (Cont’d)

	 MFRS Accounting Standards, interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2026 (Cont’d)
•	 Amendments that are part of Annual Improvements – Volume 11:

＞	 Amendments to MFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards
＞	 Amendments to MFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures
＞	 Amendments to MFRS 9, Financial Instruments
＞	 Amendments to MFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements
＞	 Amendments to MFRS 107, Statement of Cash Flows

•	 Amendments to MFRS 9, Financial Instruments and MFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures – 
Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity

	 MFRS Accounting Standards, interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2027
•	 MFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements
•	 MFRS 19, Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures

	 MFRS Accounting Standards, interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after a date yet to be confirmed
•	 Amendments to MFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements and MFRS 128, Investments in Associates 

and Joint Ventures – Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The Group and the Company plan to apply the abovementioned accounting standards and amendments:

•	 from the annual period beginning on 1 January 2025 for the amendment that is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025..

•	 from the annual period beginning on 1 January 2026 for the amendments that are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.

•	 from the annual period beginning on 1 January 2027 for the accounting standards that are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

(b)	 Basis of measurement

	 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following 
items, which are measured based on the measurement bases stated below:

	 Items	 Measurement bases
	

	 Derivative financial instruments	 Fair value
	 Freehold land and buildings	 Fair value

	 As of 31 December 2024, the Group and the Company have RM170 million and RM167 million of loans and 
borrowings with RM161 million and RM158 million, respectively, due within the next 12 months. The preparation 
of the financial statements on a going concern basis is dependent on the ability of the Group and the Company 
to utilise available credit facilities and to obtain continuous financial support from their bankers to finance their 
operations to achieve profitable operations in order to pay its loans and borrowings that are due to be paid 
within one year. The Group and the Company remains positive that it will be able to generate sufficient cash 
flows from its existing and new orders secured by its subsidiaries to increase the working capital of the Group 
and the Company.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1.	 Basis of preparation (Cont’d)

(b)	 Basis of measurement (Cont’d)

	 In view of the foregoing, the Directors consider that it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going 
concern basis and the Group and the Company will be able to meet their liabilities as and when they fall due.

	 Accordingly, the financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and 
classification of recorded assets amounts or additional amounts of liabilities that may be necessary if the Group 
and the Company is unable to continue as a going concern.

	
(c)	 Functional and presentation currencies

	 These financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”), which is the Company’s functional 
currency and has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

(d)	 Use of estimates and judgements

	 The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with MFRS Accounting Standards requires management 
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

	 Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

	 There are no significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies 
that have significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements other than those disclosed in 
the following notes:

•	 Note 3 - measurement of the recoverable amounts of investment in subsidiary
•	 Note 5 – revaluation of leasehold land
•	 Note 6 – revaluation of freehold land and buildings 
•	 Note 8 – measurement of the recoverable amounts of cash-generating units
•	 Note 9 – valuation of inventories

2.	 Changes in material accounting policies 

	 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

	 The Company has adopted the amendments to MFRS 101, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 
and Non-current Liabilities with Covenants from 1 January 2024. The amendments clarify certain requirements for 
determining whether a liability should be classified as current or non-current and require new disclosures for non-
current loan liabilities that are subject to covenants within 12 months after the reporting period (see Note 15).

	 The Company has analysed all existing borrowings and determined that the new amendments did not result in a 
change in the classification of the Company’s borrowings. There is also no retrospective impact on the comparative 
statement of financial position.
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3.	 Investments in subsidiaries

	 	 Company
						      2024	 2023
						      RM’000	 RM’000

			 
Cost of investment						      12,648	 8,898
Less: Impairment loss						      (742)	 (742)

						      11,906	 8,156

	 Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Principal place of 
business/Country of 

incorporation Principal activities

Effective ownership 
interest and voting interest

2024
%

2023
%

LF Metal Sdn. Bhd. (“LFMSB”) Malaysia Trading in steel products 100 100

Leform Steel Pipes Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Trading in steel pipes 100 100

Leform CLQ Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Dormant 100 100

Leform Transport Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia To carry on the business of 
transport and carrier

100 100

Leform Metal Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Dormant 85 85

Leform Steel Service Centre 
Sdn. Bhd. (“LSSCSB”)

Malaysia Trading in steel products 100 100

LF Engineering Sdn. Bhd. 
(“LFESB”)

Malaysia Manufacturing of guardrails 60 60

Leform Marketing Sdn. Bhd. 
(“LMKSB”)^

Malaysia Trading of steel pipes and 
flat steel products

80 80

LF SPV Structure Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia Manufacturing and 
installation of solar structures

100 -

^	 Held though LFMSB
*	 Not audited by KPMG PLT

	 On 26 September 2024, Leform CLQ Sdn. Bhd. had increased its issued and paid-up capital from RM100,000 comprising 
100,000 ordinary shares to RM3,850,000 comprising 3,850,000 ordinary shares, via the issuance of 3,750,000 new ordinary 
shares to Leform Berhad.

	 On 5 December 2024, Leform Berhad had incorporated a wholly-owned subsidiary company, namely LF SPV Structure 
Sdn. Bhd., under the Companies Act 2016 of Malaysia, with an issued share capital of RM100 comprising 100 ordinary 
shares. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LEFORM BERHAD118



3.	 Investments in subsidiaries (Cont’d)

3.1	 Non-controlling interest in subsidiaries

	 The Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests (“NCI”) are as follows:

						      Other
						      subsidiaries
						      with
						      immaterial
				    LFESB	 LMKSB	 NCI	 Total
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

2024				  
NCI percentage of ownership 	interest and voting interest	 40%	 20%		
Carrying amount of NCI				    417	 448	 183	 1,048
Loss allocated to NCI				    (986)	 (4)	 (3)	 (993)

2023				  
NCI percentage of ownership interest and voting interest	 40%	 20%		
Carrying amount of NCI				    1,402	 553	 186	 2,141
Profit allocated to NCI				    (243)	 69	 (7)	 (181)

	 LFESB	 LMKSB
				    2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
		

Summarised financial information before 
   intra-group elimination							     
As at 31 December							     
Non-current assets				    1,508	 1,398	 1,782	 1,412
Current assets				    18,700	 36,524	 7,305	 10,940
Non-current liabilities				    (502)	 (274)	 (192)	 (17)
Current liabilities				    (18,664)	 (34,142)	 (6,653)	 (9,571)

Net assets				    1,042	 3,506	 2,242	 2,764

							     
Year ended 31 December	 						    
Revenue				    25,505	 40,643	 54,868	 53,474
(Loss)/Profit for the year				    (2,465)	 (606)	 (21)	 344
Total comprehensive (expense)/income			   (2,465)	 (606)	 (21)	 344
							     
Cash flows (used in)/from operating activities		  167	 655	 (224)	 (44)
Cash flows used in investing activities			   (533)	 (4)	  (226)	 -
Cash flows from/(used in) financing activities		  666	 (485)	 (117)	 (71)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents		  300	 166	 (567)	 (115)

Dividends paid to NCI				    -	 -	 (100)	 -
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3.	 Investments in subsidiaries (Cont’d)

3.2	 Material accounting policy information

	 Investments in subsidiaries are measured in the Company’s statement of financial position at cost less any 
impairment losses.

3.3	 Impairment testing for impairment in a subsidiary
	
	 At 31 December 2024, the Company’s investment in a subsidiary, LSSCSB, was tested for impairment due to 

impairment indicators noted as the carrying amount of the investment is higher than the net assets of LSSCSB. 

	 For purposes of the impairment testing, the recoverable amount of the investment in LSSCSB was determined 
based on its value in use, calculated using a discounting cash flow model. The key assumptions used in the 
model are based on both external sources and internal historical data which includes:

-	 Cash flows were projected based on past experience, actual operating results and the 5-year business 
plan.

- 	 The anticipated annual revenue growth included in the cash flow projections was 8% (2023: 4.2% - 
11.2%) per annum.

-	 Gross profit margin were projected at 0.75% (2023: 0.5%).
- 	 A pre-tax discount rate of 10.69% (2023: 10.1%) was applied in determining the recoverable amount of 

the unit. The discount rate was based on the Group’s weighted average cost of capital.

The above estimates are not particularly sensitive. No impairment was recognised during the year.

4.	 Investment in joint venture

	 	 Group
						      2024	 2023
						      RM	 RM

			 
Investment in shares						      50	 -

	 LF Highway Products Sdn. Bhd., the only joint arrangement in which the Group participates, is principally engaged 
in the trading of steel and highway railing products in Malaysia. LF Highway Products Sdn. Bhd. is structured as a 
separate vehicle and provides the Group rights to the net assets of the entity. Accordingly, the Group has classified 
the investment in LF Highway Products Sdn. Bhd. as a joint venture. 

The following table summarises the financial information of the joint venture:

	 	 Group
						      2024	 2023
						      RM	 RM

			 
Percentage of ownership interest						      50%	 -
Percentage of voting interest						      50%	 -
			 
Summarised financial information
As at 31 December			 
Current assets						      100	 -
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4.	 Investment in joint venture (Cont’d)
	
4.1	 Material accounting policy information

	 Investment in joint venture is measured in the Company’s statement of financial position at cost less any 
impairment losses.

5.	 Right-of-use assets

							       Leasehold land
							       RM’000

Group	
At 1 January 2023/31 December 2023/1 January 2024					     -
Additions							       3,626
Depreciation							       (30)

At 31 December 2024							       3,596

5.1	 Material accounting policy information

(a) 	 Recognition and measurement

	 Leasehold land are initially measured at cost.

	 Subsequent to initial recognition, the leasehold land are stated at revalued amounts based on periodic 
valuations, once in every 3 or 5 years, less subsequent depreciation for building. Surpluses arising 
from the revaluation are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under 
the revaluation reserve to the extent that it reverses a revaluation deficit of the same asset previously 
recognised in profit or loss. Deficits arising from the revaluation to the extent that they are not supported 
by any previous revaluation surpluses, are recognised in profit or loss.

(b)	 Depreciation

	 Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the 
leasehold land from the date that they are available for use.

	 The estimated useful life for the current period for the leasehold land is 70 years.
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6.	 Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

6.1	 Security

	 At 31 December 2024, freehold land and buildings of the Group and of the Company with a carrying amount of 
RM108,071,375 and RM105,071,375 (2023: RM97,413,038 and RM94,413,038) have been pledged to licensed 
banks as security for banking facilities granted to the Group and the Company as disclosed in Note 15 to the 
financial statements.

6.2	 Leased plant and machineries

	 At 31 December 2024, the net carrying amount of leased plant and machineries under hire purchase of the Group 
and the Company was RM6,299,254 and RM5,266,532, respectively (2023: RM1,935,055 and RM1,824,962, 
respectively).

6.3	 Fair value information

	 Fair value of freehold land and buildings are categorised as follows:

	 2024	 2023
				    Level 3	 Total	 Level 2	 Total
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Group				  
Freehold land and buildings				   108,072	 108,072	 105,254	 105,254

				  
Company				  
Freehold land and buildings				   105,072	 105,072	 102,254	 102,254

	 Level 3 fair value

	 Level 3 fair value is estimated using unobservable inputs for the financial assets and liabilities.

	 The following table shows the valuation techniques used in the determination of fair values within Level 3, as 
well as the key unobservable inputs used in the	valuation models.

Description of valuation
technique and inputs used

Significant 
unobservable inputs

Inter-relationship between significant 
unobservable inputs and fair value 

measurement

Market comparison approach:
Sales price of comparable land 
are adjusted for differences in key 
attributes such as land size. The most 
significant input into this valuation 
approach is price per square foot.

•	 Average price per 
square foot (2024: RM40 
– RM170, 2023: RM30 - 
RM140).

The estimated fair value would increase 
(decrease) if the price per square foot is 
higher (lower).

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LEFORM BERHAD126



6.	 Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

6.3	 Fair value information (Cont’d)

 	  Transfers between Level 2 and Level 3 fair values

	 In the previous financial year, the fair values of the freehold land and buildings of the Group and the Company 
were within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy and were arrived based on the market comparison approach that 
reflects recent transaction prices for similar properties. The most significant input into this valuation approach is 
price per square foot of comparable properties.

	 On 16 December 2024, the Group’s and the Company’s freehold land and buildings were revalued by independent 
professional valuers. The surpluses arising from the revaluations, net of deferred taxation have been credited to 
other comprehensive income as disclosed in Note 23 to the financial statements and accumulated in equity under 
the revaluation reserve.

	 If the freehold land and buildings were measured using the cost model, the carrying amounts would be as follows:

	 Group	 Company
				    2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Freehold land				    20,872	 20,872	 19,860	 19,860
Buildings				    38,305	 39,454	 38,305	 39,454

				    59,177	 60,326	 58,165	 59,314

6.4	 Material accounting policy information 

(a)	 Recognition and measurement

	 All items of property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
all property, plant and equipment, other than freehold land and buildings, are measured at cost less any 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

	 Freehold land and buildings are stated at revalued amounts based on periodic valuations, at least once 
in every 3 or 5 years, less subsequent depreciation for buildings. Surpluses arising from the revaluation 
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the revaluation reserve 
to the extent that it reverses a revaluation deficit of the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss. 
Deficits arising from the revaluation to the extent that they are not supported by any previous revaluation 
surpluses, are recognised in profit or loss.

	 Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of 
that equipment.
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6.	 Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

6.4	 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

(b)	 Depreciation

	 Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each 
component of an item of property, plant and equipment from the date that they are available for use. 
Freehold land is not depreciated. Capital work-in-progress are not depreciated until the assets are ready 
for their intended use. 

	 The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

•	 buildings	  50 years
•	 plant and machineries	 5 - 10 years
•	 motor vehicles	 5 years
•	 furniture and fittings	 5 - 10 years
•	 office equipment	 5 - 10 years
•	 computers	 5 years
•	 renovation	 5 - 10 years
•	 tools and equipment	 5 years
•	 electrical fittings	 5 - 10 years
•	 moulds	 5 years
•	 cabin hostel	 50 years

7.	 Investment properties 

	 Group	 Company
				    2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Cost							     
At 1 January/31 December				    11,626	 11,626	 5,920	 5,920

							     
Accumulated depreciation							     
At 1 January				    (1,563)	 (1,338)	 (768)	 (657)
Depreciation for the year 				    (224)	 (225)	 (111)	 (111)

At 31 December				    (1,787)	 (1,563)	 (879)	 (768)

Accumulated impairment losses							    
At 1 January/31 December				    (530)	 (530)	 (530)	 (530)

				    9,309	 9,533	 4,511	 4,622
							     

7.1	 Nature of leasing activities

	 Investment properties comprise a number of commercial properties that are leased to subsidiaries and third 
parties. 
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7.	 Investment properties (Cont’d)

7.2	 Restrictions on investment properties

	 The buildings of the Group and of the Company with a carrying value of RM5,649,065 and RM1,114,560 (2023: 
RM8,875,056 and RM4,233,430) have been pledged to licensed banks as security for banking facilities granted 
to the Group and the Company as disclosed in Note 15 to the financial statements.

7.3	 Other income/expenses recognised in profit or loss in relation to investment properties

	 Group	 Company
				    2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Lease income				    254	 264	 86	 94
							     
Direct operating expenses:							     
-  income generating investment properties		  (20)	 (21)	 (6)	 (6)

7.4	 Maturity analysis of operating lease payments

	 	 Group
						      2024	 2023
						      RM’000	 RM’000

Less than one year						      217	 251
One to two years						      90	 110
Two to three years						      -	 45

Total undiscounted lease payments					     307	 406

7.5	 Fair value information

	 Fair value of investment properties are categorised as follows:

	 2024	 2023
				    Level 3	 Total	 Level 3	 Total
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Group					   
Land and buildings				    12,141	 12,141	 12,561	 12,561

					   
Company					   
Land and buildings				    4,773	 4,773	 5,228	 5,228
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7.	 Investment properties (Cont’d)

7.5	 Fair value information (Cont’d)

	 Level 3 fair value

	 Level 3 fair value is estimated using unobservable inputs for the financial assets and liabilities.

	 Valuation processes applied by the Group for Level 3 fair value

	 The fair value of the Group’s investment properties not pledged to licensed banks has been estimated by the 
Directors based on Directors’ assessment of the current year prices in an active market for the respective 
properties within each vicinity. In estimating the fair values, adjustments have been made to these listing prices 
to reflect differences in land or floor sizes, designs, location, and other features between the Group’s properties 
and the comparable properties. The fair value represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. In 
estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and  best use of the properties is their current use.

	 The fair value of investment properties pledged to licensed banks is determined by external, independent 
property valuers, having appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent experience in the 
location and category of property being valued. The valuation company provides the fair value of the Group’s 
selected investment property portfolio every 2 to 3 years.

7.6	 Material accounting policy information

(a)	 Recognition and measurement

	 Investment properties are initially measured at cost. Subsequent to the initial recognition, the investment 
properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

(b)	 Depreciation

	 Depreciation is calculated using straight-line method to allocate the depreciable amounts over the 
estimated useful lives. The principal annual depreciation periods of buildings are 50 years.

8.	 Goodwill

	 	 Group
						      2024	 2023
						      RM’000	 RM’000

Cost			 
At 1 January/31 December						      2,788	 2,788
			 
Accumulated impairment loss			 
At 1 January/31 December						      (86)	 (86)

						      2,702	 2,702
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8.	 Goodwill (Cont’d)

8.1	 Impairment testing for cash-generating units containing goodwill

	 For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Group’s operating divisions which represent 
the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.

	 The aggregate carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each unit are as follows:

	 	 Group
						      2024	 2023
						      RM’000	 RM’000

Trading						      2,024	 2,024
Multiple units without significant goodwill					     678	 678

						      2,702	 2,702

			 
	 The recoverable amount of the trading unit was based on its value in use, determined by discounting future 

cash flows to be generated by the trading unit. The carrying amount of the unit were determined to be lower 
than its recoverable amount. No impairment was recognised during the year.  

	 Value in use of the trading unit was determined by discounting the future cash flows expected to be generated 
from the continuing use of the unit and was based on the following key assumptions:

•	 Cash flows were projected based on past experience, actual operating results and the 5-year business 
plan.

•	 The anticipated annual revenue growth included in the cash flow projections was 8% (2023: 4.2% - 
11.2%) per annum.

•	 Gross profit margin were projected at 0.75% (2023: 0.5%).
•	 A pre-tax discount rate of 10.69% (2023: 10.1%) was applied in determining the recoverable amount of 

the unit. The discount rate was based on the Group’s weighted average cost of capital.

	 The values assigned to the key assumptions represent management’s assessment of future trends in the cash-
generating units and are based on both external sources and internal historical data.

	 The above estimates are not particularly sensitive.

8.2	 Material accounting policy information

	 Goodwill is initially measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. A bargain purchase gain is 
recognised in profit or loss immediately.
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9.	 Inventories

	 Group	 Company
				    2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

							     
Finished goods				    53,372	 56,049	 43,269	 36,995
Raw materials				    74,471	 92,267	 74,243	 91,820
Good-in-transit				    18,403	 7,707	 18,402	 7,707
Consumables				    1,458	 1,072	 1,458	 1,071

				    147,704	 157,095	 137,372	 137,593
Less: Allowance for slowmoving and obsolete stock		  (601)	 (1,275)	 (601)	 (1,092)

				    147,103	 155,820	 136,771	 136,501

							     
Recognised in profit or loss:	 						    
Inventories recognised as cost of sales			   230,460	 223,428	 292,323	 286,601
Reversal of allowance for slow-moving and
   obsolete stock (included in cost of sales)			   (674)	 -	 (491)	 -
Reversal of inventories previously written down 
   (included in cost of sales)				    -	 (1,082)	 -	 (1,082)

9.1	 Reversal of allowance for slow-moving and obsolete stock

	 The reversal of allowance for slow-moving and obsolete stock was in respect of slow-moving inventories sold 
during the financial year.

9.2	 Reversal of inventories previously written down

	 The net realisable value (“NRV”) of inventories was determined based on estimated selling price of the product 
less the estimated cost to make the sale. In the previous financial year, following a change in selling price, 
RM1,082,000 of the write-down was reversed.

9.3	 Significant judgements and assumptions in relation to valuation of inventories

	 For the allowance for slow-moving and obsolete inventories, reviews are made periodically by management 
considering the inventory provision policy and ageing. For the finished goods, calculations in arriving at the 
net realisable values are assessed by management using the estimated selling prices with reference to selling 
prices for sales subsequent to the reporting date.

	 These reviews require significant judgement and estimates. Possible changes in these estimates could result 
in revisions to the valuation of inventories.

9.4	 Material accounting policy information

	 Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is calculated 
using the weighted average cost method and comprises all costs of purchase, cost of conversion plus other 
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.
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10.	 Trade and other receivables

	 Group	 Company
			   Note	 2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	
Current
Trade
Trade receivables from contracts with customers			  84,595	 87,449	 66,938	 52,973
Less: Impairment losses				    (474)	 (1,211)	 (360)	 (856)

				    84,121	 86,238	 66,578	 52,117
Amount due from subsidiaries			   10.1	 -	 -	 6,086	 27,702

				    84,121	 86,238	 72,664	 79,819
								      

Non-trade
Amount due from subsidiaries			   10.2	 -	 -	 10,948	 14,301
Other receivables				    492	 1,568	 1,766	 208
Deposits			   10.3	 1,036	 1,561	 1,376	 1,403
Prepayments			   10.4	 16,236	 10,527	 14,729	 10,446

				    17,764	 13,656	 28,819	 26,358

				    101,885	 99,894	 101,483	 106,177

10.1	 Amount due from subsidiaries – Trade

	 The trade amount due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and subjected to normal trade credit 
terms. 

10.2	 Amount due from subsidiaries – Non-trade

	 The non-trade amount due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand except for 
the amount due from LF Engineering Sdn. Bhd. of RM10,855,911 (2023:RM14,123,293) which is unsecured, 
subject to interest of 5.32% (2023: 5.32%) per annum and repayable on demand.

10.3	 Deposits

	 Included in deposits of the Group and of the Company are amounts of RM611,034 and RM611,034, respectively 
(2023: RM1,207,184 and RM1,207,184, respectively) which represented deposits paid in respect of purchase of 
property, plant and equipment.

10.4	 Prepayments

	 Included in prepayments of the Group and of the Company are amounts of RM13,929,864 and RM13,929,864, 
respectively (2023: RM8,300,546 and RM8,300,546, respectively) which represented advance payment to 
suppliers for future supply of goods. The amount will be offset against future purchases from suppliers.
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11.	 Contract assets

	 	 Group
						      2024	 2023
						      RM’000	 RM’000

At 1 January						      8,459	 616
Performance obligations performed					     14,314	 23,349
Transfer to trade receivables						      (17,420)	 (15,506)

						      5,353	 8,459
Allowance for impairment losses						      (616)	 (616)

At 31 December						      4,737	 7,843

	 The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right to consideration for work completed on construction contracts 
but not yet billed at the reporting date, subject to certification of the milestone achieved for billing. Typically, the 
amount will be billed within 30 days and payment is expected within 60 days from invoice date.

	 Included in contract assets at 31 December 2024 are retentions of RM1,991,336 (2023: RM1,345,528) relating to 
construction work-in-progress. Retentions are unsecured, interest free and are expected to be collected as follows:

	 	 Group
						      2024	 2023
						      RM’000	 RM’000

Within 1 year						      1,991	 1,345

12.	 Other investments

	 Group	 Company
				    2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	
Current
Deposits with licensed banks:							     
- Amortised cost				    7,584	 6,102	 6,938	 5,581

12.1	 Security

	 The deposits with licensed banks are pledged as security for banking facilities granted to the Group and the 
Company as disclosed in Note 15.

12.2	 Material accounting policy information

	 The Group classifies deposits with licensed banks pledged to a licensed bank as a security granted to the 
Group and the Company as other investments.
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13.	 Cash and cash equivalents

	 Group	 Company
			   Note	 2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	
Bank balances				    4,142	 18,096	 1,278	 13,496

Cash and cash equivalents in the statements 
   of financial position				    4,142	 18,096	 1,278	 13,496
Bank overdraft			   15	 (9,316)	 (5,954)	 (9,316)	 (5,954)

Cash and cash equivalents in the statements 
   of cash flows				    (5,174)	 12,142	 (8,038)	 7,542

14.	 Capital and reserves

	 Share capital	 Group and Company
				    Number		  Number
				    of shares	 Amount	 of shares	 Amount
				    2024	 2024	 2023	 2023
				    ’000	 RM’000	 ’000	 RM’000

							     
Issued and fully paid shares with no par value classified 
   as equity instruments:							     
   Ordinary shares 							     
      At 1 January/31 December				    1,481,013	 146,909	 1,481,013	 146,909

14.1	 Ordinary shares

	 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time, and are entitled 
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.  

	 Reserves
	 Group	 Company

				    2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	
Revaluation reserve				    49,328	 45,732	 47,539	 43,943
Retained profits				    23,599	 21,178	 18,249	 12,606

				    72,927	 66,910	 65,788	 56,549

14.2	 Revaluation reserve

	 The revaluation reserve relates to the revaluation of freehold land and buildings of the Group and of the 
Company (net of deferred tax, where applicable) presented under property, plant and equipment.
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15.	 Loans and borrowings

	 Group	 Company
			   Note	 2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	
Non-current
Term loans			   15.1	 5,391	 5,719	 5,391	 5,719
Hire purchase				    3,883	 649	 3,371	 620

				    9,274	 6,368	 8,762	 6,339

Current
Term loans			   15.1	 328	 3,088	 328	 3,088
Hire purchase				    1,165	 749	 985	 650
Bankers’ acceptance and trust receipts		  15.2	 139,892	 165,812	 137,795	 165,201
Revolving credit				    10,000	 10,000	 10,000	 10,000
Bank overdraft			   13	 9,316	 5,954	 9,316	 5,954

				    160,701	 185,603	 158,424	 184,893

				    169,975	 191,971	 167,186	 191,232

15.1	 Term loans

	 Security

	 The bank loans are secured over land and buildings (see Note 6), investment properties (see Note 7) and fixed 
deposits with licensed banks (see Note 12).

15.2	 Bankers’ acceptance and trust receipts

	 Security
	
	 The bankers’ acceptance and trust receipts are secured over a facility agreement, land and buildings (see Note 

6), investment properties (see Note 7) and fixed deposits with licensed banks (see Note 12).

	 The Company provides financial guarantee amounting to RM2,097,000 (2023: RM611,000) as at the reporting 
date to a financial institution for the banking facilities granted to a subsidiary. 

15.3	 Significant loan covenant

	 The term loans and bankers’ acceptance contain a bank covenant which requires the Group to maintain a 
maximum debt-to-equity ratio of 1.5 of which as at 31 December 2024, the debt to equity ratio as disclosed in 
Note 28 was 0.76 (2023:0.82).
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16.	 Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

16.1	 Recognised deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

	 Assets	 Liabilities	 Net
		  2024	 2023	 2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	
Group
Property, plant and equipment	 -	 -	 (4,146)	 (3,516)	 (4,146)	 (3,516)
Revaluation of freehold land 
   and buildings		  -	 -	 (6,250)	 (5,879)	 (6,250)	 (5,879)
Other items		  648	 -	 -	 -	 648	 -

Tax assets/(liabilities)		  648	 -	 (10,396)	 (9,395)	 (9,748)	 (9,395)
Set-off of tax		  (648)	 -	 648	 -	 -	 -

Net tax liabilities		  -	 -	 (9,748)	 (9,395)	 (9,748)	 (9,395)
								      

Company
Property, plant and equipment	 -	 -	 (4,077)	 (3,428)	 (4,077)	 (3,428)
Revaluation of freehold land 
   and buildings		  -	 -	 (6,051)	 (5,680)	 (6,051)	 (5,680)
Other items		  648 	 -	 -	 -	 648	 -

Tax assets/ (liabilities)		  648	 -	 (10,128)	 (9,108)	 (9,480)	 (9,108)
Set-off of tax		  (648)	 -	 648	 -	 -	 -

Net tax liabilities		  -	 -	 (9,480)	 (9,108)	 (9,480)	 (9,108)

16.2	 Unrecognised deferred tax assets

	 Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items (stated at gross):

	 	 Group
						      2024	 2023
						      RM’000	 RM’000

Unutilised tax losses						      3,378	 2,753
Other deductible temporary differences					     1,735	 1,454

						      5,113	 4,207

	 Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in the financial year in respect of these items because it is not 
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the Group can utilise the benefits thereon.
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16.	 Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) (Cont’d)

16.2	 Unrecognised deferred tax assets (Cont’d)

	 Pursuant to the Finance Act 2021, the ability to carry forward unutilised tax losses is extended to a maximum 
period of ten consecutive Years of Assessment (“YA”), effective YA 2019.

	 Unutilised tax losses for YA 2018 and before may be utilised for the purpose of deduction for YA 2021 and 
subsequent years of assessment until the YA 2028 and any amount which has not been utilised shall be 
disregarded. The unabsorbed capital allowances do not expire under current tax legislation.

16.2.1	Unutilised tax losses

	 Unutilised tax losses of the Company is subject to Income Tax Act 1967 of which the accumulated losses 
can be carried forward up to 10 years as shown below: 

	 	 Group
						      2024	 2023
						      RM’000	 RM’000

Year of assessment in which the unutilised tax losses will expire:			
- 2029						      487	 918
- 2030						      324	 324
- 2031						      107	 107
- 2032						      170	 170
- 2033						      1,234	 1,234
- 2034						      1,056	 -

						      3,378	 2,753

16.3	 Movement in temporary differences during the year

		  		  At 31		  Recognised
			   Recognised	 December	 Recognised	 in other
		  At 1	 in profit	  2023/	 in profit	comprehensive	 At 31 
		  January	 or loss	 1 January	 or loss	 income	 December 
		  2023	 (Note 21)	 2024	 (Note 21)	 (Note 23)	 2024
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Group						    
Property, plant and equipment	 (5,516)	 2,000	 (3,516)	 (629)	 -	 (4,145)
Revaluation of freehold land 
   and buildings		  (5,879)	 -	 (5,879)	 -	 (372)	 (6,251)
Other items		  -	 -	 -	 648	 -	 648

		  (11,395)	 2,000	 (9,395)	 19	 (372)	 (9,748)
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16.	 Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) (Cont’d)

16.3	 Movement in temporary differences during the year (Cont’d)

		  		  At 31		  Recognised
			   Recognised	 December	 Recognised	 in other
		  At 1	 in profit	  2023/	 in profit	comprehensive	 At 31 
		  January	 or loss	 1 January	 or loss	 income	 December 
		  2023	 (Note 21)	 2024	 (Note 21)	 (Note 23)	 2024
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Company						    
Property, plant and equipment	 (5,428)	 2,000	 (3,428)	 (648)	 -	 (4,076)
Revaluation of freehold land 
   and buildings		  (5,680)	 -	 (5,680)	 -	 (372)	 (6,052)
Other items		  -	 -	 -	 648	 -	 648

		  (11,108)	 2,000	 (9,108)	 -	 (372)	 (9,480)

16.4	 Material accounting policy information

	 Where freehold land and buildings are carried at fair value, the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured 
using the tax rates that would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying values at the reporting date unless 
the property is depreciable and is held with the objective to consume substantially all of the economic benefits 
embodied in the property over time, rather than through sale. In all other cases, the amount of deferred tax 
recognised is measured based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of 
the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

17.	 Trade and other payables

	 Group	 Company
			   Note	 2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	
Trade
Trade payables				    44,156	 28,672	 32,351	 17,243
Amount due to subsidiaries			   17.1	 -	 -	 3,052	 750

				    44,156	 28,672	 35,403	 17,993
								      

Non-trade
Other payables				    2,334	 1,359	 2,153	 571
Accrued expenses				    6,846	 4,746	 2,587	 3,012
Amount due to ultimate holding company		  17.2	 2,913	 4,011	 2,913	 -
Amount due to subsidiaries			   17.3	 -	 -	 724	 -

				    12,093	 10,116	 8,377	 3,583

				    56,249	 38,788	 43,780	 21,576
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17.	 Trade and other payables (Cont’d)

17.1	 Amount due to subsidiaries – Trade

	 The trade amount due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and subjected to normal trade credit terms. 

17.2	 Amount due to ultimate holding company and amount due to subsidiaries – Non-trade

	 The non-trade amount due to ultimate holding company are unsecured, subject to interest of 5.32% (2023: nil) 
and repayable on demand.

17.3	 Amount due to subsidiaries – Non-trade

	 The non-trade amount due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

18.	 Derivative financial liabilities

	 2024	 2023
			   	 Nominal 		  Nominal	
				    value	 Liabilities	 value	 Liabilities
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Group and Company
Derivatives at fair value through profit or loss						   

- Forward exchange contracts				    -	 -	 38,419	 416

	 In the previous financial year, forward exchange contracts were used to manage the foreign currency exposures 
arising from the Group’s payables denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of Group entities. 
Most of the forward exchange contracts have maturities of less than one year after the end of the reporting period. 
Where necessary, the forward contracts are rolled over at maturity. 
 

19.	 Revenue

	 Group	 Company
				    2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	
Revenue from contracts with customers			   404,386	 370,016	 334,792	 312,806

19.1	 Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

	 Group	 Company
				    2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	
Major products and service lines
Construction contracts				    14,314	 23,349	 -	 -
Sales of steel products				    389,284	 346,574	 334,792	 312,806
Rendering of transport and courier services		  788	 93	 -	 -

				    404,386	 370,016	 334,792	 312,806
							     

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LEFORM BERHAD140



19.	 Revenue (Cont’d)

19.1	 Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)

	 Group	 Company
				    2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	
Timing of recognition	 						    
At a point in time				    390,072	 346,667	 334,792	 312,806
Over time				    14,314	 23,349	 -	 -

				    404,386	 370,016	 334,792	 312,806

19.2	 Nature of goods and services

	 The following information reflects the typical transactions of the Group:

Nature of 
goods or 
services

Timing of recognition 
or method used to 

recognised revenue

Significant 
payment 

terms
Variable element 
in consideration

Obligation 
for returns 
or refunds Warranty

Construction 
contracts

Revenue is recognised 
over time when the 

services are rendered 
using the input method by 
reference to the progress 

towards complete 
satisfaction of that 

performance obligation 
if control of the asset 
transfers over time.

Based on 
agreed 

milestones, 
certified by 
architects. 

Credit period 
of 60 days 

from invoice 
date.

Not applicable. Not 
applicable.

Defect 
liability 

period of 
12 to 24 

months is 
given to the 
customer.

Sale of steel 
products

Revenue is recognised 
at a point in time when 
the goods are delivered 

and accepted by the 
customers at their 

premises.

Credit period 
of 14 to 150 
days from 

invoice date.

Discounts are given 
to customers where 
the customers pay 
within the specified 

credit term and 
sales quota per 
sales invoice are 

met.

Some sales 
contracts 

allow 
customers 

to return the 
goods within 
a specified 

period.

Not 
applicable.

Rendering 
of transport 
and courier 

services

Revenue is recognised 
at a point in time upon 

completion of the service 
and acceptance by 

customers. 

Credit period 
of 30 days 

from invoice 
date. 

Not applicable. Not 
applicable.

Not 
applicable.

19.3	 Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations

	 The Group applies the practical expedients on the exemption on disclosure of information on remaining 
performance obligations that have original expected durations of one year or less.
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20.	 Finance costs

	 Group	 Company
				    2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	
Interest expense in financial liabilities that are not 
   at fair value through profit or loss			   11,286	 12,663	 10,897	 12,360

21.	 Tax expense

21.1	 Recognised in profit or loss

	 Group	 Company
				    2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	
Current tax expense							     
- Current year				    183	 175	 112	 -
- Under/(Over) provision in prior year			   40	 (1,330)	 -	 (1,181)

				    223	 (1,155)	 112	 (1,181)
							     

Deferred tax expense							     
- Origination and reversal of temporary differences		  2,235	 (2,000)	 2,235	 (2,000)
- Over provision in prior year			   (2,254)	 -	 (2,235)	 -

				    (19)	 (2,000)	 -	 (2,000)

Total income tax expense/(credit)			   204	 (3,155)	 112	 (3,181)

21.2	 Reconciliation of tax expense

	 Group	 Company
				    2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	
Profit/(Loss) before tax				    1,632	 (8,296)	 5,755	 (9,928)

							     
Income tax calculated using Malaysian tax rate of 24% 
   (2023: 24%)				    392	 (1,991)	 1,381	 (2,383)
Non-deductible expenses				    2,241	 585	 1,398	 383
Tax exempt income				    (432)	 (37)	 (432)	 -
Deferred tax assets not recognised during the year		  225	 48	 -	 -
Utilisation of temporary differences previously not recognised	 (8)	 (430)	 -	 -
Under/(Over) provision in prior years
- current tax				    40	 (1,330)	 -	 (1,181)
- deferred tax				    (2,254)	 -	 (2,235)	 -

				    204	 (3,155)	 112	 (3,181)
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21.	 Tax expense (Cont’d)

21.3	 Income tax recognised directly in equity

	 Group	 Company
			   Note	 2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	
Revaluation of freehold land and buildings	
- deferred tax			   16 	 372	 -	 372	 -

22.	 Profit/(Loss) for the year

	 Group	 Company
			   Note	 2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	
Profit/(Loss) for the year is arrived after 
   charging/(crediting):					   
Auditors’ remunerations
Audit fees:
- KPMG PLT				    350	 -	 163	 -
- Other auditors				    -	 280	 -	 130
Non-audit fees:
- KPMG PLT				    10	 -	 10	 -
- Local affiliates of KPMG PLT				    70	 -	 17	 -
- Other auditors				    -	 67	 -	 31

Material expenses/ (income)							     
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment		  (149)	 (70)	 -	 (50)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment		  6	 7,153	 7,430	 6,255	 6,463
Depreciation of investment properties		  7	 224	 225	 111	 111
Depreciation of right-of-use assets		  5	 30	 -	 -	 -
Personnel expenses (including key management personnel):	
- Short-term employee benefits				    14,904	 12,144	 10,834	 8,166
- Defined contribution benefits				    645	 594	 468	 429
Unrealised loss on derivatives				    -	 416	 -	 416
Realised gain on foreign exchange				   (774)	 (426)	 (624)	 (335)
Interest income				    (195)	 (814)	 (924)	 (814)

								      

Net (gain)/loss on impairment of financial instruments 
   and contract assets
Financial asset at amortised cost				    (737)	 704	 (496)	 856
Contract assets				    -	 616	 -	 -
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23.	 Other comprehensive income

Group and Company					     Before tax	Tax expense	 Net of tax
2024					     RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss			 
Revaluation of properties					     3,968	 (372)	 3,596

24. 	 Earnings/(Loss) per ordinary share

24.1	 Basic earnings/(loss) per ordinary share

	 The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per ordinary share was based on the profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary 
shareholders and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, calculated as follows:

	 	 Group
						      2024	 2023
						      RM’000	 RM’000

Profit/(Loss) for the year attributable to owners of the Company 			   2,421	 (4,960)
			 

	 	 Group
						      2024	 2023
						      000	 000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares as at 31 December 			   1,481,013	 1,481,013
			 

	 	 Group
						      2024	 2023
						      sen	 sen

Basic earnings/(loss) per ordinary share 					     0.16	 (0.33)

24.2	 Diluted earnings/(loss) per ordinary share

	 The diluted earnings/(loss) per ordinary share is equal to the basic earnings/(loss) per share because there were 
no dilutive potential ordinary shares during the financial year.
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25.	 Dividends

Dividends recognised by the Company:

		  Sen per share	 Total amount	 Date of payment
		  RM	 RM’000	

2023
Final 2023 ordinary	 0.9	 13,329	 17 February 2023

			 
There were no dividends recognised in the current financial year.

26.	 Operating segments 

	 The Group has three reportable segments, as described below, which are the Group’s strategic business units. The 
strategic business units offer different products and services, and are managed separately because they require 
different technology and marketing strategies. For each of the strategic business units, the Chief Operating Decision 
Maker (“CODM”) (i.e. the Group’s Managing Director) reviews internal management reports at least on a quarterly 
basis.  The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

•	 Manufacturing	 Involved in manufacturing of steel products comprising steel pipes, guardrails and flat steel 
products.

•	 Trading	 Involved in trading of steel products which are deemed complementary to its manufacturing 
segment.

•	 Others	 Involved in provision of transport and carrier services of the Group’s finished steel products.

	 Performance is measured based on segment results (profit before interest and tax), as included in the internal 
management reports that are reviewed by the CODM.  Segment profit is used to measure performance as management 
believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other 
entities that operate within these industries. Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable 
to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis excluding tax asset and tax liabilities. 
Unallocated items comprise of corporate assets, liabilities and expenses. 

	 Segment assets

	 The total of segment asset is measured based on all assets (including goodwill) excluding tax assets of a segment, as 
included in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the CODM.  Segment total asset is used to measure 
the return on assets of each segment.

	 Segment liabilities

	 The total of segment liabilities is measured based on all liabilities excluding tax liabilities of a segment, as included 
in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the CODM.  

	 Segment capital expenditure

	 Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the financial year to acquire property, plant and 
equipment.
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26.	 Operating segments (Cont’d)

		  		 Manufacturing	 Trading	 Others	 Total
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

2024				  
Segment profit				    14,383	 354	 66	 14,803

				  
Included in the measure of segment profit are:				  
Revenue from external customers				   288,732	 115,530	 124	 404,386
Inter-segment revenue				    72,468	 1,600	 2,493	 76,561
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment			   6,640	 283	 230	 7,153
Depreciation of investment properties			   110	 114	 -	 224
Depreciation of right-of-use assets			   -	 30	 -	 30
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 		  (149)	 -	 -	 (149)
Realised gain on foreign exchange				   (774)	 -	 -	 (774)
Reversal of impairment losses on trade receivables		  (737)	 -	 -	 (737)
				  
Not included in the measure of segment profit 
   but provided to CODM				  
Interest income				    940	 -	 -	 940
Interest expenses				    (12,034)	 (8)	 -	 (12,042)
Tax expense				    (112)	 (92)	 -	 (204)

				  
Segment assets				    427,326	 28,353	 1,424	 457,103

				  
Included in the measure of segment assets are:	 			 
Additions to non-current assets other than financial instruments 
   and deferred tax assets				    21,953	 4,187	 -	 26,140

				  
Segment liabilities				    215,327	 10,919	 151	 226,397

2023				  
Segment profit				    1,977	 1,918	 192	 4,087

				  
Included in the measure of segment profit are:	 			 
Revenue from external customers				   264,461	 105,462	 93	 370,016
Inter-segment revenue				    88,988	 221	 2,361	 91,570
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment			   6,720	 326	 384	 7,430
Depreciation of investment properties			   111	 113	 1	 225
Impairment loss on trade receivables			   856	 -	 -	 856
Impairment loss on contract assets			   616	 -	 -	 616
Unrealised loss on derivatives				    416	 -	 -	 416
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 		  (50)	 -	 (20)	 (70)
Realised gain on foreign exchange:			   (426)	 -	 -	 (426)
Reversal of impairment losses on trade receivables		  (85)	 (67)	 -	 (152)
Reversal of inventories previously written down			   (1,082)	 -	 -	 (1,082)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LEFORM BERHAD146



26.	 Operating segments (Cont’d)

		  		 Manufacturing	 Trading	 Others	 Total
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

2023 (Cont’d)				  
Not included in the measure of segment profit 
   but provided to CODM				  
Interest income				    814	 -	 -	 814
Interest expenses				    (12,655)	 (5)	 (3)	 (12,663)
Tax expense				    3,168	 (68)	 55	 3,155

				  
Segment assets				    434,160	 17,721	 1,269	 453,150

				  
Included in the measure of segment assets are:	 			 
Additions to non-current assets other than 
   financial instruments and deferred tax assets			   19,706	 468	 -	 20,174

				  
Segment liabilities				    229,382	 1,967	 62	 231,411

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities

	 	 Group
						      2024	 2023
						      RM’000	 RM’000

Profit or loss			 
Total profit or loss for reportable segments					     14,803	 4,087
Elimination of inter-segment profits					     (2,080)	 (534)
Finance costs						      (11,286)	 (12,663)
Finance income						      195	 814

Consolidated profit/(loss) (excluding tax)					     1,632	 (8,296)

			 
Segment assets			 
Total assets for reportable segments					     457,103	 453,150
Unallocated assets:			 
- current tax assets						      11,372	 11,447
Consolidation adjustment						      (11,607)	 (8,050)

Consolidated total assets						      456,868	 456,547

			 
Segment liabilities			 
Total liabilities for reportable segments					     226,397	 231,411
Unallocated liabilities:		
- current tax liabilities						      12	 17
- deferred tax liabilities						      9,748	 9,395
Consolidation adjustment						      (173)	 (236)

Consolidated total assets						      235,984	 240,587
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26.	 Operating segments (Cont’d)

	 Geographical segments

	 The trading segments are managed on a worldwide basis but operate manufacturing facilities and sales offices in 
Malaysia (country of domicile).

	 In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment revenue is based on geographical location 
of customers.

	 Group	 Company
				    2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	
Geographical information	 						    
Cambodia				    -	 339	 -	 -
Malaysia				    404,386	 368,602	 334,792	 312,806
New Zealand				    -	 1,075	 -	 -

				    404,386	 370,016	 334,792	 312,806

Major customer

There are no major customer with revenue equal to or more than 10% of the Group’s total revenue.

27.	 Financial instruments

27.1	 Categories of financial instruments

	 The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments as at 31 December 2024 categorised as follows:

(a)	 Amortised cost (“AC”) 
(b)	 Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)

-	 Mandatorily required by MFRS 9

					     Carrying		  Mandatorily 
					     amount	 AC	 at FVTPL
					     RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Group			 
2024			 
Financial assets			 
Trade and other receivables (exclude prepayment)			   85,649	 85,649	 -
Other investments					     7,584	 7,584	 -
Cash and cash equivalents					     4,142	 4,142	 -

					     97,375	 97,375	 -
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27.	 Financial instruments (Cont’d)

27.1	 Categories of financial instruments (Cont’d)

					     Carrying		  Mandatorily 
					     amount	 AC	 at FVTPL
					     RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Group (Cont’d)			 
2024			 
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables					     (56,249)	 (56,249)	 -
Loans and borrowings					     (169,975)	 (169,975)	 -

					     (226,224)	 (226,224)	 -

2023			 
Financial assets			 
Trade and other receivables (exclude prepayment)			   89,367	 89,367	 -
Other investments					     6,102	 6,102	 -
Cash and cash equivalents					     18,096	 18,096	 -

					     113,565	 113,565	 -
			 

Financial liabilities			 
Trade and other payables					     (38,788)	 (38,788)	 -
Loans and borrowings					     (191,971)	 (191,971)	 -
Derivative liabilities					     (416)	 -	 (416)

					     (231,175)	 (230,759)	 (416)

Company			 
2024			 
Financial assets			 
Trade and other receivables (exclude prepayment)			   86,754	 86,754	 -
Other investments					     6,938	 6,938	 -
Cash and cash equivalents					     1,278	 1,278	 -

					     94,970	 94,970	 -

			 
Financial liabilities			 
Trade and other payables					     (43,780)	 (43,780)	 -
Loans and borrowings					     (167,186)	 (167,186)	 -

					     (210,966)	 (210,966)	 -
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27.	 Financial instruments (Cont’d)

27.1	 Categories of financial instruments (Cont’d)

					     Carrying		  Mandatorily 
					     amount	 AC	 at FVTPL
					     RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

2023			 
Financial assets			 
Trade and other receivables (exclude prepayment)			   95,731	 95,731	 -
Other investments					     5,581	 5,581	 -
Cash and cash equivalents					     13,496	 13,496	 -

					     114,808	 114,808	 -

			 
Financial liabilities			 
Trade and other payables					     (21,576)	 (21,576)	 -
Loans and borrowings					     (191,232)	 (191,232)	 -
Derivative liabilities					     (416)	 -	 (416)

					     (213,224)	 (212,808)	 (416)

27.2	 Net gains and losses arising from financial instruments

	 Group	 Company
				    2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Net gains/(losses) on:
							     
Financial liabilities at FVTPL:
-	 Mandatorily required by MFRS 9 			   416	 (416)	 416	 (416)
Financial assets at AC				    970	 110	 1,420	 (42)
Financial liabilities at AC				    (10,966)	 (12,237)	 (10,689)	 (12,025)

				    (9,580)	 (12,543)	 (8,853)	 (12,483)

27.3	 Financial risk management

	 The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

•	 Credit risk
•	 Liquidity risk
•	 Market risk
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27.	 Financial instruments (Cont’d)

27.4	 Credit risk

	 Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet 
its contractual obligations. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises principally from trade receivables. The 
Company’s exposure to credit risk arises principally from trade receivables and amount due from subsidiaries. 
There are no significant changes as compared to prior periods.

	 Trade receivables and contract assets

	 Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk

	 Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis.  
Normally financial guarantees given by shareholders or directors of customers are obtained, and credit 
evaluations are performed on customers requiring credit over a certain amount.

	 At each reporting date, the Group or the Company assesses whether any of the trade receivables and contract 
assets are credit impaired. 

	 The gross carrying amounts of credit impaired trade receivables and contract assets are written off (either 
partially or fully) when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group or the 
Company determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient 
cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. Nevertheless, trade receivables and contract assets 
that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities.

	 There are no significant changes as compared to previous year.

	 Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral

	 As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables and 
contract assets are represented by the carrying amounts in the statement of financial position.

	 Recognition and measurement of impairment losses

	 In managing credit risk of trade receivables, the Group manages its debtors and takes appropriate actions 
(including but not limited to legal actions) to recover long overdue balances. Generally, trade receivables will 
pay within the specified credit terms. The Group’s debt recovery process is as follows:

a)	 Above 60 days past due after credit term, the Group will start to initiate a structured debt recovery 
process which is monitored by the sales management team

b)	 Above 120 days past due, the Group will commence a legal proceeding against the customer.

	 The Group adopts the simplified approach and uses an allowance matrix to measure ECLs of trade receivables 
for all segments. Consistent with the debt recovery process, invoices which are past due 90 days will be 
considered as credit impaired.

	 Loss rates are calculated using a ‘roll rate’ method based on the probability of a receivable progressing through 
successive stages of delinquency to 90 days past due.
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27.	 Financial instruments (Cont’d)
 
27.4	 Credit risk (Cont’d)

	 Trade receivables and contract assets (Cont’d)

	 Recognition and measurement of impairment losses (Cont’d)

	 The Group also considers differences between (a) economic conditions during the period over which the 
historic data has been collected, (b) current conditions and (c) the Group’s view of economic conditions over 
the expected lives of the receivables. Nevertheless, the Group believes that these factors are immaterial for the 
purpose of impairment calculation for the year.

	 For construction contracts, as there are only a few customers, the Group assessed the risk of loss of each 
customer individually based on their financial information, past trend of payments and external credit ratings, 
where applicable. All of these customers have low risk of default.

	 The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables and 
contract assets which are grouped together as they are expected to have similar risk nature.
								      
					     Gross
					     carrying	 Loss	 Net
Group					     amount	 allowances	 balance
					     RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

2024			 
Current (not past due)					     73,375	 (168)	 73,207
1 to 90 days past due					     15,846	 (195)	 15,651

					     89,221	 (363)	 88,858

			 
Credit impaired			 
More than 90 days past due					    727	 (727)	 -

					     89,948	 (1,090)	 88,858

			 
Trade receivables					     84,595	 (474)	 84,121
Contract assets					     5,353	 (616)	 4,737

					     89,948	 (1,090)	 88,858
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27.	 Financial instruments (Cont’d)
 
27.4	 Credit risk (Cont’d)

	 Trade receivables and contract assets (Cont’d)

	 Recognition and measurement of impairment losses (Cont’d)
		  			   Gross
					     carrying	 Loss	 Net
Group (Cont’d)					     amount	 allowances	 balance
					     RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

2023			 
Current (not past due)					     73,645	 (673)	 72,972
1 to 90 days past due					     21,253	 (183)	 21,070

					     94,898	 (856)	 94,042

			 
Credit impaired			 
More than 90 days past due					    1,010	 (971)	 39

					     95,908	 (1,827)	 94,081

			 
Trade receivables					     87,449	 (1,211)	 86,238
Contract assets					     8,459	 (616)	 7,843

					     95,908	 (1,827)	 94,081

	 The movements in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables and contract assets during the 
year are shown below.

				    Trade receivables	 Contract
					     Credit 	 asset
				   Lifetime ECL	 impaired	Lifetime ECL	 Total
Group				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

				  
At 1 January 2023				    101	 406	 616	 1,123
Net remeasurement of loss allowance			   755	 (51)	 -	 704

At 31 December 2023/1 January 2024			   856	 355	 616	 1,827
Net remeasurement of loss allowance			   (493)	 (244)	 -	 (737)

At 31 December 2024				    363	 111	 616	 1,090

	 Cash and cash equivalents and deposits with licensed banks

	 The cash and cash equivalents and deposits are held with banks and financial institutions. As at the end of the 
reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by their carrying amounts in the statement 
of financial position. 
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27.	 Financial instruments (Cont’d)
 
27.4	 Credit risk (Cont’d)

	 Cash and cash equivalents and deposits with licensed banks (Cont’d)

	 These banks and financial institutions have low credit risks. In addition, some of the bank balances are insured 
by government agencies. Consequently, the Group and the Company are of the view that the loss allowance is 
not material and hence, it is not provided for.

	 Other receivables

	 Credit risks on other receivables are mainly arising from insurance receivables and deposits paid for hire 
purchase arrangement. The Group and the Company manage the credit risk together with the hire purchase 
arrangement.

	 As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by their carrying 
amounts in the statement of financial position.

	 As at the end of the reporting period, the Group and the Company are of the view that the loss allowance is not 
material and hence, it is not provided for. 

	 Financial guarantees

	 Financial guarantees issued are initially measured at fair value. Subsequently, they are measured at higher of:

•	 the amount of the loss allowance; and
•	 the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in 

accordance to the principles of MFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

	 Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk

	 The Company provides unsecured financial guarantees to a bank in respect of banking facilities granted to a 
subsidiary. The Company monitors the ability of the subsidiary to service their loans on an individual basis.

	 Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral

	 The maximum exposure to credit risk amounts to RM2,097,000 (2023: RM611,000) representing the outstanding 
banking facilities of the subsidiary as at the end of the reporting period.

	 The financial guarantees are provided as credit enhancements to the subsidiary’s secured loans.

	 Recognition and measurement of impairment loss

	 The Company assumes that there is a significant increase in credit risk when a subsidiary’s financial position 
deteriorates significantly. The Company considers a financial guarantee to be credit impaired when:

•	 The subsidiary is unlikely to repay its credit obligation to the bank in full; or
•	 The subsidiary is continuously loss making and is having a deficit shareholders’ fund.
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27.	 Financial instruments (Cont’d)
 
27.4	 Credit risk (Cont’d)

	 Cash and cash equivalents and deposits with licensed banks (Cont’d)

	 Financial guarantees (Cont’d)

	 Recognition and measurement of impairment loss (Cont’d)

	 The Company determines the probability of default of the guaranteed loans individually using internal information 
available. 

	 As at the end of the reporting period, the Company is of the view that the loss allowance is not material and 
hence, it is not provided for. 

	 Inter-company loans and advances

	 Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk

	 The Company provides unsecured loans and advances to subsidiaries. The Company monitors the ability of the 
subsidiaries to repay the loans and advances on an individual basis.

	 Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral

	 As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by their carrying 
amounts in the statement of financial position.

	 Loans and advances provided are not secured by any collateral or supported by any other credit enhancements.

	 Recognition and measurement of impairment loss

	 Generally, the Company considers loans and advances to subsidiaries have low credit risk. The Company 
assumes that there is a significant increase in credit risk when a subsidiary’s financial position deteriorates 
significantly. As the Company is able to determine the timing of payments of the subsidiaries’ loans and 
advances when they are payable, the Company considers the loans and advances to be in default when the 
subsidiaries are not able to pay when demanded. The Company considers a subsidiary’s loan or advance to be 
credit impaired when:

•	 The subsidiary is unlikely to repay its loan or advance to the Company in full; or
•	 The subsidiary is continuously loss making and is having a deficit shareholders’ fund.  

	 The Company determines the probability of default for these loans and advances individually using internal 
information available.

	 As at the end of the reporting period, the Group and the Company are of the view that the loss allowance is not 
material and hence, it is not provided for.
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27.	 Financial instruments (Cont’d)
 
27.5	 Liquidity risk

	 Liquidity risk is the risk where the Group and the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations 
as they fall due. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises principally from its various 
payables, loans and borrowings.

	 As of 31 December 2024, the Group and the Company have RM170 million and RM167 million of loans and 
borrowings with RM161 million and RM158 million, respectively, due within the next 12 months. The preparation 
of the financial statements on a going concern basis is dependent on the ability of the Group and the Company 
to utilise available credit facilities and to obtain continuous financial support from their bankers to finance their 
operations to achieve profitable operations in order to pay its loans and borrowings that are due to be paid 
within one year. The Group and the Company remains positive that it will be able to generate sufficient cash 
flows from its existing and new orders secured by its subsidiaries to increase the working capital of the Group 
and the Company.
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27.	 Financial instruments (Cont’d)
 
27.6	 Market risk

	 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and other 
prices that will affect the Group’s financial position or cash flows.

27.6.1	Currency risk

	 The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales, purchases and cash and cash equivalents that 
are denominated in a currency other than the respective functional currencies of Group entities. The 
currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily U.S. Dollar (“USD”).

	 Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk

	 The Group maintains a natural hedge, whenever possible, by buying materials and selling its products 
and services in similar currencies other than its functional currency. In addition, the Group also holds cash 
and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currencies for working capital purposes. In the previous 
financial year, the Group purchases forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge foreign transactions.

	 Exposure to foreign currency risk

	 The Group’s exposure to foreign currency (a currency which is other than the functional currency of the 
Group entities) risk, based on carrying amounts as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

	 Denominated in	 USD
						      Group	 Company
Group						      RM’000	 RM’000

2024		
Balances recognised in the statement of financial position		
Trade and other receivables					     86	 86
Cash and cash equivalents					     185	 -

Net exposure						      271	 86

		
2023		
Balances recognised in the statement of financial position	 	
Trade and other receivables					     438	 -
Cash and cash equivalents					     1	 -
Trade and other payables					     (4,640)	 (480)

Net exposure						      (4,201)	 (480)
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27.	 Financial instruments (Cont’d)
 
27.6	 Market risk (Cont’d)

27.6.1	Currency risk (Cont’d)

	 Currency risk sensitivity analysis

	 A 5% (2023: 5%) strengthening of the MYR against the following currencies at the end of the reporting 
period would have increased/(decreased) equity and post-tax profit or loss by the amounts shown below.  
This analysis is based on foreign currency exchange rate variances that the Group considered to be 
reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in 
particular interest rates, remained constant and ignores any impact of forecasted transactions. 

	 Group	 Company
				    2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

USD				    (10)	 160	 (3)	 18

	 A 5% (2023: 5%) weakening of USD against the above currencies at the end of the reporting period 
would have had equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the 
basis that all other variables remained constant.

27.6.2	Interest rate risk

	 The Group’s investments in fixed deposits and its fixed rate borrowings are exposed to a risk of change 
in their fair value due to changes in interest rates. The Group’s variable rate borrowings are exposed to 
a risk of change in cash flows due to changes in interest rates. Short term receivables and payables are 
not significantly exposed to interest rate risk.

	 Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk

	 The Group adopt a policy of obtaining the most favourable interest rates available and by maintaining a 
balanced portfolio mix of fixed and floating rate borrowings.

	 Exposure to interest rate risk

	 The interest rate profile of the Group’s and the Company’s significant interest-bearing financial 
instruments, based on carrying amounts as at the end of the reporting period was:

	 Group	 Company
				    2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Fixed rate instruments	
Financial assets				    7,584	 6,102	 17,794	 19,704
Financial liabilities				    (7,961)	 (5,409)	 (7,269)	 (1,270)

				    (377)	 693	 10,525	 18,434
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27.	 Financial instruments (Cont’d)
 
27.6	 Market risk (Cont’d)

27.6.2	Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

	 Exposure to interest rate risk (Cont’d)

	 The interest rate profile of the Group’s and the Company’s significant interest-bearing financial 
instruments, based on carrying amounts as at the end of the reporting period was (Cont’d):

	 Group	 Company
				    2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	Floating rate instruments
Financial liabilities				    (164,927)	 (190,573)	 (162,830)	 (189,962)

Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis

(a)	 Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

	 The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss, and the Group does not designate derivatives as hedging instruments under a fair 
value hedge accounting model. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the end of the reporting 
period would not affect profit or loss. 

(b)	 Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

	 A change of 100 basis points (“bp”) in interest rates at the end of the reporting period would 
have increased/(decreased) equity and post-tax profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This 
analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant.

	 2024	 2023
				    100 bp	 100 bp	 100 bp	 100 bp
				    increase	 decrease	 increase	 decrease
Group				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Floating rate instruments			   (1,253)	 1,253	 (1,448)	 1,448
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27.	 Financial instruments (Cont’d)

27.7	 Fair value information

	 The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, deposits with licensed banks, short term receivables and 
payables and short-term borrowings reasonably approximate their fair values due to the relatively short-term 
nature of these financial instruments. 

	 The tables below analyses other financial instruments at fair value.

				    Fair value of financial	
				    instruments carried 	 Total	 Carrying
				    at fair value	 fair value	 amount
Group and Company				    Level 2	 Total
2023				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Financial liabilities	 			 
Forward exchange contracts			   416	 416	 416	 416

Level 2 fair value
	

	 Derivatives

	 The fair value of forward exchange contracts is estimated by discounting the difference between the contractual 
forward price and the current forward price for the residual maturity of the contract using a risk-free interest 
rate (based on government bonds).
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28.	 Capital management
 

	 There was no change in the Group’s approach to capital management during the financial year.  

	 For the purpose of the Group’s capital management, capital includes share capital and all other equity reserves 
attributable to the equity holders of the parent.

	 The Group’s objectives when managing capital is to maintain a strong capital base and safeguard the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future 
development of the business. The Directors monitor and are determined to maintain an optimal debt-to-equity ratio 
that complies with debt covenants and regulatory requirements.

	 During 2024, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged from 2023, was to maintain the debt-to-equity ratio that 
complies with debt covenants and regulatory, if any. The debt-to-equity ratios at 31 December 2024 and at 31 
December 2023 were as follows:

	 	 Group
				    		  2024	 2023
					     Note	 RM’000	 RM’000

				  
Loans and borrowings					     15	 169,975	 191,971
Amount due to ultimate holding company				    17	 2,913	 4,011
Less: Cash and cash equivalents					     13	 (4,121)	 (18,096)
Net debt						      168,767	 177,886

				  
Total equity						      220,884	 215,960

				  
Debt-to-equity ratios						      0.76	 0.82

	 The Group is also required to maintain a maximum debt-to-equity ratio of 1.5 to comply with a bank covenant, failing 
which, the bank may call an event of default (refer Note 15.3). 

29. 	 Capital commitments

	 Group	 Company
				    2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

							     
Contracted but not provided for							    
Purchase of equipment				    2,742	 3,196	 2,742	 3,196
Construction of property				    1,758	 14,082	 1,758	 14,082

				    4,500	 17,278	 4,500	 17,278
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30.	 Related parties 

	 Significant related party transactions

	 Related party transactions have been entered into in the normal course of business under normal trade terms. The 
significant related party transactions of the Group and the Company are shown below.  The balances related to the 
below transactions are shown in Notes 10 and 17.

	 Group	 Company
				    2024	 2023	 2024	 2023
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

							     
A. Subsidiaries							     
    Sales of steel products				    -	 -	 72,469	 88,988
    Labour charges				    -	 -	 217	 420
    Sales of scrap				    -	 -	 1	 303
    Rental of factory				    -	 -	 74	 74
    Carriage outward				    -	 -	 (2,287)	 (2,040)
    Interest income on loans				    -	 -	 745	 -

						    
B. Key management personnel Directors		
    - Fees				    488	 784	 458	 744
    - Remuneration				    3,433	 3,397	 2,155	 2,452
    - Other short-term employee benefits			   363	 365	 265	 281

				    4,284	 4,546	 2,878	 3,477

							     
    Other key management personnel		
    Short-term employee benefits				    902	 761	 902	 761

				    902	 761	 902	 761

				    5,186	 5,307	 3,780	 4,238

	 Other key management personnel comprise persons other than the Directors of Group entities, having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group entities either directly or indirectly.

	 In addition to their salaries the Group also provides non-cash benefits to key management personnel. The estimated 
monetary value of Directors’ benefit-in-kind for the Group and the Company are RM133,168 and RM56,028, 
respectively (2023: RM58,450 and RM51,950).
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31.	 Subsequent events 

a)	 LF Highway Products Sdn. Bhd. from joint venture to 70% owned subsidiary of LFESB

	 On 25 January 2025, Nursofiah binti Md Yusof transferred 20% of her equity interest, comprising of 20 
ordinary shares, in LF Highway Products Sdn. Bhd. to LF Engineering Sdn. Bhd. for a consideration of RM20. 
Consequently, LF Highway Products Sdn. Bhd. became a 70%-owned subsidiary of LFESB.

b)	 Private placement

	 On 28 February 2025, the Company announced that the Board had proposed to undertake a private placement 
of up to 10% of the total number of issued shares of Leform (excluding treasury shares, if any) to third party 
investor(s) to be identified later at an issue price to be determined and announced later, in accordance with 
Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act 2016 (“Private Placement”). 

	 On 25 March 2025, Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad had resolved to approve the listing and quotation of up 
to 148,101,300 ordinary shares in Leform to be issued pursuant to the Private Placement. The Company has 
yet to place out any shares pursuant to the Private Placement as at the reporting date.

c)	 Acceptance of appointment of LFESB as a subcontractor from IJM Construction Sdn. Bhd. (“IJMC”) for 
the provision of plant, labour & material for guardrail works at Section 3 of West Coast Expressway (the 
“Subcontract”)

	 On 21 April 2025, the Company announced LFESB had on even date accepted a Letter of Acceptance from 
IJMC for the appointment of LFESB as a subcontractor for the Subcontract. The sum awarded to LFESB for the 
Subcontract is RM3,007,427 for a project duration of approximately 21 months commencing from April 2025 to 
December 2026.
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STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS &
STATUTORY DECLARATION

STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 251(2) OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2016

In the opinion of the Directors, the financial statements set out on pages 108 to 167 are drawn up in accordance with MFRS 
Accounting Standards as issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board, IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia so as to give a 
true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2024 and of their financial 
performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

Law Kok Thye
Director

Esmariza Binti Ismail
Director

Date: 28 April 2025
Selangor

STATUTORY DECLARATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 251(1)(B) OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2016

I, Wong Kian Ning, the Officer primarily responsible for the financial management of Leform Berhad, do solemnly and sincerely 
declare that the financial statements set out on pages 108 to 167 are, to the best of my knowledge and belief, correct and I 
make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the declaration to be true, and by virtue of the Statutory Declarations 
Act 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the above Wong Kian Ning, MIA CA 38344 at Rawang in Selangor on 28 April 2025.

Wong Kian Ning

Before me:
Lt Kol Ismail Bin Yahya (B)
Commissioner for Oaths
No. B640
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF LEFORM BERHAD
(REGISTRATION NO. 199501001582 (330776-K)) 
(INCORPORATED IN MALAYSIA) 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Leform Berhad, which comprise the statements of financial position as at 31 
December 2024 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the year then ended, and 
notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy information, as set out on pages 108 to 167. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of 
the Company as at 31 December 2024, and of their financial performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with MFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MFRS Accounting 
Standards”), IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IFRS Accounting 
Standards”) and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on 
Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements section of our auditors’ report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence and Other Ethical Responsibilities

We are independent of the Group and of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, Conduct and 
Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws”) and the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”), 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the By-Laws and the IESBA Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the Group and of the Company for the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Valuation of inventory
Refer to Note 9 – Inventories

The key audit matter

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s and the 
Company’s carrying amount of inventories  
finished goods were RM49 million and RM43 
million respectively.

Inventories of the Group and the Company were 
valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  
The net realisable value was determined by the 
Group and the Company by taking into account 
the estimated selling prices and the estimated cost 
necessary to make the sale.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

We performed the following audit procedures, among others: 

• Evaluated the Group’s and the Company’s process for identifying 
and writing down inventories to their net realisable value. 

• Evaluated the calculations in arriving at the net realisable values 
of finished goods by assessing the estimated selling prices with 
reference to selling prices for sales subsequent to the reporting date 
on a sample basis.

• Tested the ageing profile of the inventories on a sample basis to the 
respective stock receiving notes.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF LEFORM BERHAD
(REGISTRATION NO. 199501001582 (330776-K)) 
(INCORPORATED IN MALAYSIA) 

Key Audit Matters (Cont’d)

Valuation of inventory (Cont’d)
Refer to Note 9 – Inventories

Given that inventories - finished goods represented 
11% and 10% respectively of the Group’s and the 
Company’s total assets as at 31 December 2024, 
and the valuation process involves significant 
judgement, it has been identified as a key audit 
matter.

How the matter was addressed in our audit (Cont’d)

• Assessed the adequacy of the Group’s and the Company’s allowance 
for slow-moving and obsolete inventories per the Group’s and the 
Company’s policy.

• Assessed the reasonableness of the Group’s and the Company’s 
policy with reference to the utilisation of finished goods in the prior 
year.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Directors’ Report, Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control, and Chairman’s Statement (but 
does not include the financial statements of the Group and of the Company and our auditors’ report thereon), which we 
obtained prior to the date of this auditors’ report, and the remaining parts of the annual report, which are expected to be 
made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company does not cover the other information and we do 
not and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, our responsibility is to read the 
other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements of the Group and of the Company or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the 
date of this auditors’ report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the remaining parts of the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we 
are required to communicate the matter to the Directors of the Company and take appropriate actions in accordance with 
approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
that give a true and fair view in accordance with MFRS Accounting Standards, IFRS Accounting Standards and the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. The Directors are also responsible for such internal control as the 
Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the Company that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, the Directors are responsible for assessing the 
ability of the Group and of the Company to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the 
Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF LEFORM BERHAD
(REGISTRATION NO. 199501001582 (330776-K)) 
(INCORPORATED IN MALAYSIA) 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing, 
we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control of 
the Group and of the Company. 

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the Directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the ability of the Group or of the Company to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group or the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Company represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that gives a true and fair view.

•	 Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information 
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the financial statements of the 
Group. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the 
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF LEFORM BERHAD
(REGISTRATION NO. 199501001582 (330776-K)) 
(INCORPORATED IN MALAYSIA) 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Cont’d) 

From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 
of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our auditors’ report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of 
such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia, we report that the subsidiaries of which we 
have not acted as auditors are disclosed in Note 3 to the financial statements.

Other Matters

1.	 The financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 31 December 2023 were audited by another 
chartered accountant who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 22 April 2024.

2.	 This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 266 of the 
Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for 
the content of this report.

KPMG PLT	 Soo Tho Pei Yin
(LLP0010081-LCA & AF 0758)	 Approval Number: 03699/12/2026 J
Chartered Accountants	 Chartered Accountant

Petaling Jaya, Selangor

Date: 28 April 2025
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LIST OF PROPERTIES

Location Descriptions Land 
Area

(Sq m)

Tenure/
Expiry 
Date

NBV
(RM’000)

Age of 
building 
(Years)

Date of last 
revaluation

Date of 
acquisition

HSD 45503, PT16078 Seksyen 20,
Bandar Serendah, Daerah Ulu Selangor, 
Selangor

Factory, office, 
warehouse

17,935 Freehold 31,500 15 2024 2006

HSD 45479, PT16077 Seksyen 20,
Bandar Serendah, Daerah Ulu Selangor, 
Selangor

Factory, 
warehouse

12,143 Freehold 18,028 14 2022 2007

Geran 40090, Lot 4314 Mukim Serendah, 
Daerah Ulu Selangor, Selangor

Worker's 
accommodation

4,048 Freehold 3,250 8 2024 2006

Geran No. GM3398, Lot No:858, Mukim 
Serendah, Daerah Hulu Selangor

Factory, 
warehouse, office

16,702 Freehold 24,345 7 2022 2010

GM 4325, Lot 859, Tempat Sungai Choh, 
Mukim Serendah, Daerah Hulu Selangor, 
Selangor

Vacant Land 36,927 Freehold 19,900 - 2022 2009

GM 3631, Lot 857, Tempat Sungai Chul, 
Mukim Serendah, Daerah Hulu Selangor, 
Selangor

Vacant Land 16,693 Freehold 7,841 - - 2022

GM 3740, Lot 893, Sungei Chul, Mukim 
Serendah, Daerah Hulu Selangor, Selangor

Vacant Land 16,946 Freehold 3,000 - 2023 2008

Geran 101961, No M1, Tingkat 8, Petak 8, 
Lot 2262, Bandar George Town, Seksyen 4, 
Daerah Timor Laut, Pulau Pinang

Condominium 414 Freehold 2,094 13 - 2016

Geran 149803, Lot 5804 Seksyen 20, 
Bandar Serendah, Daerah Ulu Selangor, 
Selangor

Vacant Land 1,805 Freehold 389 - - 2016

No 15 & 17, Lorong Tasek Harmoni 1, Taman 
Tasek Harmoni, 14100 Simpang Ampat, 
Pulau Pinang

Double storey 
shop lot

302 Freehold 1,115 8 - 2017

Geran 185061, No L33, 18141, Seksyen 18, 
Bandar Rawang, Daerah Gombak, Selangor

3 storey link 
house

143 Freehold 914 5 - 2019

Geran 337110, 337111, 337112, 337113, 
337115, Lot 41293, 41294, 41295, 41296, 
41298, Seksyen 20, Bandar Serendah 
Daerah Ulu Selangor, Selangor

3 storey shop 
office

715 Freehold 4,106 6 - 2018

HSD 70665 PT 7910 Seksyen 19,
Bandar Rawang, Daerah Gombak, Negeri 
Selangor

Service 
apartment

1,999 Freehold 48 18 - 2012

HSD 70665 PT 7910 Seksyen 19,
Bandar Rawang, Daerah Gombak, Negeri 
Selangor

Stratified ground 
floor shop lot

3,998 Freehold 422 17 - 2007

HSD 70602 PT 7847 Seksyen 19,
Bandar Rawang, Daerah Gombak Negeri 
Selangor

Services 
apartment

2,041 Freehold 215 18 - 2012

HSD 64846 PT 18254, Bandar Serendah, 
Daerah Ulu Selangor, Negeri Selangor

Vacant land 8,096 Leasehold/
4 January 

2095

3,597 - - 2024
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
AS AT 28 MARCH 2025

Issued Shares	 : 1,481,013,000 ordinary shares 
Class of Shares	 : Ordinary Shares
Voting Rights	 : One vote per share
Number of Shareholders	 : 3,605

ANALYSIS BY SHAREHOLDINGS
Distribution of shareholdings according to size:

Size of Holdings				    No. of	 % of		  % of 
				    Shareholders/	 Shareholders/	 No. of	 Issued 
				    Depositors	 Depositors	 Shares Held	 Capital

1 - 99				    0	 0.00	 0	 0.00
100 - 1,000				    606	 16.81	 274,300	 0.02
1,001 - 10,000				    1,086	 30.12	 7,105,300	 0.48
10,001 - 100,000				    1,482	 41.11	 59,408,500	 4.01
100,001 to less than 5% of issued shares			   429	 11.90	 568,824,900	 38.41
5% and above of issued shares				    2	 0.06	 845,400,000	 57.08

Total				    3,605	 100.00	 1,481,013,000	 100.00

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
(As per Register of Substantial Shareholders)
	 <---------- Direct ---------->	 <-------- Indirect -------->
Name of Shareholder					     % of		  % of 
				    No. of	 Issued	 No. of	 Issued 
				    Shares Held	 Capital	 Shares Held	 Capital

Tianwen Holdings Sdn Bhd (“THSB”)				    755,400,000	 51.01	 -	 -
Law Kok Thye (“LKT”)				    340,549,000	 22.99	 761,800,000(1)	 51.44

Note:
(1)	 Deemed interested through his spouse’s and children’s shareholding in the Company and deemed interested by virtue of his direct substantial shareholding 

held through THSB pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies Act 2016 (“the Act”). 

SHAREHOLDING OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
	 <---------- Direct ---------->	 <-------- Indirect -------->
					     % of		  % of 
				    No. of	 Issued	 No. of	 Issued 
				    Shares Held	 Capital	 Shares Held	 Capital

Directors
Datuk Seri Akhil Bin Bulat				    350,000	 0.02	 -	 0.00
Law Kar Hou				    2,100,000	 0.14	 -	 0.00
Law Kok Thye				    340,549,000	 22.99	 761,800,000(1)	 51.44
Chua Leng Leek				    450,000	 0.03	 -	 0.00
Lai Chin Yang				    500,000	 0.03	 -	 0.00
Lee Wee Leng				    100,000	 0.01	 -	 0.00
Esmariza Binti Ismail				    210,000	 0.01	 -	 0.00
Chief Financial Officer
Wong Kian Ning 				    30,000	 0.002	 -	 0.00

Note:
(1)	 Deemed interested through his spouse’s and children’s shareholding in the Company and deemed interested by virtue of his direct substantial shareholding 

held through THSB pursuant to Section 8 of the Act.
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THIRTY (30) LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

No. Name of Shareholders
No. of 

Shares Held
% of Issued 

Capital

1. Tianwen Holdings Sdn Bhd 755,400,000 51.01

2. Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Law Kok Thye

90,000,000 6.08

3. Affin Hwang Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
Pledged Securities Account for Law Kok Thye

60,000,000 4.05

4. Alliancegroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Law Kok Thye (7006615)

60,000,000 4.05

5. Mercsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Law Kok Thye

40,000,000 2.70

6. Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Maybank Private Wealth Management for Law Kok Thye (12024083) (448366)

36,549,000 2.47

7. RHB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Law Kok Thye

30,000,000 2.03

8. Apex Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
Pledged Securities Account for Law Kok Thye (Margin)

24,000,000 1.62

9. Hoh Ding Wei 23,350,000 1.58

10. Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Ng Chee Yee

19,250,000 1.30

11. Lex-Bridge Industries Sdn. Bhd. 13,655,000 0.92

12. HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
Exempt an for the Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited (HBAP-SGDIV-ACCL)

9,000,000 0.61

13. Lim Soon Tut 7,377,000 0.50

14. Yap Swee Sang 7,207,000 0.49

15. Hoh Ding Wei 6,661,500 0.45

16. Ng Khai Hoong @ Lee Khai Hoong 5,920,000 0.40

17. Tan Thean Hock 5,479,700 0.37

18. TA Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Ong Chiew Kee

5,412,700 0.37

19. DL Advance Metal Sdn. Bhd. 5,051,800 0.34

20. Chuah Kok Hin 3,913,700 0.26

21. Hoh Ding Wei 3,415,000 0.23

22. TG Advance Metal Sdn Bhd 3,355,500 0.23

23. Low Kim Tang 3,288,400 0.22

24. Maybank Securities Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Chua Ling Ling

3,192,000 0.22

25. Alliancegroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Chin Chin Seong (7014455)

3,000,000 0.20

26. Lee Sok Bun 3,000,000 0.20

27. Yeo Poh Gaik 3,000,000 0.20

28. Chuah Kok Hin 2,990,500 0.20

29. Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Chiau Beng Teik

2,966,000 0.20

30. RHB Capital Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Chooi Yoey Sun

2,606,600 0.18

Total 1,239,041,400 83.68

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
AS AT 28 MARCH 2025
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NOTICE OF THIRTIETH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Thirtieth (“30th”) Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of Leform Berhad (“Leform” or 
“Company”) will be held at Level 2 (Johor Kedah Room), World Trade Centre Kuala Lumpur, 41, Jalan Tun Ismail, Chow 
Kit, 50480 Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah Persekutuan Kuala Lumpur on Monday, 23 June 2025 at 10.00 a.m. for the following 
purposes:-

AGENDA

As Ordinary Business

1.	 To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 
2024 together with the Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon.

Please refer to 
Explanatory Note 1

2.	 To approve the payment of Directors’ fees and benefits payable of RM240,000 to 
the Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries for the period from the date of the 
forthcoming 30th AGM until the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company.

Ordinary Resolution 1

Please refer to 
Explanatory Note 2

3.	 To re-elect Ms Lee Wee Leng who retires in accordance with Clause 95 of the Constitution 
of the Company and being eligible, has offered herself for re-election.

	 Mr Lai Chin Yang who retires pursuant to Clause 95 of the Constitution of the Company 
has expressed his intention not to seek re-election.

Ordinary Resolution 2

Please refer to 
Explanatory Note 3

4.	 To re-elect Mr Law Kar Hou who retires in accordance with Clause 101 of the Constitution 
of the Company and being eligible, has offered himself for re-election.

Ordinary Resolution 3

Please refer to 
Explanatory Note 3

5.	 To re-appoint Messrs KPMG PLT as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the 
Directors to fix their remuneration.

Ordinary Resolution 4

As Special Business

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions:

6.	 Authority under Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act 2016 (“the Act”) for the 
Directors to allot and issue shares

	 “THAT pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Act, the Directors be and are hereby 
authorised to allot and issue shares in the Company at any time until the conclusion 
of the next AGM and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes as the 
Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fit, provided that the aggregate number 
of shares to be issued does not exceed ten per centum (10%) of the total number of 
issued shares of the Company for the time being and that the Directors be and are 
hereby also empowered to obtain approval from the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad 
(“Bursa Securities”) for the listing and quotation of the additional shares so issued and 
that such authority shall continue to be in force until the conclusion of the next AGM of 
the Company,”

Ordinary Resolution 5

Please refer to 
Explanatory Note 4
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	 THAT pursuant to Section 85 of the Act, read together with Clause 5 of the Constitution 
of the Company, approval be and is hereby given to waive the statutory pre-emptive 
rights of the shareholders of the Company to be offered new shares ranking equally to 
the existing issued shares of the Company arising from issuance of new shares pursuant 
to this Mandate.

	 AND THAT the new shares to be issued shall, upon allotment and issuance, rank equally 
in all respects with the existing shares of the Company, save and except that they shall not 
be entitled to any dividends, rights, allotments and/or any other forms of distribution that 
which may be declared, made or paid before the date of allotment of such new shares.”

7.	 Proposed Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Existing Recurrent Related Party 
Transactions of a Revenue or Trading Nature 

	
	 “THAT approval be and is hereby given to the Company and its subsidiaries (“Group”) 

to enter into and give effect to the recurrent related party transactions of a revenue 
or trading nature with the related parties as specified in Section 2.4 of the Circular to 
Shareholders dated 30 April 2025, provided that:

(a)	 such arrangements and/or transactions are necessary for the Group’s day-to-day 
operations;

(b)	 such arrangements and/or transactions undertaken are in the ordinary course of 
business, at arm’s length basis and on normal commercial terms which are not 
more favourable to the related parties than those generally available to third party; 

(c)	 such arrangements and/or transactions are not detrimental to the minority 
shareholders of the Company; and

(d)	 the disclosure is made in the Integrated Annual Report 2024 on the aggregate 
value of transactions conducted pursuant to the shareholders’ mandate during the 
financial year in relation to:

(i)	 the related transacting parties and their respective relationship with the 
Company; and

(ii)	 the nature of the recurrent transactions.

	 THAT such authority shall continue to be in force until:

(a)	 the conclusion of the next AGM, unless the authority is renewed by a resolution 
passed at the next AGM; or

(b)	 the expiration of the period within which the next AGM is required to be held 
pursuant to Section 340(2) of the Act (but will not extend to such extension as may 
be allowed pursuant to Section 340(4) of the Act); or

(c)	 revoked or varied by resolution passed by the shareholders in general meeting,

Ordinary Resolution 6

Please refer to 
Explanatory Note 5
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	 whichever is the earlier. 

	 AND THAT the Directors be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such acts 
and things (including executing such documents as may be required) to give effect to the 
transactions contemplated and/or authorised by this Ordinary Resolution.”

	 Any Other Business
	
8.	 To transact any other business that may be transacted at the 30th AGM of which due 

notice shall have been given in accordance with the Act and the Constitution of the 
Company.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

TAI YIT CHAN (MAICSA7009143) (SSM PC No.: 202008001023)
TAN AI NING (MAICSA7015852) (SSM PC No.: 202008000067)
COMPANY SECRETARIES

SELANGOR DARUL EHSAN
30 April 2025

Explanatory Notes 

(1)	 Audited Financial Statements
	
	 This Agenda item is meant for discussion only as the provision of Section 340(1)(a) of the Act does not require a 

formal approval of the shareholders. Hence, this item is not put forward for voting. 

	
(2)	 Ordinary Resolution 1 – Directors’ fees and benefits payable to Directors

	 The estimated Directors’ fees are calculated based on the current Board size, the duties and responsibilities of the 
Directors, the number of scheduled Board and/or Committee meetings to be held. The resolution is to facilitate the 
payment of Directors’ fees and benefits payable for the period commencing from the date of the 30th AGM until the 
next AGM of the Company.

	 If in the event that the proposed amounts are insufficient due to more meetings or an enlarged Board size, approval 
will be sought at the next AGM for such shortfall.

(3)	 Ordinary Resolutions 2 and 3 – Re-election of Directors
	
	 Pursuant to the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2021, the profiles of the Directors who are standing for re-

election as per Agenda items no. 3 and 4 are set out in the Board of Directors’ profile of the Integrated Annual Report 
2024. 
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	 Based on the recommendation of the Nomination Committee, the Board is satisfied with the performance and 
contributions of the following Directors and supports the re-election based on the following justifications:-

Ordinary Resolution 2 – Re-election of Ms Lee Wee Leng as Independent Non-Executive Director

a)	 Ms Lee Wee Leng fulfils the requirements of independence set out in the AMLR of Bursa Securities as well 
as the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2021. She has demonstrated her independence through 
her engagement in the meetings by proactively giving valuable insights to the Management in developing the 
Group’s business strategies. 

b)	 She also exercised her due care and carried out her professional duties proficiently during her tenure as an 
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company.

Ordinary Resolution 3 – Re-election of Mr Law Kar Hou as Non-Independent Executive Director 

a)	 Mr Law Kar Hou is in charge of overseeing the production planning of the Group’s manufacturing division, 
whereby under his leadership, the Group has successfully enhanced its operational efficiency. He has also 
played a pivotal role in assisting the Managing Director to chart the growth and strategic direction of the Group. 
The Board is confident that his re-election will further strengthen the Group’s ability to achieve its long-term 
objectives.

b)	 He has exercised due care and carried out his professional duties during his tenure as a Non-Independent 
Executive Director of the Company.

(4) 	 Ordinary Resolution 5 – Authority pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Act for the Directors to Allot and Issue 
Shares

	
	 The Ordinary Resolution 5 proposed under item 6 of the Agenda is to obtain a general mandate for issuance of shares 

by the Company under Sections 75 and 76 of the Act. The Ordinary Resolution 5, if passed, will provide flexibility 
for the Company and empower the Directors to allot and issue new shares in the Company up to an amount not 
exceeding in total ten per centum (10%) of the total number of issued shares of the Company for the purpose of 
raising funds for project(s), investment(s), acquisition(s), repayment of borrowings, working capital and/ or general 
corporate purposes as deemed necessary.

	 This authority, unless revoked or varied by the Company at a general meeting, will expire at the next AGM or at the 
expiry of the period within the next AGM is required to be held after the approval was given. 

	 The waiver of pre-emptive rights pursuant to Section 85 of the Act will allow the Directors of the Company to issue 
new shares of the Company which rank equally to existing issued shares of the Company, to any person without 
having to offer new shares to all the existing shareholders of the Company prior to issuance of new shares in the 
Company under the general mandate. 

	 At this juncture, there is no decision to issue new shares. If there should be a decision to issue new shares after the 
general mandate is obtained, the Company will make an announcement in respect thereof. 

	
(5) 	 Ordinary Resolution 6 – Proposed Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Existing Recurrent Related Party 

Transactions of a Revenue or Trading Nature 
	
	 For further information on Ordinary Resolution 6, please refer to the Circular to Shareholders dated 30 April 2025 

accompanying the Integrated Annual Report 2024 of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2024. 
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NOTES:

(1)	 Pursuant to Rule 8.31A of the ACE Market Listing Requirements (“AMLR”) of Bursa Securities, all the resolutions set 
out in the Notice of AGM will be put to vote by way of poll. Poll Administrator and Independent Scrutineers will be 
appointed to conduct the polling process and verify the results of the poll respectively.

(2)	 A member entitled to attend and vote at the 30th AGM may appoint another person as his proxy to attend and vote in 
his stead. A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company. There shall be no restriction as to the qualification 
of the proxy. A proxy appointed to attend and vote at a meeting shall have the same rights as the member to speak 
at the meeting.

(3)	 A member shall be entitled to appoint not more than 2 proxies to participate, speak and vote at the meeting. Where 
a member appoints 2 proxies, the appointment shall not be valid unless the member specifies the proportion of his 
shareholding to be represented by each proxy.

(4)	 Where a member is an Exempt Authorised Nominee which holds shares in the Company for multiple beneficial 
owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”) as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) 
Act, 1991, there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of 
each omnibus account it holds.

(5)	 The proxy form shall be in writing, executed by or on behalf of the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing 
or, if the appointor is a corporation, either under seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

(6)	 The proxy form and the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed or a notarially certified 
copy of that power or authority shall be deposited at the office of the Company’s Share Registrar, Boardroom Share 
Registrars Sdn Bhd of 11th Floor, Menara Symphony, No. 5, Jalan Professor Khoo Kay Kim, Seksyen 13, 46200 
Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia not less than 48 hours before the time for holding the 30th AGM or 
adjourned 30th AGM at which the person named in the proxy form proposes to vote, and in default the proxy form 
shall not be treated as valid.

(7)	 For the purpose of determining who shall be entitled to attend this meeting, the Company shall be requesting Bursa 
Malaysia Depository Sdn Bhd to make available a Record of Depositors as at 16 June 2025 and only members whose 
names appear on such Record of Depositors shall be entitled to attend, speak and vote at this meeting and entitled 
to appoint proxy or proxies.

Personal data privacy:

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the AGM and/
or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s 
personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and administration by the Company (or its 
agents) of proxies and representatives appointed for the AGM (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and 
compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the AGM (including any adjournment thereof), 
and in order for the Company (or its agents) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines 
(collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the member discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) 
and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents), the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or 
representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) 
and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify the Company in respect of any 
penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty.
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I/We*, ___________________________________________________________________________(full name of shareholder, in capital letters) 

NRIC No./Passport No./Company No.* __________________________________________ of _______________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________ (full address)

telephone no. _________________________________________ and email address _______________________________________________ 

being a member/ members* of LEFORM BERHAD hereby appoint(s):- 

Full Name (in Block) NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

Email Address Telephone No. 

and/or*

Full Name (in Block) NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

Email Address Telephone No. 

 
or failing him/her*, the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our* proxy to vote for me/us* on my/our* behalf at the Thirtieth Annual General 
Meeting (“30th AGM”) of the Company to be held at Level 2 (Johor Kedah Room), World Trade Centre Kuala Lumpur, 41, Jalan 
Tun Ismail, Chow Kit, 50480 Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah Persekutuan Kuala Lumpur on Monday, 23 June 2025 at 10.00 a.m. or at any 
adjournment thereof in respect of my/our shareholding in the manner indicated below:-

No. RESOLUTION FOR AGAINST

1. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees and benefits payable of RM240,000 to 
the Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries for the period from the date of the 
forthcoming 30th AGM until the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company.

Ordinary Resolution 1

2. To re-elect Ms Lee Wee Leng as Director. Ordinary Resolution 2

3. To re-elect Mr Law Kar Hou as Director. Ordinary Resolution 3

4. To re-appoint Messrs KPMG PLT as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the 
Directors to fix their remuneration.

Ordinary Resolution 4

5. To approve the authority pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act 2016 for 
the Directors to allot and issue shares. 

Ordinary Resolution 5

6. To approve the Proposed Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Existing Recurrent 
Related Party Transactions of a Revenue or Trading Nature.

Ordinary Resolution 6

*Strike out whichever is not desired.
[Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided whether you wish your votes to be cast for or against the resolutions. In the 
absence of specific directions, your proxy will vote or abstain as he/she thinks fit.] 

_________________________________________________________________
Signature/Common Seal of Member/(s)	
		
Number of shares held:	___________________________________________		
		
Date:	 ___________________________________________		
		

No. of shares held

CDS Account No. 

P rox y  Fo r m
Leform Berhad
Registration No. 199501001582 (330776-K)



Then fold here

AFFIX
STAMP

The Share Registrar
LEFORM BERHAD
[Registration No: 199501001582 (330776-K)] 
11th Floor, Menara Symphony
No. 5, Jalan Prof. Khoo Kay Kim
Seksyen 13
46200 Petaling Jaya
Selangor Darul Ehsan
Malaysia

First fold here

Notes : 	 					   
1.	 Pursuant to Rule 8.31A of the ACE Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities, 

all the resolutions set out in the Notice of 30th AGM will be put to vote by way of poll. 
Poll Administrator and Independent Scrutineers will be appointed to conduct the polling 
process and verify the results of the poll respectively.

2.	 A member entitled to attend and vote at the 30th AGM may appoint another person as 
his proxy to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy may but need not be a member of 
the Company. There shall be no restriction as to the qualification of the proxy. A proxy 
appointed to attend and vote at a meeting shall have the same rights as the member to 
speak at the meeting.

3.	 A member shall be entitled to appoint not more than 2 proxies to participate, speak and vote 
at the meeting. Where a member appoints 2 proxies, the appointment shall not be valid unless 
the member specifies the proportion of his shareholding to be represented by each proxy.

4.	 Where a member is an Exempt Authorised Nominee which holds shares in the Company for 
multiple beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”) as defined under 
the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act, 1991, there is no limit to the number of 
proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus 
account it holds.

5.	 The proxy form shall be in writing, executed by or on behalf of the appointor or his attorney 
duly authorised in writing or, if the appointor is a corporation, either under seal or under the 
hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

6.	 The proxy form and the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed 
or a notarially certified copy of that power or authority shall be deposited at the office 
of the Company’s Share Registrar, Boardroom Share Registrars Sdn Bhd of 11th Floor, 
Menara Symphony, No. 5, Jalan Professor Khoo Kay Kim, Seksyen 13, 46200 Petaling Jaya, 
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia not less than 48 hours before the time for holding the 30th 

AGM or Adjourned 30th AGM at which the person named in the proxy form proposes to 
vote, and in default the proxy form shall not be treated as valid.

7.	 For the purpose of determining who shall be entitled to attend this meeting, the Company 
shall be requesting Bursa Malaysia Depository Sdn Bhd to make available a Record of 
Depositors as at 16 June 2025 and only members whose names appear on such Record of 
Depositors shall be entitled to attend, speak and vote at this meeting and entitled to appoint 
proxy or proxies.

Personal Data Privacy:
By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and /or representative(s), the member 
accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy terms set out in the Notice of 30th AGM dated 
30 April 2025.



www.leformgroup.com.my

   E : sales@leformgroup.com.my
   
   

T : +60 3-6099 0666
F : +60 3-6099 0696

Leform Berhad (199501001582 (330776-K))

PT 16077 & PT16078, Jalan Kesidang 4,
Kawasan Perindustrian Sungai Choh,
48200 Serendah,
Selangor
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